
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, March 13, 2023, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought – Ron Rosser 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes             PAGE 

a. Regular City Council meeting – February 13, 2023      02-05 
6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a. 2023 Brain Injury Awareness Day Proclamation       06-07 
b. Certificates of Recognition for organizing the 2023 Caribou SnowBowl    08 

i. Troy Haney and Jim Gamage 
c. Certificates of Recognition for Maine State Champion athletes     09 

i.  MPA Girls State Wrestling – Jocelyn Parlin and Grace Jean 
ii.  MPA Nordic Skiing, Individual Overall – Kayley Bell 

iii.  MPA Fall 2022 E-Sports Rocket League Champions “Gilson’s Goons”  
iv.  MPA Class B Boys Alpine Ski Team 

7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
a. Public Hearing – Ordinance Number 1, 2023 Series “An Ordinance to Adopt Chapter 22”  10-27 
b. Public Hearing – 2023 Municipal Expense Budget       28-69 

8. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. Tax Acquired Property purchase – Finance Director      70-72 
b. 2024 Maine DOT Municipal Partnership Agreement for paving on Route 228   73-77 
c. Manager’s Report          78-79 
d. Committee Reports 

i. Broadband Committee         80-85 
ii. Airport Committee         86-91 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Discussion and possible action on Chapter 15: Nylander Museum     92-99 
b. Discussion and possible action on 2023 Municipal Expense budget     100 

10. Old Business       
11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members      Reports 
12. Next Regular Meetings: Joint meeting with Planning Board March 14, Regular Meeting March 27      101-117 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6)  
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, Caribou City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


February 13, 2023 
23-04 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call  

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting, Monday, February 13, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 
in Council Chambers with the following members present:  Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, 
Councilors Bagley, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  Councilor Goughan was present via Zoom.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department Managers Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and Recreation), Dave Ouellette 
(Superintendent of Public Works), Lisa Plourde (Housing Director), and Carl Grant (Finance 
Director) were present for the meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Troy Haney, Caribou Resident 

Mr. Haney came to remind the Council of their invite to the kickoff for the Snowbowl that will 
be held at Evergreen Lanes featuring Rendezvous Restaurant.  He explained that the event has 
over 60 sponsors and will have representation from state and local offices, such as 
representatives from Senator King, Golden and Governor Mills offices.   

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Regular City Council meeting – January 9, 2023 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the minutes as 
presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards and Appointments 

a.  Proclamation – Red Cross Month (March) 

Mayor Smith read a proclamation that proclaims March 2023 as American Red Cross month in 
the City of Caribou 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the 
proclamation as read.   

2



February 13, 2023 
23-04 Pg. 2 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s report dated February 13, 2023.  

Councilor Morrill expressed his concern regarding the property at 15 Prospect Street and 7 Water 
Street and would like to get started on the Dangerous Building process.   

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Appointments to City Council Broadband committee 

Mayor Smith explained the reason for creating a city Broadband committee and that the purpose 
of the committee would be to review the County Broadband study and provide input back to the 
Caribou City Council on options and potential funding available.   

Mayor Smith appointed Councilor Bagley as the committee chair, and Councilors Theriault and 
Willey as committee members.   

Councilor Morrill expressed concern stating that he does not see the reasoning for another 
committee that just takes more time.  He stated that the options have been looked at multiple 
times by Council and does not want to get caught up in everything.  

Councilor Willey stated that the only issue that there is, is that there are still people that are 
unserved in the city.  The committee is to bring things to a fine point and to gather information 
on the options.  

Councilor Theriault explained that they are not delving into the CUD project, their job is to look 
at other projects to see what could be done and possibly even quicker.  

Councilor Morrill explained that he just believes that the concept is taking up too much time 
from Council and he doesn’t want them to get caught up on it.   

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that there are three members that have been appointed and that if 
they are okay with it to let them at it.   

b.  2023 Aroostook County ARPA funds Letter of Intent 

Manager Thompson explained that she does not need a council approval for the letter of intent.  
She explained that she is looking for ideas for projects to detail in the letter of intent, such as new 
turnout gear and a new extractor for the Fire station.  They are also looking at getting new body 
cameras for the police officers.   

3



February 13, 2023 
23-04 Pg. 3 

Council had a brief discussion regarding different ideas.  They brought up ideas such as working 
with other organizations for recovery and mental health issues.   

c.  2023 Municipal Budget – Overview of 2023 Municipal Budget 

Manager Thompson explained that during the presentations of budgets that the presenters are 
able to answer questions from both the Council and the public.   

d.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of General Assistance Budget (Department 20) 

Danielle Brissette (City Clerk & General Assistance Administrator) reviewed the proposed 2023 
budget for Department 20 General Assistance.  

e.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of Finance related budget lines (Department 70, 80) 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the proposed 2023 budget for departments 70 & 80. 

f.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of Housing & FSS Budget (Departments 24 & 96) 

Lisa Plourde (Housing Director) reviewed the proposed 2023 budget for departments 24 and 96. 

Councilor Morrill asked if she thought the City would ever have public housing.   

Ms. Plourde explained that she did not believe that they would.  

g.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of Public Works Budget (Department 40) 

David Ouellette (Public Works Director) reviewed the proposed 2023 budget for department 40.   

h.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of Airport Budget (Department 60) 

David Ouellette (Public Works Director) reviewed the proposed 2023 budget for department 60.  

Councilor Bagley asked if the work was being done form the FAA Inspections.  

Mr. Ouellette stated that they are working on the list.   

Councilor Bagley asked about possibly bumping up the consulting line and regarding crack seal 
for the runway.   

Manager Thompson explained that they are going to try to use CARE funds to help with the 
runway.   

i.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of Tax Assessment & Code Enforcement budget 
(Department 22) 

Manager Thompson reviewed the proposed 2023 budget for department 22.   

j.  2023 Municipal Budget – Presentation of Budgets (Department 10, 11, 12, 17, 18, 38, 61, 65, 
75) 

Manager Thompson reviewed the proposed 2023 budget for department 10.   

Mayor Smith postponed hearing budgets 11,12,17,18,38, 61, 65 and 75 until the next meeting.  

4



February 13, 2023 
23-04 Pg. 4 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a. Introduction of Ordinance 01, 2023 Series Establishing the Caribou Development Committee 

Mayor Smith introduced Ordinance 01, 2023 Series Establishing the Caribou Development 
Committee. 

b.  Priorities and Goals discussion 

Mayor Smith explained that this was put into the packet to be informational for the council.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Bagley stated that the Planning Board met, and they talked about the comprehensive 
plan, and he commended them on the amazing job that they have done in their outreach.   

Councilor Morrill wished the Caribou Vikings the best of luck as they are headed to the 
tournament.   

Councilor Willey wanted to remind the public that they have not eliminated the Nylander from 
the discussions and that she wants to bring it to the Mayor’s attention to get it back up and 
running.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings:  February 27, March 13 & 27 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to enter executive session 
at 8:07 p.m. to discuss matters under MRSA, 1, Title 1, §405.6.E. with the city attorney 
concerning legal rights and duties of the body.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 8:50 p.m.  

No action taken.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 
8:51 p.m.  

Vote was unanimous.   

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

5



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   March 13, 2023 
Re:   Brain Injury Awareness Day: 2023 Proclamation  

  

The Caribou City Council has been asked to proclaim March 2023 as Brain Injury Awareness 
Month in Caribou. The Proclamation is included in the packet. 

Pamela J. Searles, Neuro-Rehabilitation Services Manager at the Center for Integrated Neuro 
Rehab, located at 159 Bennett Drive, Suite 1 in Caribou has also indicated that their focus this 
year is to thank and celebrate those who support their clients such as caregivers and/or family 
members and those in the community that support their program. Ms. Searles has asked that I 
send along her thanks to the Caribou City Council and the Caribou community for supporting the 
AMHC Center for Integrated Neuro Rehab. 

 

Suggestion Action: 

Please read the proclamation and vote to proclaim March 2023 as Brain Injury Awareness Month 
in Caribou. 

Please circulate and sign two copies of the proclamation – one for the City Clerk and one for the 
Center for Integrated Neuro Rehab, a division of AMHC. (I can deliver it.) 

 

6



 
WHEREAS, 2.5 million Americans, children, and adults, sustain a traumatic brain injury (TBI) each 
year; and 

WHEREAS, a traumatic brain injury is a contributing factor to a third of all injury-related deaths in 
the United States; and 

WHEREAS, these injuries are largely the result of motor vehicle crashes, falls, assaults, sporting-
related injuries or occupational injuries; and 

WHEREAS, traumatic brain injury is the signature injury of the war in Iraq and Afghanistan, 
presenting new challenges for members of the military and their families; and 

WHEREAS, an injury that happens in an instant can bring a lifetime of physical, cognitive, and 
behavior challenges, and 

WHEREAS, early, equal and adequate access to care will greatly increase overall quality of life and 
will enable individuals to return home, school, work, and community; and 

WHEREAS, family members, friends and members of this community can play a central role in 
enhancing the lives of our citizens with traumatic brain injury; and  

WHEREAS, the Center for Integrated Neuro Rehab, a division of AMHC, offers education and 
support to families and individuals with traumatic brain injury with community integration and to 
live as independently as possible; and 

WHEREAS, March has been designated as Brain Injury Awareness Month by the Brain Injury 
Association of America, to promote public awareness on the extent, causes, consequences, 
treatment and prevention of traumatic brain injury; and now, therefore, 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that the Caribou City Council, fully support and do hereby 
proclaim March 2023, as Brain Injury Awareness Month and call upon all citizens to observe the 
month by offering special recognition to the Center for Integrated Neuro Rehab for its invaluable 
contributions to assist families and individuals with traumatic brain injury; and, we encourage the 
citizens of Caribou to seek information on traumatic brain injury. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have here unto set my hand and caused to be affixed the Seal of the 
City of Caribou on this 13th day of March 2023. 

 
________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

 

________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

 

________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

                Mayor Jody Smith    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
        [City Seal] 

CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL 
2023 BRAIN INJURY AWARENESS MONTH PROCLAMATION 

7



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   March 13, 2023 
Re:   Certificates of Recognition for organizing the 2023 Caribou SnowBowl 
  

  

Last fall, Troy Haney and Jim Gamage brought forward an idea to have Maine’s largest 
snowmobile event of the year. With the help of the Caribou business community and great 
weather, the event was a huge success. The Caribou City Council would like to recognize these 
two visionaries for their many hours or work and their personal financial investment into this 
project. 

 

Suggestion Action: 

Present certificates to Troy Haney & Jim Gamage 

 

 

8



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   March 13, 2023 
Re:   Certificates of Recognition for Maine State Champion athletes 
  

  

Caribou High School has a long history of high performing student athletes. The Caribou City 
Council would like to take this opportunity to recognize the following Maine Principal’s 
Association State Champion athletes and coaches: 

Athletic Director – Evan Graves 

Individual State Champion for Nordic Skiing – Kayley Bell 
Head Coach – Lydia Streinz 
Assistant Coach – George Ferland 
  
Individual State Champion for Girls Wrestling – Jocelyn Parlin 
Individual State Champion for Girls Wrestling – Grace Jean 
Head Coach – Casey Ryan 
 
Fall 2022 E-Sports Rocket League Champions “Gilson’s Goons”  
Head Coach – Kyle Gilson 
Alex Belanger 
Brady Jalbert 
Noah Anderson 
Justin Walton 
Bean Leavitt 
 
Class B Boys Alpine Ski Team 
Head Coach – Neal Sleeper 
Assistant Coach – Travis Prashaw 
Eliott Sleeper 
Edison Sleeper 
Calvin Hersey 
Jaden Picard 
Jude Shea 
Tait Margeson 
 
 
Suggestion Action: 

Present certificates to student athletes and coaches 

9



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   March 13, 2023 
Re:   Public Hearing on Ordinance 1, 2023 series, “An Ordinance to Adopt Chapter 22”  

  

Local businessman Troy Haney brought up the idea of creating a citizen committee to advance 
the Economic Development efforts within the City of Caribou. It was based upon the same idea 
as the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee (Chapter 20 in the City of Caribou ordinances). 
This would be another tool in the City of Caribou Economic Development toolbox and would 
complement the ongoing work of the Caribou Economic Growth Council and staff. 

A first draft of the proposed Chapter 22 was presented at the January 9, 2023, meeting. Changes 
were made by Councilor Bagley. The Ordinance was introduced at the February 13, 2023, Caribou 
City Council meeting. The required public hearing will be held this evening. 

 

Requested Action: 

Please open the public hearing and receive input from the public and City Council. 

After closing the public hearing, a Councilor may make a motion to adopt Ordinance 1, 2023 series, 
“An Ordinance to Adopt Chapter 22” with or without amendment or reject it. If adopted, the adopted 
ordinance shall become effective at the expiration of 30 days after adoption. 

10



Introduced by Mayor Smith  
On February 13, 2023 
 

ORDINANCE No. 1, 2023 Series 
 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
An Ordinance To Adopt Chapter 22 creating the Caribou Development Committee 
Short Title: An Ordinance to Adopt Chapter 22 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council is required by the City Charter Section 2.11 (1) to adopt 
by ordinance to “adopt or amend an administrative code or establish, alter, or abolish any City 
department, office or agency; and 
  

WHEREAS, economic development has been listed as an important priority by the Caribou City 
Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, there has been increased interest by developers as evidenced by the number 
of commercial real estate transactions in recent years; and 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the City of Caribou business district are located in a Tax Increment 
Financing Districts; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is a desire to organize a standing committee, appointed by the Caribou City 
Council, for the purpose of promoting community growth and development within the City of 
Caribou and;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou Development 
Committee”, whose purpose is to utilize existing and potential natural, financial 
and citizen resources to support existing commercial activities, attract new and 
complimentary businesses to Caribou, and strengthen industry relationships while 
maintaining and leveraging the iconic character of our community. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11(1), does ordain 
the following: 
 
 

11



Section I. Chapter 22 Adopted 
Chapter 22 and its related exhibits are hereby amended as indicated in the attached Exhibit A.  
 
 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on February 13, 2023 and a public hearing being held on 
March 13, 2023 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 
_____day of __________________ 2023. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days 
after adoption by the Council.  

 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor    Courtney Boma, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Dan Bagley, Councilor    R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
John Morrill, Councilor   Joan Theriault, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
Lou Willey, Councilor  
        Attest:______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

 

 

12



 

 

 
 
 

Here is the ordinance, a “clean copy” 
with all changes suggested by Councilor 
Dan Bagley incorporated, as presented 

for adoption. 

13



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE 1 Caribou Development Committee 

Section 

22-101  Preamble 
22-102  Appointment and Tenure 
22-103  Responsibility 
22-104  Bylaws 
22-105  Compensation Benefits 
22-106  Purpose 
22-107  Funding 
22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE I Caribou Development Committee 

Sec. 22-101  Preamble 

WHEREAS, economic development has been listed as an important priority by the Caribou City 
Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, there has been increased interest by developers as evidenced by the number 
of commercial real estate transactions in recent years; and 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the City of Caribou business district are located in a Tax Increment 
Financing Districts; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is a desire to organize a standing committee, appointed by the Caribou City 
Council, for the purpose of promoting community growth and development within the City of 
Caribou. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou Development 
Committee,” whose purpose is to utilize existing and potential natural, financial 
and citizen resources to support existing commercial activities, attract new and 
complimentary businesses to Caribou, and strengthen industry relationships while 
maintaining and leveraging the iconic character of our community. 

 
Sec. 22-102  Appointment and Tenure 

IT IS THEREFORE ADOPTED by the Caribou City Council pursuant to Sec. 2.11 of the Caribou 
City Charter, as follows: 
 
The Caribou Development Committee (hereinafter, “the Committee”) is hereby designated a 
formal standing committee of the City of Caribou, initially composed of five members of the 
public, who shall be appointed by the City Council and two ex-officio members with voting 
privileges: one member of the Caribou Planning Board (appointed by a majority vote of the 
Planning Board members), and one member of the Caribou Economic Growth Council (appointed 
by a majority vote of the Caribou Economic Growth Council members). In addition, the 
Committee will include two ex-officio members without voting privileges: one member of the 
Caribou City Council (appointed by a majority vote of the Caribou City Council), and the City 
Manager. 
 
Public members shall be appointed for year-three terms; except however, initial appointments shall 
be made as follows: two for three-year terms, two for two-year terms and one for a one-year term.  
 

15



Ex-officio members shall serve indefinitely, at the pleasure of the appointing authority. 
 
Vacancies, due to death, resignation, or any other reason, shall be filled by a majority vote of the 
Caribou City Council. 
 
Sec. 22-103  Responsibility 

The City Manager shall be responsible for the organization, administration, and operation of the 
Committee; except however, said responsibilities may be delegated to the Committee, as the City 
Manager deems appropriate. 

Sec. 22-104  Bylaws 

The Committee shall adopt bylaws providing for the officers, organization, and activities of the 
Committee, including a provision for the appointment by the Committee of an unlimited number 
of additional non-voting members.  The Committee’s bylaws shall be approved initially and may 
be amended subsequently by a majority vote of the Committee. The initial by-laws, and any 
subsequent amendments to the bylaws, shall be forwarded by the City Manager to the City Council 
for review and approval, before those bylaws or amendments take effect. 

Sec. 22-105  Compensation Benefits 

No member of the Committee, other than employees of the City in other capacities serving ex 
officio pursuant to section (a) and any persons who may be specifically employed by the City for 
Committee-related activities, shall receive any compensation for Committee activities, nor shall 
any person serving on the Committee be deemed an agent or employee of the City, being entitled 
to any customary employment benefits, specifically including, but not limited to workers’ 
compensation benefits. 

Sec. 22-106  Purpose 

The purpose of Caribou Development Committee shall be to: 

• Coordinate with the City Manager, City staff, the Caribou Planning Board, the Caribou 
Economic Growth Council, the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee, and the 
Caribou Airport Advisory Committee to develop a comprehensive economic 
development strategy for the next 10-year period (2023 – 2033) 

• Build and maintain broad community support for development efforts through public 
testimony and social media presence 

• Encourage broader access to economic incentives for quality job creation and tax base 
enhancement 

• Recommend measures to reduce barriers to economic growth, while recognizing 
regulatory functions 

• Develop initiatives that support existing and future business 
• Identify and pursue potential resources to aid in economic development efforts 

16



• Assist firms in finding appropriate development sites for expansion 
• Encourage downtown revitalization and neighborhood business development 
• Serve as a resource for information and technical assistance, to strengthen programs that 

encourage entrepreneurship  
• Promote redevelopment of existing vacant lots within the urban compact zone, 

underutilized land, and brownfields properties  
• Recommend measures to maintain and improve Caribou’s position as a tourist destination 
• Improve commercial, recreational, entertainment and hospitality opportunities for citizens 

of Caribou and surrounding communities 
• Coordinate with the Caribou Planning Board to recommend potential zoning and land use 

changes that will encourage greater economic development across the City, support and 
contribute to the “Economy” section of the Comprehensive Plan 

• Coordinate with the Caribou Economic Growth Council to recommend deserving 
businesses for funding support 

• Coordinate with the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee to recommend short-
term, mid-term, and long-term strategies and initiatives for riverfront redevelopment 

• Coordinate with the Caribou Airport Advisory Committee to recommend measures to 
expand the utilization and development of airport facilities  

Sec. 22-107  Funding 
 
All grant applications seeking funds more than $2,500.00 shall be approved by the City Council, 
and all funds related to the Committee’s activities shall be administered through the City 
Manager’s office. 
 
Sec. 22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 
The Committee shall file an annual report with the City Council on or before January 31st of each 
year, covering goals, activities, and accomplishments during the preceding year. 

17



 

 

 

 

 

 

This is the track edits version 
of the ordinance 

with revisions by Councilor Bagley. 
 

18



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE 1 Caribou Development Committee 

Section 

22-101  Preamble 
22-102  Appointment and Tenure 
22-103  Responsibility 
22-104  Bylaws 
22-105  Compensation Benefits 
22-106  Purpose 
22-107  Funding 
22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE I Caribou Development Committee 

Sec. 22-101  Preamble 

WHEREAS, economic development has been listed as an important priority by the Caribou City 
Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, there has been increased interest by developers as evidenced by the number 
of commercial real estate transactions in recent years; and 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the City of Caribou business district are located in a Tax Increment 
Financing Districts; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is a desire to organize a standing committee, appointed by the Caribou City 
Council, for the purpose of promoting community growth and development within the City of 
Caribou. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou 
Development Committee,” whose purpose is to utilize existing and potential 
natural, financial and citizen resources to support existing commercial activities, 
attract new and complimentary businesses to Caribou, and strengthen industry 
relationships while maintaining and leveraging the iconic character of our 
community. 

 
Sec. 22-102  Appointment and Tenure 

IT IS THEREFORE ADOPTED by the Caribou City Council pursuant to Sec. 2.11 of the 
Caribou City Charter, as follows: 
 
The Caribou Development Committee (hereinafter, “the Committee”) is hereby designated a 
formal standing committee of the City of Caribou, initially composed of five members of the 
public, who shall be appointed by the City Council and two ex-officio members with voting 
privileges: one member of the Caribou Planning Board (appointed by a majority vote of the 
Planning Board members), and one member of the Caribou Economic Growth Council 
(appointed by a majority vote of the Caribou Economic Growth Council members). In addition, 
the Committee will include two ex-officio members without voting privileges: one member of 
the Caribou City Council (appointed by a majority vote of the Caribou City Council), and the 
City Manager. 
 

Deleted:  and; 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: the Committee will include 

20



Public members shall be appointed for year-three terms; except however, initial appointments 
shall be made as follows: two for three-year terms, two for two-year terms and one for a one-year 
term.  
 
Ex-officio members shall serve indefinitely, at the pleasure of the appointing authority. 
 
Vacancies, due to death, resignation, or any other reason, shall be filled by a majority vote of the 
Caribou City Council. 
 
Sec. 22-103  Responsibility 

The City Manager shall be responsible for the organization, administration, and operation of the 
Committee; except however, said responsibilities may be delegated to the Committee, as the City 
Manager deems appropriate. 

Sec. 22-104  Bylaws 

The Committee shall adopt bylaws providing for the officers, organization, and activities of the 
Committee, including a provision for the appointment by the Committee of an unlimited number 
of additional non-voting members.  The Committee’s bylaws shall be approved initially and may 
be amended subsequently by a majority vote of the Committee. The initial by-laws, and any 
subsequent amendments to the bylaws, shall be forwarded by the City Manager to the City 
Council for review and approval, before those bylaws or amendments take effect. 

Sec. 22-105  Compensation Benefits 

No member of the Committee, other than employees of the City in other capacities serving ex 
officio pursuant to section (a) and any persons who may be specifically employed by the City for 
Committee-related activities, shall receive any compensation for Committee activities, nor shall 
any person serving on the Committee be deemed an agent or employee of the City, being entitled 
to any customary employment benefits, specifically including, but not limited to workers’ 
compensation benefits. 

Sec. 22-106  Purpose 

The purpose of Caribou Development Committee shall be to: 

 Coordinate with the City Manager, City staff, the Caribou Planning Board, the Caribou 
Economic Growth Council, the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee, and the 
Caribou Airport Advisory Committee to develop a comprehensive economic 
development strategy for the next 10-year period (2023 – 2033) 

 Build and maintain broad community support for development efforts through public 
testimony and social media presence 

 Encourage broader access to economic incentives for quality job creation and tax base 
enhancement 

Deleted: -

Deleted: -
Deleted: , which

Deleted: initially 

Deleted: subsequently 

Deleted: ,
Deleted: voting members

Deleted: All 

Deleted: .

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Left, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

21



 Recommend measures to reduce barriers to economic growth, while recognizing 
regulatory functions 

 Develop initiatives that support existing and future business 
 Identify and pursue potential resources to aid in economic development efforts 
 Assist firms in finding appropriate development sites for expansion 
 Encourage downtown revitalization and neighborhood business development 
 Serve as a resource for information and technical assistance, to strengthen programs that 

encourage entrepreneurship  
 Promote redevelopment of existing vacant lots within the urban compact zone, 

underutilized land, and brownfields properties  
 Recommend measures to maintain and improve Caribou’s position as a tourist destination 
 Improve commercial, recreational, entertainment and hospitality opportunities for citizens 

of Caribou and surrounding communities 
 Coordinate with the Caribou Planning Board to recommend potential zoning and land use 

changes that will encourage greater economic development across the City, support and 
contribute to the “Economy” section of the Comprehensive Plan 

 Coordinate with the Caribou Economic Growth Council to recommend deserving 
businesses for funding support 

 Coordinate with the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee to recommend short-
term, mid-term, and long-term strategies and initiatives for riverfront redevelopment 

 Coordinate with the Caribou Airport Advisory Committee to recommend measures to 
expand the utilization and development of airport facilities  

Sec. 22-107  Funding 
 
All grant applications seeking funds more than $2,500.00 shall be approved by the City Council, 
and all funds related to the Committee’s activities shall be administered through the City 
Manager’s office. 
 
Sec. 22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 
The Committee shall file an annual report with the City Council on or before January 31st of each 
year, covering goals, activities, and accomplishments during the preceding year. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Deleted: <#>Define the meaning of “economic development” 
and set SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and 
time-based) goals for the committee that:¶

<#>Maintain broad community support regarding the direction 
of development efforts¶
<#>Encourage broader access to economic incentives for quality 
job creation and tax base enhancement¶
<#>Reduce barriers to economic growth while recognizing 
regulatory function¶
<#>Develop municipal initiatives that support existing and 
future business¶
<#>Identify and pursue additional resources to aid in economic 
development efforts¶
<#>Assist firms in finding appropriate development sites for 
expansion¶
<#>Encourage downtown revitalization and neighborhood 
business development¶
<#>Retain and expand riverfront development while 
recognizing environmental constraints¶
<#>Strengthen programs which encourage entrepreneurship by 
becoming a resource for information and technical assistance¶
<#>Promote redevelopment of existing vacant lots within the 
urban compact zone, underutilized land, and brownfields 
properties ¶
<#>Maintain and improve Caribou’s position as a tourist 
destination¶
<#>Improve commercial, recreational, entertainment and 
hospitality opportunities for citizens of Caribou and surrounding 
communities¶

22



 

 

 
 
 

Here is the original ordinance presented 
at the January 9, 2023 meeting. 

23



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE 1 Caribou Development Committee 

Section 

22-101  Preamble 
22-102  Appointment and Tenure 
22-103  Responsibility 
22-104  Bylaws 
22-105  Compensation Benefits 
22-106  Purpose 
22-107  Funding 
22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE I Caribou Development Committee 

Sec. 22-101  Preamble 

WHEREAS, economic development has been listed as an important priority by the Caribou City 
Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, there has been increased interest by developers as evidenced by the number 
of commercial real estate transactions in recent years; and 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the City of Caribou business district are located in a Tax Increment 
Financing Districts; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is a desire to organize a standing committee, appointed by the Caribou City 
Council, for the purpose of promoting community growth and development within the City of 
Caribou and;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou Development 
Committee”, whose purpose is to utilize existing and potential natural, financial 
and citizen resources to support existing commercial activities, attract new and 
complimentary businesses to Caribou, and strengthen industry relationships while 
maintaining and leveraging the iconic character of our community. 

 
Sec. 22-102  Appointment and Tenure 

IT IS THEREFORE ADOPTED by the Caribou City Council pursuant to Sec. 2.11 of the Caribou 
City Charter, as follows: 
 
The Caribou Development Committee (hereinafter, “the Committee”) is hereby designated a 
formal standing committee of the City of Caribou, initially composed of five members of the 
public, who shall be appointed by the City Council and the Committee will include two ex-officio 
members with voting privileges: one member of the Caribou Planning Board (appointed by a vote 
of the members), and one member of the Caribou Economic Growth Council (appointed by a vote 
of the members). In addition, the Committee will include two ex-officio members without voting 
privileges: one member of the Caribou City Council (appointed by a vote of the Caribou City 
Council), and the City Manager. 
 
Public members shall be appointed for year-three terms; except however, initial appointments shall 
be made as follows: two for three-year terms, two for two-year terms and one for a one-year term.  
 
Ex-officio members shall serve indefinitely, at the pleasure of the appointing authority. 

25



Sec. 22-103  Responsibility 

The City Manager shall be responsible for the organization, administration, and operation of the 
Committee; except however, said responsibilities may be delegated to the Committee, as the City 
Manager deems appropriate. 

Sec. 22-104  Bylaws 

The Committee shall adopt by-laws providing for the officers, organization, and activities of the 
Committee, including a provision for the appointment by the Committee of an unlimited number 
of additional non-voting members.  The Committee’s by-laws, which shall be initially approved 
and may be subsequently amended, by a majority vote of the voting members. All by-laws shall 
be forwarded by the City Manager to the City Council. 

Sec. 22-105  Compensation Benefits 

No member of the Committee, other than employees of the City in other capacities serving ex 
officio pursuant to section (a) and any persons who may be specifically employed by the City for 
Committee-related activities, shall receive any compensation for Committee activities, nor shall 
any person serving on the Committee be deemed an agent or employee of the City, being entitled 
to any customary employment benefits, specifically including, but not limited to workers’ 
compensation benefits. 

Sec. 22-106  Purpose 

The purpose of Caribou Development Committee shall be to: 

• Define the meaning of “economic development” and set SMART (specific, measurable, 
achievable, relevant, and time-based) goals for the committee that: 

o Maintain broad community support regarding the direction of development efforts 
o Encourage broader access to economic incentives for quality job creation and tax base 

enhancement 
o Reduce barriers to economic growth while recognizing regulatory function 
o Develop municipal initiatives that support existing and future business 
o Identify and pursue additional resources to aid in economic development efforts 
o Assist firms in finding appropriate development sites for expansion 
o Encourage downtown revitalization and neighborhood business development 
o Retain and expand riverfront development while recognizing environmental constraints 
o Strengthen programs which encourage entrepreneurship by becoming a resource for 

information and technical assistance 
o Promote redevelopment of existing vacant lots within the urban compact zone, 

underutilized land, and brownfields properties  
o Maintain and improve Caribou’s position as a tourist destination 
o Improve commercial, recreational, entertainment and hospitality opportunities for 

citizens of Caribou and surrounding communities 

26



Sec. 22-107  Funding 
 
All grant applications seeking funds more than $2,500.00 shall be approved by the City Council, 
and all funds related to the Committee’s activities shall be administered through the City 
Manager’s office. 
 
Sec. 22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 
The Committee shall file an annual report with the City Council on or before January 31st of each 
year, covering goals, activities, and accomplishments during the preceding year. 

27



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  March 13, 2023 
RE:  2023 Municipal Expense Budget 
 
 

Per the City Charter, Section 5.06 Budget 

The budget process shall be divided into three processes: Expense Budget, Capital Expense Budget and Income Budget. 

Tonight the public hearing on the 2023 Municipal Expense Budget will be held. The work of the capital budget 
committee has not yet been completed. A final meeting is scheduled for March 13 at 5:00 pm. There will also be a public 
hearing at the next meeting to give the public an opportunity to provide feedback on the budget. 

A. Expense Budget 
• On or before January 15: The City Manager shall submit to the City Council a draft budget report detailing operation 

expenses for the fiscal year. 
• On or before February 15: The City Manager will have each City Department Head present a detailed Expense 

Budget Report in a public forum where both the City Council and Caribou’s citizens can ask questions and provide 
input to the City Manager and each Department Head. 

• On or before March 1: The City Manager will provide the City’s final written detailed Expense Budget Report for the 
ensuing year to the City Council. 

• On or before the third Monday in March: The City Council will hold a public hearing and vote on the City’s final 
detailed expense budget for the ensuing year. 

B. Complete City Budget 
On or before May 31: The City Manager will finalize the complete City Budget for the current year including all three 
elements: expense, capital expense, and income. The City Council has the opportunity to reduce the expense or capital 
expense budget if needed based on the current income budget but cannot increase the expense or capital expense 
budget. 
C. Set the Rate of Taxation 
The City Council will set the rate of taxation for the City based on the approved budgets of the City, County and RSU 39 
on or before the 30th of June each year. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Open the public hearing and take comments from the public and City Council members.  
 

28



2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited 
Year End 

Department 
Request

Percent Change 
from Prior Year 

Request

Percent Change 
from Prior Year 

End

10‐General Government 741,587$       755,232$       751,526$       749,448$           755,232             791,567$          751,526$       858,848$           8.5% 14%
12 ‐ Nylander Museum 16,078$         10,775$         18,988$         15,280$             10,775$             53,173$            18,988$         53,903$             1.4% 184%
17 ‐ Health & Sanitation 250,803$       253,256$       260,090$       254,716$           253,256$          257,578$          260,090$       266,338$           3.4% 2%
18 ‐ Municipal Buildings 52,998$         57,959$         73,126$         61,361$             57,959$             74,790$            73,126$         81,192$             8.6% 11%
20 ‐ General Assistance 48,735$         30,530$         26,800$         35,355$             30,530$             41,071$            26,800$         43,047$             4.8% 61%
22 ‐ Tax Assessing 262,484$       226,954$       198,737$       229,392$           226,954$          209,159$          198,737$       244,871$           17.1% 23%
25 ‐ Library 201,230$       207,700$       217,187$       208,705$           207,700$          231,669$          217,187$       246,852$           6.6% 14%
31 ‐ Fire & Ambulance 2,263,231$    2,331,284$    2,465,406$    2,353,307$        2,331,284$       2,622,708$      2,465,406$   2,657,354$        1.3% 8% *
35 ‐ Police 1,603,194$    1,656,630$    1,684,129$    1,647,984$        1,656,630$       1,763,342$      1,684,129$   1,870,971$        6.1% 11%
38 ‐ Protection 366,051$       362,857$       355,056$       361,321$           362,857$          367,000$          355,056$       382,000$           4.1% 8%
39 ‐ Emergency Managemen 10,775$         11,068$         11,632$         11,158$             11,068$             13,594$            11,632$         14,130$             3.9% 21%  
40 ‐ Public Works 2,068,165$    2,099,299$    2,444,421$    2,203,962$        2,099,299$       2,475,356$      2,444,421$   2,709,266$        9.4% 11%
50 ‐ Recreation 461,895$       513,121$       548,704$       507,907$           513,121$          566,616$          548,704$       656,465$           15.9% 20% *
51 ‐ Parks 169,695$       153,689$       171,576$       164,987$           153,689$          181,930$          171,576$       198,997$           9.4% 16%
60 ‐ Airport 47,894$         61,133$         85,754$         64,927$             61,133$             100,135$          85,754$         101,462$           1.3% 18% *
61 ‐ Trailer Park 14,078$         20,170$         12,650$         15,633$             20,170$             12,650$            12,650$         13,455$             6.4% 6%
65 ‐ Cemeteries 7,100$            6,729$            6,726$           6,852$               6,729$               6,850$              6,726$           6,850$               0.0% 2%
70 ‐ Insurance & Retirement 83,990$         96,615$         82,045$         87,550$             96,615$             91,376$            82,045$         90,452$             ‐1.0% 10%
75 ‐ Contributions 4,600$            4,600$            7,648$           5,616$               4,600$               7,648$              7,648$           7,648$               0.0% 0%
80 ‐ Unclassified 38,535$         27,725$         25,912$         30,724$             27,725$             31,275$            25,912$         31,775$             1.6% 23%
General Fund Totals 8,713,117$    8,887,324$    9,448,113$    9,016,185$        8,887,324$       9,899,487$      9,448,113$   10,535,876$     6.4% 12%

11 ‐ Economic Development 302,421$       260,586$       231,934$       264,980$           260,586$          308,853$          231,934$       308,037$           ‐0.3% 33%
24 ‐ Housing 101,143$       106,114$       107,880$       105,046$           106,114$          125,499$          107,880$       142,794$           13.8% 32% *
52 ‐ Snow Trail Maintenance 56,782$         45,387$         61,749$         54,639$             45,387$             62,038$            61,749$         70,411$             13.5% 14%
96 Section 8 FSS 51,951$         51,582$         63,191$         55,575$             51,582$             52,419$            63,191$         64,732$             23.5% 2%
Enterprise Fund Totals 512,297$       463,670$       464,754$       480,240$           463,669$          548,809$          464,754$       585,974$           6.8% 26%

TOTAL EXPENSE BUDGET 9,225,414$    9,350,994$    9,912,867$    9,496,425$        9,350,993$       10,448,296$    9,912,867$   11,121,850$     6.4% 12%

* Denotes an increase over the budget originally presented

 3 Year Average 
Actual Expenses  

(20‐22) 

2022 2023

29



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 374,592$                    380,805$              381,494$              378,964$                       380,805$                        $399,027.56 $381,494 $440,184 10.3% Number from Finance

002 City Council Salaries
     01  Council Salaries 11,728$                      12,650$                12,510$                12,296$                         12,650$                          12,500$                       $12,510 $12,500 0.0%

 
003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 6,509$                        12,658$                4,668$                   7,945$                            12,658$                          8,000$                         $4,668 $7,000 ‐12.5%
     02  Advertising 3,587$                        4,040$                   4,649$                   4,092$                            4,040$                            4,000$                         $4,649 $5,000 25.0%  
     03  Copier Rental 6,915$                        6,883$                   6,466$                   6,755$                            6,883$                            6,900$                         $6,466 $6,900 0.0%
     05  Printer Ink 1,825$                        2,038$                   2,653$                   2,172$                            2,038$                            2,000$                         $2,653 $2,700 35.0%
     07  Paper 1,056$                        1,557$                   1,646$                   1,420$                            1,557$                            1,500$                         $1,646 $1,500 0.0%
     08  Office Supplies 7,844$                        8,696$                   8,649$                   8,396$                            8,696$                            8,700$                         $8,649 $8,700 0.0%
     10  Annual Report 1,137$                        1,095$                   890$                      1,041$                            1,095$                            1,100$                         $890 $1,100 0.0%

005 General Govt. Legal Fees
     04  Legal Fees 26,996$                      20,873$                6,968$                   18,279$                         20,873$                          25,000$                       $6,968 $20,000 ‐20.0%

007 Audit
     01  Audit 17,500$                      19,500$                17,500$                18,167$                         19,500$                          17,500$                       $17,500 $28,500 62.9% Went out to bid last year

008 Computer Maintenance
     01  Computer Maintenance 49,729$                      51,484$                54,635$                51,950$                         51,484$                          50,000$                       $54,635 $55,000 10.0% Trio, Oakleaf, Zoom
     02  Hosted Services 9,100$                        9,328$                   10,836$                9,754$                            9,328$                            9,500$                         $10,836 $11,000 15.8% Wordpress, GoDaddy, Microsoft
    04 Computer Upgrades 18,750$                18,750$                         15,000$                       $18,750 $5,000 ‐66.7%

009 Professional Dues
     01  Subscriptions $405 NEW Finance Department Request
     04  Professional Dues 9,095$                        8,154$                   7,896$                   8,381$                            8,154$                            9,100$                         $7,896 $9,000 ‐1.1%

010 Travel Expenses
     01  Mileage 431$                            884$                      763$                      693$                               884$                                1,000$                         $763 $2,100 110.0% Manager, Finance & Clerk
     02  Meals & Lodging 206$                            1,320$                   2,468$                   1,331$                            1,320$                            1,500$                         $2,468 $10,200 580.0% Manager, Finance & Clerk
     04 Conference Fees 90$                              835$                      340$                      422$                               835$                                ‐$                              $340 $2,200 NEW Manager, Finance & Clerk
     05 Training Expenses

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education 759$                            1,015$                   2,077$                   1,283$                            1,015$                            1,800$                         $2,077 $2,900 61.1% Manager, Finance & Clerk

012 Elections
     01  Elections 16,342$                      6,722$                   7,797$                   10,287$                         6,722$                            9,000$                         $7,797 $10,000 11.1% Replacing voting booths 1/yr
     02 Contracted Expenses ‐$                             ‐$                       508$                      169$                               ‐$                                 1,000$                         $508 $1,000 0.0% Includes mobile equipment insurance

014 New Equipment
     01  New Equipment 1,256$                        2,350$                   1,399$                   1,668$                            2,350$                            1,200$                         $1,399 $1,200 0.0%

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone 308$                            197$                      345$                      283$                               197$                                300$                             $345 $480 60.0%
     04  Telephone 4,893$                        4,800$                   4,785$                   4,826$                            4,800$                            5,000$                         $4,785 $5,000 0.0%

017 Communications
     01  Web Site
     03  Internet 1,259$                        1,259$                   1,259$                   1,259$                            1,259$                            1,300$                         $1,259 $1,300 0.0%

 3 Year Average Actual 
Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

10  General Government

Page 1 of 40 30



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 141,815$                    141,557$              138,398$              140,590$                       141,557$                        138,177$                     $138,398 144,037$                        4.2% Number from Finance

 
019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc Expenses 374$                            8,600$                   5,322$                   4,765$                            8,600$                            8,000$                         $5,322 8,000$                            0.0%

020 Computers & Typewriters
     01‐Computers & Typewriters

021 Appropriation Allowance
     01‐Appropriation Allowance

034 Worker's Compensation
     01  Worker's Compensation 4,203$                        5,963$                   5,297$                   5,154$                            5,963$                            4,800$                         $5,297 1,986$                            ‐58.6% Number from Finance

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01 ‐ Vehicle Insurance 1,581$                        1,614$                   1,583$                   1,592$                            1,614$                            1,650$                         $1,583 1,574$                            ‐4.6% Number from finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 28,478$                      27,660$                29,044$                28,394$                         27,660$                          30,526$                       $29,044 33,674$                          10.3% Number from finance

(% to GA & ED subtracted out)
040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 11,127$                      9,214$                   8,536$                   9,626$                            9,214$                            12,086$                       $8,536 15,508$                          28.3% Number from finance

(% to GA & ED subtracted out)
073 Vehicle Repairs
     01 Vehicle repairs 344$                            356$                      551$                      417$                               356$                                2,400$                         $551 1,200$                            ‐50.0%

 
074 Vehicle Tires
     01 Tires 192$                            669$                      80$                        314$                               669$                                1,000$                         $80 1,000$                            0.0%

 
075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 318$                            456$                      765$                      513$                               456$                                1,000$                         $765 1,000$                            0.0%
Totals 741,587$                    755,232$              751,526$              749,448$                       755,232$                        791,567$                     $751,526 858,848$                        8.5%

10  General Government (continued)

Page 2 of 40 31



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

12 Nylander Museum
001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 6,500$                        1,240$                   7,493$                   5,078$                            1,240$                            29,016$                       7,493$                        29,000$                          ‐0.1% This would include another PT person

 
003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage
     03  Copier Rental
     05  Printer Ink
     07  Paper
     08  Office Supplies 409$                            697$                      480$                      528$                               697$                                1,000$                         480$                            1,000$                            0.0%

015 Telephone
     04 Telephone 934$                            1,012$                   1,099$                   1,015$                            1,012$                            1,000$                         1,099$                        1,000$                            0.0%

017 Communications
     01 Website
     03 Internet 1,020$                        1,060$                   990$                      1,023$                            1,060$                            1,100$                         990$                            1,100$                            0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance ‐$                            

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc Expenses    

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 2,947$                        2,181$                   4,450$                   3,193$                            2,181$                            3,763$                         4,450$                        5,000$                            32.9%

027 Electricity
     11  Electricity 729$                            887$                      552$                      722$                               887$                                1,385$                         552$                            1,200$                            ‐13.4%

028 Water
     05  Water 1,172$                        1,179$                   1,382$                   1,244$                            1,179$                            1,400$                         1,382$                        1,450$                            3.6% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 250$                            251$                      354$                      285$                               251$                                500$                             354$                            400$                                ‐20.0% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 40$                              ‐$                       348$                      129$                               ‐$                                 1,000$                         348$                            1,000$                            0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 1,064$                        1,820$                   680$                      1,188$                            1,820$                            2,000$                         680$                            2,000$                            0.0%
     04 Sprinkler Inspections 270$                      270$                               360$                             270$                            360$                                0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 1,012$                        448$                      319$                      593$                               448$                                500$                             319$                            235$                                ‐53.0% Number From Finance

034 Workers Comp
  01 Workers Comp 9$                                    NEW Number From Finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security ‐$                             ‐$                       570$                      190$                               2,449$                         570$                            2,449$                            0.0% Number From Finance

068 Janitotrial Services
     01 Property Maintenance ‐$                             ‐$                       2,700$                         ‐$                             2,700$                            0.0%

394 Community Projects
     01 Project Expense ‐$                             ‐$                       5,000$                         ‐$                             5,000$                            0.0%
Total 16,078$                      10,775$                18,988$                15,280$                         10,775$                          53,173$                       18,988$                      53,903$                          1.4%

Page 3 of 40 32



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

17 Health and Sanitation
022 Health Officer
     01  Health Officer 500$                            500$                      500$                      500$                               500$                                500$                             500$                            500$                                0.0%

023 Tri‐Community Landfill
     01  Tri‐Community Landfill 250,303$                    252,756$              259,590$              254,216$                       252,756$                        257,040$                     259,590$                    265,800$                        3.4% AWS supplied this number

038 ‐ Social Security  
      01 ‐ Social Security ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 38$                               ‐$                             38$                                  0.0%
Totals 250,803$                 253,256$           260,090$           254,716$                       253,256$                        257,578$                     260,090$                    266,338$                        3.4%

18 Municipal Building
024 Maintenance ‐ Comm. Center
     01  Maintenance ‐ Comm. Center
     02 Water & Sewer  974$                            662$                      537$                      724$                               662$                                1,000$                         537$                            1,000$                            0.0%
     03 Janitorial
     04 Electric  1,704$                        2,483$                   2,559$                   2,249$                            2,483$                            3,104$                         2,559$                        3,100$                            ‐0.1%  
     06 Lions Building

 
025 Heating Fuel ‐ Lions Building
     01  Heating Fuel Lions Building 3,323$                        3,332$                   7,592$                   4,749$                            3,332$                            4,598$                         7,592$                        7,600$                            65.3%

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 10,519$                      12,152$                21,464$                14,712$                         12,152$                          16,770$                       21,464$                      21,500$                          28.2%

027 Electricity
     11  Electricity 14,088$                      13,594$                15,623$                14,435$                         13,594$                          16,992$                       15,623$                      16,000$                          ‐5.8%

028 Water
     05  Water 749$                            797$                      820$                      788$                               797$                                829$                             820$                            875$                                5.6% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 576$                            585$                      492$                      551$                               585$                                596$                             492$                            500$                                ‐16.2% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 2,733$                        4,353$                   2,822$                   3,303$                            4,353$                            4,400$                         2,822$                        4,000$                            ‐9.1%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 6,585$                        7,936$                   8,920$                   7,814$                            7,936$                            10,000$                       8,920$                        10,000$                          0.0%
     03  Boiler Maintenance 667$                            872$                      748$                      762$                               872$                                1,000$                         748$                            1,000$                            0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 942$                            1,051$                   1,134$                   1,042$                            1,051$                            1,100$                         1,134$                        1,217$                            10.7% Number From Finance

033 Building Insurance‐Comm. Ctr.
     01  Building Ins. ‐ Comm. Ctr.

271 Contracted Services 
     01 Janitorial & Supplies 10,140$                      10,140$                10,415$                10,232$                         10,140$                          14,400$                       10,415$                      14,400$                          0.0% New Contract in 2022
Totals 52,998$                   57,959$             73,126$             61,361$                         57,959$                          74,790$                       73,126$                      81,192$                          8.6%

Page 4 of 40 33



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

20 General Assistance
001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 17,137$                      13,386$                11,045$                13,856$                         13,386$                          11,529$                       11,045$                      13,050$                          13.2% Clerk 30% of Salary

(number from finance)
003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 76$                              149$                      14$                        80$                                  149$                                125$                             14$                              125$                                0.0%
     05  Printer Ink
     08  Office Supplies ‐$                             ‐$                       32$                        11$                                  ‐$                                 50$                               32$                              50$                                  0.0%

010  Travel Exp  
     04 Conf Fee 192$                            ‐$                       ‐$                       64$                                  ‐$                                 200$                             ‐$                             200$                                0.0%

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education 181$                            90$                        130$                      134$                               90$                                  300$                             130$                            300$                                0.0%

014 New Equipment
     01  New Equipment

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 6,237$                        6,850$                   5,173$                   6,087$                            6,850$                            6,064$                         5,173$                        6,369$                            5.0% Number From Finance

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc. Expenses 45$                              71$                        98$                        71$                                  71$                                  100$                             98$                              100$                                0.0%

034 Workers Comp
   01 Workers Comp 18$                                  NEW Number From finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 1,156$                        916$                      767$                      947$                               916$                                882$                             767$                            998$                                13.2% Clerk 30% of Number from Finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 360$                            ‐$                       ‐$                       120$                               ‐$                                 121$                             ‐$                             137$                                13.2% Clerk 30% of Number from Finance

051 Equipment Maintenance
     05  Equipment Maintenance 1,200$                        1,100$                   1,200$                   1,167$                            1,100$                            1,200$                         1,200$                        1,200$                            0.0%

053 G.A. ‐ City
     01  G. A. City 20,976$                      7,967$                   8,340$                   12,428$                         7,967$                            20,000$                       8,340$                        20,000$                          0.0%
    02 ‐ G.A. State 1,175$                        ‐$                       ‐$                       392$                               ‐$                                 500$                             ‐$                             500$                                0.0%
    03 ‐ GA ‐ Nonreimbursible
Totals 48,735$                   30,530$             26,800$             35,355$                         30,530$                          41,071$                       26,800$                      43,047$                          4.8%

Page 5 of 40 34



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 188,581$                    161,269$              108,662$              152,838$                       161,269$                        162,654$                     108,662$                    129,275$                        ‐20.5% Number From finance
     02  Overtime Pay 1,282$                        1,376$                   2,106$                   1,588$                            1,376$                            1,500$                         2,106$                        1,500$                            0.0% (Plus Plumbing Inspector as needed)
     07  Salaries‐Bd of Assessors 1,500$                        1,500$                   1,500$                   1,500$                            1,500$                            1,500$                         1,500$                        1,500$                            0.0%

003 Office Supplies  
     01  Postage
     05  Printer Ink ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                                 ‐$                             
     08  Office Supplies 305$                            132$                      73$                        170$                               132$                                300$                             73$                              300$                                0.0%

006 Legal Fees
     01  Legal Fees

009 Professional Dues
     01 Subscriptions 656$                            24$                        16$                        232$                               24$                                  650$                             16$                              100$                                ‐84.6% Core Logic / Marshall Valuation
     02 IAAO 460$                            480$                      495$                      478$                               480$                                620$                             495$                            600$                                ‐3.2% Additional certifications require additional dues
     04  Professional Dues 582$                            210$                      213$                      335$                               210$                                400$                             213$                            400$                                0.0%

 010 Travel Expenses
     01 Mileage 1,195$                        578$                      1,246$                   1,006$                            578$                                1,000$                         1,246$                        1,750$                            75.0% Building Inspections & travel to training
     02 Meal & Lodge 551$                            56$                        1,333$                   647$                               56$                                  1,000$                         1,333$                        2,500$                            150.0% Maine Revenue Services Property Tax School X 2
     04 CONF FEE ‐$                             344$                      ‐$                       115$                               344$                                500$                             ‐$                             500$                                0.0%
     05  Travel Expenses

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education 2,926$                        1,207$                   872$                      1,668$                            1,207$                            1,500$                         872$                            1,000$                            ‐33.3% Other continuing education for 

Tax Assessment, Code Enforcement & 
013 Car Allowance Building Codes
     01  Car Allowance

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone 594$                            450$                      705$                      583$                               450$                                700$                             705$                            725$                                3.6% Mobile phone was upgraded to smart phone
     04  Telephone 429$                            452$                      450$                      444$                               452$                                475$                             450$                            475$                                0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 39,535$                      35,487$                14,801$                29,941$                         35,487$                          14,970$                       14,801$                      15,767$                          5.3% Number From finance

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc. Expense

034 Workers Comp
     01  Workers Comp 644$                            361$                      355$                      453$                               361$                                640$                             355$                            590$                                ‐7.8% Number From Finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 14,025$                      12,134$                8,873$                   11,678$                         12,134$                          9,300$                         8,873$                        9,431$                            1.4% Number From finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 2,636$                        3,545$                   1,400$                   2,527$                            3,545$                            2,100$                         1,400$                        2,319$                            10.4% Number From finance

051 Equipment Maint
     01  Software 770$                            840$                      840$                      817$                               840$                                850$                             840$                            840$                                ‐1.2%

22 Tax Assessing

Page 6 of 40 35



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

056 Contracted Services
     01  Registry 190$                            277$                      ‐$                       156$                               277$                                300$                             ‐$                             100$                                ‐66.7%
     04  Contracted Services 3,096$                        4,131$                   52,655$                19,961$                         4,131$                            4,500$                         52,655$                      55,000$                          1122.2% Contract Assessor paid from here (not salary)
     01  Assessment Reserve
  ## Comp Plan 17,000$                          NEW 1/2 Cost for NMDC + costs for public outreach

058 Codes Maintenance
     01  Codes Maintenance 255$                            105$                      ‐$                       120$                               105$                                300$                             ‐$                             300$                                0.0%

070 Clothing Allowance
     03  Clothing 269$                            44$                        268$                      194$                               44$                                  300$                             268$                            300$                                0.0%

073 Vehicle Repairs
     01 Vehicle repairs 909$                            1,088$                   756$                      918$                               1,088$                            1,500$                         756$                            1,000$                            ‐33.3%

074 Vehicle Tires
     01 Tires 508$                            134$                      80$                        241$                               134$                                600$                             80$                              600$                                0.0%  

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 587$                            730$                      1,038$                   785$                               730$                                1,000$                         1,038$                        1,000$                            0.0%
Totals 262,484$                 226,954$           198,737$           229,392$                       226,954$                     209,159$                     198,737$                    244,871$                        17.1%

22 Tax Assessing (continued)

Page 7 of 40 36



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 125,381$                    127,084$              127,289.00$        126,585$                       127,084$                        133,594$                     127,289$                    144,061$                        7.8% Number From finance
     02  Overtime

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 251$                            337$                      258.90$                282$                               337$                                350$                             259$                            350$                                0.0%
     02 Advertising 26$                              72$                        81.50$                   60$                                  72$                                  100$                             82$                              100$                                0.0%
     03  Copier Rental 1,654$                        1,544$                   1,609.63$             1,603$                            1,544$                            2,000$                         1,610$                        2,000$                            0.0%  
     05  Printer Ink
     07  Paper 77$                              61$                        171.66$                103$                               61$                                  200$                             172$                            200$                                0.0%
     08  Office Supplies 459$                            1,082$                   1,376.18$             972$                               1,082$                            1,400$                         1,376$                        1,400$                            0.0%
     11  Equip Rental

005 Gen Gov't Leg
     01  CCC&I

008 Computer Maintenance
     01  Computer Maintenance 3,096$                        4,517$                   1,998.98$             3,204$                            4,517$                            7,600$                         1,999$                        5,600$                            ‐26.3% Line decreased by $2,000 amount split between two lines

009 Professional Dues
     01 Subscriptions 119$                            179$                      179.00$                159$                               179$                                179$                             179$                            379$                                111.7% Increase $200
     04 PROF DUES 200$                            200$                      289.00$                230$                               200$                                200$                             289$                            400$                                100.0% Increase $200

010 Travel Expenses
     01  Mileage
     02  Meals & Lodging
     05  Travel Expenses ‐$                             ‐$                       56.82$                   19$                                  ‐$                                 500$                             57$                              1,000$                            100.0% ALA Conference Expenses/Travel ‐ Increase of $500

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education ‐$                             95$                        435.00$                177$                               95$                                  500$                             435$                            500$                                0.0%

014 New Equipment
     01 New Equipment ‐$                             372$                      1,191.96$             521$                               372$                                1,200$                         1,192$                        1,200$                            0.0%

015 Telephone
     04  Telephone 1,834$                        1,975$                   1,968.00$             1,926$                            1,975$                            2,000$                         1,968$                        2,000$                            0.0%

016‐02 Misc Income

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 11,392$                      11,484$                12,117.48$          11,664$                         11,484$                          12,118$                       12,117$                      12,740$                          5.1% Number From finance

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc. Expenses ‐$                             182.96$                91$                                  200$                             183$                            200$                                0.0%

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 9,565$                        11,771$                19,629.19$          13,655$                         11,771$                          16,244$                       19,629$                      16,244$                          0.0%

027 Electricity
     11 Electricity 3,758$                        4,679$                   5,460.26$             4,632$                            4,679$                            5,849$                         5,460$                        5,849$                            0.0%

028 Water
     05  Water  254$                            251$                      282.72$                262$                               251$                                300$                             283$                            318$                                6.0% Water: Per CUD, increase of 6.17% in effect Nov 1, 2022

25 Library

Page 8 of 40 37



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 252$                            251$                      275.20$                259$                               251$                                275$                             $275 $281 2.2% Sewer: Per CUD, increase of 2.00% in effect Oct 1, 2022

031 Building Maintenance  
     01  Building Maintenance 5,691$                        3,652$                   3,949.79$             4,431$                            3,652$                            4,000$                         $3,950 $4,000 0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 1,660$                        1,769$                   1,837.49$             1,756$                            1,769$                            1,800$                         $1,837 $1,909 6.1% Number from finance

034 Worker's Compensation
     01  Worker's Compensation 386$                            338$                      339.48$                354$                               338$                                340$                             $339 $501 47.2% Number from finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 9,255$                        9,419$                   9,490.97$             9,389$                            9,419$                            10,220$                       $9,491 $11,021 7.8% Number from finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 ‐$                              $0 $0  Number from finance 

055 Books & Periodicals
     01  Mars and Swift (0)$                              
     03  Books & Periodicals 15,971$                      15,768$                13,578.71$          15,106$                         15,768$                          17,000$                       $13,579 $17,000 0.0% Cloud Library subscription increase

075 Gas/Oil/Filter
     01   Gas/Oil/Filter ‐$                             ‐$                       462.96$                154$                               ‐$                              $463 $500 100.0%

271 Contracted Services
       01 Janitorial & Supplies 9,078$                        9,800$                   11,610.16$          10,163$                         9,800$                            12,000$                       $11,610 $15,400 28.3%  

406 Programming
     01 Library Programs 591$                            434$                      856.36$                627$                               434$                                1,000$                         $856 $1,200 20.0% Increase of $200
     02 Archives 279$                            566$                      207.85$                351$                               566$                                500$                             $208 $500 0.0%
Totals 201,230$                    207,700$              217,187$              208,705$                       207,700$                        231,669$                     $217,187 $246,852 6.6%

25 Library (continued)

Page 9 of 40 38



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 846,236$                    866,319$              929,654$              880,736$                       866,319$                        959,851$                     929,654$                    1,016,948$                    5.9% Number from finance
     02  Overtime 298,616$                    343,920$              331,183$              324,573$                       343,920$                        371,000$                     331,183$                    351,000$                        ‐5.4% Number from finance
     05  Stand By Pay 45,816$                      55,256$                33,004$                44,692$                         55,256$                          56,000$                       33,004$                      45,000$                          ‐19.6% Number from finance
     07  Amb. Billing Salaries 72,780$                      64,783$                51,411$                62,992$                         64,783$                          50,651$                       51,411$                      27,912$                          ‐44.9% Number from finance
     08  Special Transports Ambulance Biller retiring in 2023

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 55$                              9$                           77$                        47$                                  9$                                    100$                             77$                              150$                                50.0%
    02 Advertising 136$                            136$                              
    03 Copier Rent 848$                            904$                      897$                      883$                               904$                                960$                             897$                            936$                                ‐2.5%
     04 Equipment Repair
     05  Printer Ink 92$                              99$                        ‐$                       64$                                  99$                                  200$                             ‐$                             200$                                0.0%
     07  Paper ‐$                             ‐$                               
     08  Office Supplies 1,082$                        799$                      710$                      864$                               799$                                1,500$                         710$                            1,500$                            0.0%
     09  Amb. Billing Supplies 6,573$                        7,597$                   3,404$                   5,858$                            7,597$                            4,500$                         3,404$                        Contract for Ambulance Billing
     13 Houlton Supplies 1,311$                        1,311$                           
     14 Calais Supplies 1,997$                        2,481$                   2,476$                   2,318$                            2,481$                            1,800$                         2,476$                        Ambulance Biller retiring in 2023
     15 Van Buren Supplies 16$                              16$                                 
     16 Island Falls Supplies 1,295$                        1,638$                   1,776$                   1,570$                            1,638$                            1,000$                         1,776$                        Ambulance Biller retiring in 2023
     17 Patten Supplies 1,543$                        1,868$                   1,877$                   1,763$                            1,868$                            1,300$                         1,877$                        Ambulance Biller retiring in 2023

005 Legal Fees
    04 Legal Fees

009 Professional Dues
    01  Subscriptions
     04 Professional Dues 2,960$                        1,375$                   1,960$                   2,098$                            1,375$                            3,000$                         1,960$                        3,000$                            0.0%

010  Travel Expenses
     01  Mileage ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 300$                             ‐$                             500$                                66.7%
     02  Meals & Lodging
     05  Travel Expenses 1,580$                        ‐$                       ‐$                       527$                               ‐$                                 1,750$                         ‐$                             2,000$                            14.3%

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education  3,813$                        4,057$                   2,295$                   3,388$                            4,057$                            8,000$                         2,295$                        10,000$                          25.0%

014 New Equipment
     01  New Equipment 6,542$                        9,280$                   8,825$                   8,216$                            9,280$                            10,000$                       8,825$                        10,000$                          0.0%

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone 4,635$                        4,341$                   6,531$                   5,169$                            4,341$                            4,500$                         6,531$                        5,000$                            11.1%
     04  Telephone 4,794$                        4,251$                   4,245$                   4,430$                            4,251$                            5,500$                         4,245$                        5,500$                            0.0%

016 Misc Income
     01  Insurance Reports

017 Communications
     01 Website
     03  Internet 1,067$                        1,067$                   1,067$                   1,067$                            1,067$                            1,100$                         1,067$                        1,100$                            0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 325,323$                    315,979$              354,602$              331,968$                       315,979$                        352,714$                     354,602$                    371,350$                        5.3%
     02  Ambulance Health Insurance 32,192$                      29,318$                25,326$                28,945$                         29,318$                          27,026$                       25,326$                      8,392$                            ‐68.9% Number from finance

31 Fire and Ambulance

Page 10 of 40 39



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

019 Miscellaneous Exp.
     01  Misc. Expense 998$                            844$                      628$                      823$                               844$                                1,000$                         628$                            1,000$                            0.0%

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 17,832$                      21,397$                23,425$                20,885$                         21,397$                          29,527$                       23,425$                      29,000$                          ‐1.8%

027 Electricity
     11 Electricity 7,518$                        8,253$                   11,006$                8,926$                            8,253$                            10,317$                       11,006$                      10,500$                          1.8%

028 Water
     05  Water 803$                            917$                      1,056$                   925$                               917$                                1,100$                         1,056$                        1,200$                            9.1% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

029 Sewer
     01 Sewer 611$                            663$                      637$                      637$                               663$                                850$                             637$                            900$                                5.9% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 4,537$                        4,078$                   4,892$                   4,502$                            4,078$                            4,800$                         4,892$                        5,200$                            8.3%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 20,000$                      17,280$                13,865$                17,048$                         17,280$                          20,000$                       13,865$                      20,000$                          0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 1,553$                        1,216$                   1,774$                   1,514$                            1,216$                            1,279$                         1,774$                        2,270$                            77.5% Number from finance

034 Workers Comp.
     01  Workers Comp. 110,195$                    85,491$                84,430$                93,372$                         85,491$                          80,291$                       84,430$                      77,650$                          ‐3.3% Number from finance

035 Unemployment Comp
     01  Unemployment Comp. 6,856$                        6,947$                   6,898$                   6,901$                            6,947$                            7,210$                         6,898$                        7,210$                            0.0% Number from finance

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01  Vehicle Insurance 14,732$                      15,692$                15,933$                15,452$                         15,692$                          15,884$                       15,933$                      15,981$                          0.6% Number from finance

037 Liability Insurance
     01 Liability Insurance 3,767$                        3,944$                   3,981$                   3,897$                            3,944$                            3,251$                         3,981$                        3,251$                            0.0% Number from finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 93,024$                      98,550$                99,056$                96,877$                         98,550$                          109,969$                     99,056$                      110,226$                        0.2% Number from finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 72,111$                      79,047$                129,119$              93,426$                         79,047$                          163,167$                     129,119$                    187,379$                        14.8% Number from finance

046 Recognitions
     01   Recognitions

051 Equipment Maint.
     01  Software
     03  Maintenance Contracts 10,902$                      12,053$                11,737$                11,564$                         12,053$                          9,000$                         11,737$                      10,000$                          11.1%
     05  Equipment Main. 6,812$                        4,226$                   9,586$                   6,875$                            4,226$                            8,000$                         9,586$                        10,000$                          25.0%

31 Fire and Ambulance (continued)

Page 11 of 40 40



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

067 Paid Call Firefighters
     01  Paid Call Firefighters 26,000$                      35,175$                25,609$                28,928$                         35,175$                          26,000$                       25,609$                      31,000$                          19.2%

068 Janitorial Services
     01  Janitorial Services

069 Paid Call Insurance
     01  Paid Call Insurance ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 400$                             ‐$                             400$                                0.0%

070 Clothing Allowance
     01  Uniforms 7,721$                        8,000$                   8,290$                   8,004$                            8,000$                            8,000$                         8,290$                        8,200$                            2.5%
     02  Turnout Gear 779$                            1,500$                   2,500$                   1,593$                            1,500$                            2,500$                         2,500$                        10,200$                          308.0% Several sets ruined in 2022
     03  Clothing 
     04  Boots 414$                            500$                      1,000$                   638$                               500$                                1,000$                         1,000$                        1,000$                            0.0%
     06  Clothing Allowance

071 Radio Maintenance
     01  Vehicle  912$                            1,193$                   705$                      937$                               1,193$                            3,500$                         705$                            3,500$                            0.0%
     02  Building 21$                        21$                             
     03  Radio Maintenance 1,334$                        2,102$                   3,355$                   2,264$                            2,102$                            5,000$                         3,355$                        5,000$                            0.0%

072 Ladder Testing
     01  Ladder Testing 3,975$                        ‐$                       850$                      1,608$                            ‐$                                 4,000$                         850$                            4,000$                            0.0%

073 Vehicle Repair
     01  Vehicle Repair 19,620$                      14,986$                13,479$                16,028$                         14,986$                          15,000$                       13,479$                      16,000$                          6.7%

074 Tires
     01  Tires 5,433$                        5,847$                   2,324$                   4,534$                            5,847$                            7,500$                         2,324$                        7,500$                            0.0%
     02 Tire Replacement 

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 1,999$                        3,970$                   11,356$                5,775$                            3,970$                            6,000$                         11,356$                      6,500$                            8.3%

076 Diesel Fuel
     01  Diesel Fuel 20,412$                      20,604$                20,181$                20,399$                         20,604$                          44,091$                       20,181$                      40,000$                          ‐9.3%

077 Batteries
     01  Vehicle
     02  Equipment ‐$                             613$                      823$                      479$                               613$                                1,000$                         823$                            1,000$                            0.0%
     03  Batteries

078 Field Expenses
     01 Field Expenses 311$                            ‐$                       342$                      218$                               ‐$                                 1,000$                         342$                            1,000$                            0.0%

079 Employee Physicals
     01  Employee Physicals 168$                            142$                      20$                        110$                               142$                                1,200$                         20$                              1,200$                            0.0%

080 Paid Call Volunteers
    01  Paid Call Volunteers 932$                            4,165$                   14,348$                6,482$                            4,165$                            3,000$                         14,348$                      9,000$                            200.0%

082 Bad Debt Allowance
     01  Bad Debt Allowance 108,453$                    126,524$              117,918$              117,631$                       126,524$                        100,000$                     117,918$                    75,000$                          ‐25.0%
     02 Collection Fee 1,664$                        2,045$                   1,237$                   1,648$                            2,045$                            2,000$                         1,237$                        2,000$                            0.0%

31 Fire and Ambulance (continued)

Page 12 of 40 41



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

083 Contractual Allowance
     01  Contractual Allowance

085 Transport Meals
     01  Transport Meals 5,506$                        3,411$                   3,852$                   4,256$                            3,411$                            7,000$                         3,852$                        7,000$                            0.0%

086 Air Transports
     01  Air Transports

087 Medical Supplies
     01  Ambulance Supplies 10,484$                      12,602$                12,531$                11,872$                         12,602$                          10,500$                       12,531$                      11,000$                          4.8%
     02  Oxygen 3,130$                        3,508$                   7,515$                   4,718$                            3,508$                            3,500$                         7,515$                        4,000$                            14.3%
     03  Medical Supplies 9,575$                        6,693$                   13,889$                10,052$                         6,693$                            9,250$                         13,889$                      9,500$                            2.7%

292 EMS Licenses
     01  EMS License 857$                            1,765$                   1,367$                   1,330$                            1,765$                            1,870$                         1,367$                        1,900$                            1.6%

056 Ambulance Billing
04 Comstar 22,550$                31,000$                       22,550$                      49,200$                          58.7% Full year of contract in 2023

Totals 2,263,231$                2,331,284$          2,465,406$          2,353,307$                    2,331,284$                    2,622,708$                 2,465,406$                2,657,354$                    1.3%

31 Fire and Ambulance (continued)

Page 13 of 40 42



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

35 Police
001 Salaries  
     01  Regular Pay 889,306$                    922,801$              951,857$              921,322$                       922,801$                        942,888$                     951,857$                    970,098$                        2.9% Number from finance
     02  Overtime 68,354$                      72,898$                62,454$                67,902$                         72,898$                          72,500$                       62,454$                      70,000$                          ‐3.4% Number from finance
     04 Nursing
     06  Police Reserves Salary 37,746$                      41,154$                27,338$                35,412$                         41,154$                          50,000$                       27,338$                      45,000$                          ‐10.0% Number from finance

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 622$                            315$                      313$                      417$                               315$                                600$                             313$                            600$                                0.0%
     02  Advertising ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 250$                             ‐$                             250$                                0.0%  
     03 Copier Rental 1,920$                        1,920$                   1,920$                   1,920$                            1,920$                            1,920$                         1,920$                        1,920$                            0.0%
     05  Printer Ink  974$                            789$                      676$                      813$                               789$                                800$                             676$                            800$                                0.0% Ink cost has increased
     07  Paper 483$                            287$                      208$                      326$                               287$                                500$                             208$                            500$                                0.0%
     08  Office Supplies 1,322$                        1,810$                   1,345$                   1,493$                            1,810$                            2,000$                         1,345$                        2,000$                            0.0% Office supply costs have increased

006 Legal Fees
     01  Legal Fees

009 Professional Dues
     01  Subscriptions 566$                            1,030$                   1,608$                   1,068$                            1,030$                            700$                             1,608$                        1,700$                            142.9% Increase in mandated subscriptions
     04  Professional Dues 485$                            625$                      720$                      610$                               625$                                900$                             720$                            1,000$                            11.1%

010 Travel Expenses
     01  Mileage ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 300$                             ‐$                             300$                                0.0%
     02  Meals & Lodging 105$                            571$                      1,368$                   681$                               571$                                1,200$                         1,368$                        1,700$                            41.7% Increase in cost of lodging
     05  Travel Expenses 359$                            ‐$                       103$                      154$                               ‐$                                 1,000$                         103$                            1,000$                            0.0%

011 Training & Education

     02  Training & Education 15,468$                      34,421$                23,504$                24,464$                         34,421$                          33,000$                       23,504$                      33,000$                          0.0% Likely send 2 to BLETP in 2023, need new firearms instructor

013 Car Allowance
     01  Car Allowance 2,648$                        3,039$                   3,229$                   2,972$                            3,039$                            3,600$                         3,229$                        3,600$                            0.0%

014 New Equipment

     01  New Equipment 2,516$                        2,107$                   704$                      1,776$                            2,107$                            2,500$                         704$                            3,000$                            20.0%
2 new Officers in 2023 will need increased budget for 

equipment

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone 3,353$                        4,463$                   4,847$                   4,221$                            4,463$                            4,500$                         4,847$                        4,500$                            0.0%
     04  Telephone 3,091$                        3,178$                   3,146$                   3,138$                            3,178$                            3,500$                         3,146$                        3,500$                            0.0%

017 Communication Fees
     01  Web Site
     03  Internet 2,311$                        2,643$                   2,547$                   2,500$                            2,643$                            4,900$                         2,547$                        4,900$                            0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 297,411$                    270,750$              277,896$              282,019$                       270,750$                        291,309$                     277,896$                    302,938$                        4.0% Number from finance

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc. Expense 729$                            845$                      787$                      787$                               845$                                1,500$                         787$                            1,500$                            0.0%

027 Electricity
     11  Electricity
     13  Radio Tower 160$                            173$                      257$                      197$                               173$                                216$                             257$                            250$                                15.7% Rate increase

Page 14 of 40 43



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

028 Water
     05  Water 564$                            468$                      516$                      516$                               468$                                600$                             516$                            600$                                0.0% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

030  Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 1,464$                        2,038$                   2,175$                   1,892$                            2,038$                            1,600$                         2,175$                        2,000$                            25.0% Increase in cost of supplies

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 3,000$                        4,763$                   2,905$                   3,556$                            4,763$                            4,500$                         2,905$                        4,500$                            0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01 Property Insurance 558$                            612$                      660$                      610$                               612$                                612$                             660$                            709$                                15.8% Number from finance

034 Worker's Compensation
     01  Worker's Compensation 32,947$                      28,145$                27,874$                29,655$                         28,145$                          27,260$                       27,874$                      24,928$                          ‐8.6% Number from finance

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01  Vehicle Insurance 8,036$                        7,955$                   7,875$                   7,955$                            7,955$                            7,784$                         7,875$                        7,965$                            2.3% Number from finance

037 Liability Insurance
     01 Liability Insurance 10,096$                      10,363$                10,416$                10,292$                         10,363$                          10,320$                       10,416$                      10,513$                          1.9% Number from finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 73,423$                      78,127$                77,356$                76,302$                         78,127$                          81,502.15$                 77,356$                      83,009.96$                    1.9% Number from finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 47,130$                      57,725$                64,730$                56,528$                         57,725$                          64,567$                       64,730$                      121,101$                        87.6% Number from finance

(change in plans in union contract)
044 Reimbursement
     01  Reimbursement

051 Equipment Maintenance
     05  Equipment Maintenance 545$                            535$                      166$                      415$                               535$                                1,000$                         166$                            1,500$                            50.0%

068 Janitorial Services
     01  Janitorial Services 6,175$                        4,967$                   5,700$                   5,614$                            4,967$                            10,000$                       5,700$                        15,400$                          54.0%

070 Clothing Allowance
     01  Uniforms 6,405$                        4,480$                   8,305$                   6,397$                            4,480$                            6,400$                         8,305$                        8,000$                            25.0% Increased costs of uniforms

071 Radio Maintenance
     01  Vehicle  210$                            446$                      315$                      324$                               446$                                250$                             315$                            500$                                100.0% Increased costs to maintain radios
     03  Radio Maintenance 459$                            55$                        583$                      366$                               55$                                  750$                             583$                            1,000$                            33.3% Increased costs to maintain radios

073 Vehicle Repair
     01  Vehicle Repair 22,579$                      14,952$                19,944$                19,158$                         14,952$                          18,000$                       19,944$                      18,000$                          0.0%

074 Tires
     01  Tires 4,987$                        2,842$                   4,040$                   3,956$                            2,842$                            3,200$                         4,040$                        4,000$                            25.0% Increased cost of tires

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 23,888$                      29,726$                38,398$                30,671$                         29,726$                          46,624$                       38,398$                      50,000$                          7.2% Increased cost of gas

35 Police (continued)

Page 15 of 40 44



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

077 Batteries
     01  Vehicle

079 Employee Physicals
     01  Employee Physicals ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 500$                             ‐$                             500$                                0.0%
     02 Psycological Evaluations 1,500$                        750$                      ‐$                       750$                               750$                                1,500$                         ‐$                             1,500$                            0.0%
     03 Poly Graph Testing  300$                            300$                      350$                      317$                               300$                                500$                             350$                            500$                                0.0%

089 Equipment Reserves
     01  Equipment Reserves 473$                            90$                        ‐$                       188$                               90$                                  1,000$                         ‐$                             1,000$                            0.0%

090 Dog Constable
     01  Dog Constable 380$                            ‐$                       ‐$                       127$                               ‐$                                 6,000$                         ‐$                             6,000$                            0.0%

093 Meals for Prisoners
     01  Meals for Prisioners ‐$                             149$                      4,391$                   1,513$                            149$                                4,000$                         4,391$                        4,500$                            12.5% Increase in price and number of meals given

094 Video Equipment
     01  Video Equipment 655$                            537$                      641$                      611$                               537$                                800$                             641$                            800$                                0.0%

097 Uniform Maintenance
     01  Uniform Mainenance ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 200$                             ‐$                             200$                                0.0%

098 Medical Tests/Supplies
     01  Medical Tests/Supplies 4,536$                        15,347$                722$                      6,868$                            15,347$                          3,500$                         722$                            3,500$                            0.0%
     02 Laundry 293$                            563$                      543$                      466$                               563$                                650$                             543$                            650$                                0.0%
     03 Drug Testing 15,945$                15,945$                         15,000$                       15,945$                      17,000$                          13.3% Increase in number of drug cases to be tested

102 Computer Tech Support
     01  Computer Tech Support 6,190$                        8,404$                   7,707$                   7,434$                            8,404$                            7,500$                         7,707$                        10,400$                          38.7%
     02  Recorder Maint 1,734$                        1,734$                   1,734$                   1,734$                            1,734$                            1,900$                         1,734$                        1,900$                            0.0% Will need to capital on this, will need new one in 2024

179 Animal Shelter Services
     01  Animal Shelter Services 14,740$                      14,740$                13,313$                14,264$                         14,740$                          14,740.20$                 13,313$                      14,740.00$                    0.0%

229 Small Equipment Reserve
        01 Small Equipment Reserve

230 Police Car Reserve
        01 Police Car Reserve
Totals 1,603,194$                1,656,630$          1,684,129$          1,647,984$                    1,656,630$                    1,763,342$                 1,684,129$                1,870,971$                    6.1%

35 Police (continued)

Page 16 of 40 45



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

38 Protection
105 Street Lights
     01  Street Lights 24,618$                      24,155$                24,598$                24,457$                         24,155$                          25,000$                       24,598$                      25,000$                          0.0%
     02 Maintenance 20,000$                      16,674$                3,624$                   13,433$                         16,674$                          17,000$                       3,624$                        10,000$                          ‐41.2%

106 Hydrant Fees
     01  Hydrant Fees 321,433$                    322,027$              326,833$              323,431$                       322,027$                        325,000$                     326,833$                    347,000$                        6.8%

Totals 366,051$                 362,857$           355,056$           361,321$                    362,857$                     367,000$                     355,056$                    382,000$                        4.1%

Page 17 of 40 46



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     07  Salaries 6,858$                        7,135$                   7,278$                   7,090$                            7,135$                            7,278$                         7,278$                        7,752$                            6.5% Number from finance

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage
     08  Office Supplies ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 40$                               ‐$                             40$                                  0.0%

010 Travel Expenses
     05 Travel Expenses

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 150$                             ‐$                             150$                                0.0%

014 New Equipment
     01  New Equipment 15$                              ‐$                       793$                      269$                               ‐$                                 750$                             793$                            750$                                0.0%

015 Telephone
     04  Telephone 172$                            ‐$                       ‐$                       57$                                  ‐$                                 365$                             ‐$                             365$                                0.0%

017 Communications
     03  Communications (Internet)

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc. Expenses ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 100$                             ‐$                             100$                                0.0%

024‐02 Water & Sewer

027 Electricity
     11  Electricity 170$                            193$                      228$                      197$                               193$                                241$                             228$                            241$                                0.0%
     13 Radio Tower
     12 PWPUMP HOUSE

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 19$                              129$                      ‐$                       49$                                  129$                                200$                             ‐$                             200$                                0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 212$                            301$                      14$                        176$                               301$                                750$                             14$                              750$                                0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 355$                            375$                      384$                      371$                               375$                                392$                             384$                            377$                                ‐4.0% Number from finance

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01  Vehicle Insurance 2,356$                        2,419$                   2,409$                   2,395$                            2,419$                            2,409$                         2,409$                        2,409$                            0.0% Number from finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 497$                            516$                      525$                      513$                               516$                                527$                             525$                            593$                                12.5% Number from finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 260$                             ‐$                             271$                                4.4%

051 Equipment Maintenance
     01  Software
     05  Equipment Maintenance

39 Emergency Management

Page 18 of 40 47



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

068 Janitorial Services
     01 Janitorial Services ‐$                            

071 Radio Maintenance
     03  Radio Maintenance

073 Vehicle Repair
     01 Vehicle Repair ‐$                            

074 Tires
     01  Tires ‐$                            

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 121$                            ‐$                       ‐$                       40$                                  ‐$                                 132$                             ‐$                             132$                                0.0%

078 Field Expenses
     01  Field Expenses ‐$                            

108  CEM Rent
     01  CEM Rent
Totals 10,775$                      11,068$                11,632$                11,158$                         11,068$                          13,594$                       11,632$                      14,130$                          3.9%

39 Emergency Management (continued)

Page 19 of 40 48



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

40 Public Works
001  Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 600,660$                    646,852$              653,183$              633,565$                       646,852$                        680,815$                     653,183$                    799,010$                        17.4% Number from finance
     02  Overtime 84,250$                      71,026$                108,389$              87,888$                         71,026$                          110,000$                     108,389$                    142,000$                        29.1% Number from finance
     07  Salaries

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 86$                              52$                        350$                      163$                               52$                                  50$                               350$                            50$                                  0.0%
     02  Advertising 525$                            672$                      684$                      627$                               672$                                300$                             684$                            300$                                0.0%
     05  Printer Ink
     07  Paper 35$                              ‐$                       45$                        27$                                  ‐$                                 30$                               45$                              40$                                  33.3%
     08  Office Supplies 168$                            198$                      31$                        132$                               198$                                250$                             31$                              250$                                0.0%
     11 Equipment Rental 935$                            928$                      937$                      933$                               928$                                900$                             937$                            900$                                0.0%
     12 Software 840$                            840$                      840$                      840$                               840$                                650$                             840$                            700$                                7.7%

010 Travel Expenses
     02  Meal & Lodging 122$                            ‐$                       299$                      140$                               ‐$                                 200$                             299$                            300$                                50.0%
     05  Travel Expenses 239$                            200$                      131$                      190$                               200$                                200$                             131$                            300$                                50.0%

011 Training & Education
     02  Training & Education 124$                            300$                      150$                      191$                               300$                                300$                             150$                            300$                                0.0%

014 New Equipment
     01  New Equipment 3,500$                        2,730$                   3,499$                   3,243$                            2,730$                            3,500$                         3,499$                        3,500$                            0.0%
     02  Office
    03  Shop

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone  720$                            720$                      720$                      720$                               720$                                720$                             720$                            720$                                0.0%
     04  Telephone 1,144$                        1,062$                   1,061$                   1,089$                            1,062$                            1,100$                         1,061$                        1,100$                            0.0%

017 Communications
     03  Internet 539$                            539$                      539$                      539$                               539$                                540$                             539$                            540$                                0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 258,529$                    227,290$              220,076$              235,299$                       227,290$                        210,344$                     220,076$                    262,131$                        24.6% Number from finance

019 Misc. Expense
     01  Misc. Expense 1,344$                        1,281$                   1,670$                   1,432$                            1,281$                            1,250$                         1,670$                        1,500$                            20.0%

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 11,275$                      12,408$                15,524$                13,069$                         12,408$                          15,000$                       15,524$                      16,000$                          6.7%

027 Electricity
     01  P.W. Main Garage 9,533$                        10,474$                12,979$                10,995$                         10,474$                          13,092$                       12,979$                      13,500$                          3.1%
     02  P.W. Cold Storage 444$                            481$                      595$                      507$                               481$                                602$                             595$                            650$                                8.0%
     03  P.W. Sand Dome 293$                            285$                      319$                      299$                               285$                                356$                             319$                            356$                                0.0%
     04  P.W. Outside Lights 217$                            231$                      270$                      239$                               231$                                288$                             270$                            288$                                ‐0.1%
     11  Electricity 355$                            377$                      522$                      418$                               377$                                471$                             522$                            525$                                11.5%
     12  P.W. Pump House 369$                            451$                      500$                      440$                               451$                                564$                             500$                            550$                                ‐2.5%

028 Water
     05  Water 1,488$                        1,524$                   1,730$                   1,581$                            1,524$                            1,585$                         1,730$                        1,834$                            15.7% Water: Per CUD, increase of 6.17% in effect Nov 1, 2022

Page 20 of 40 49



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

40 Public Works (continued)
029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 481$                            508$                      663$                      551$                               508$                                518$                             663$                            676$                                30.6% Sewer: Per CUD, increase of 2.00% in effect Oct 1, 2022

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 549$                            964$                      864$                      792$                               964$                                900$                             864$                            900$                                0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 5,227$                        5,055$                   4,926$                   5,069$                            5,055$                            5,000$                         4,926$                        5,000$                            0.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 2,678$                        2,764$                   2,880$                   2,774$                            2,764$                            2,819$                         2,880$                        2,848$                            1.0% Number from finance

034 Worker's Compensation
     01  Worker's Compensation 42,243$                      35,238$                31,443$                36,308$                         35,238$                          31,443$                       31,443$                      28,672$                          ‐8.8% Number from finance

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01  Vehicle Insurance 26,134$                      26,761$                27,503$                26,799$                         26,761$                          26,716$                       27,503$                      28,289$                          5.9% Number from finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 49,409$                      55,235$                55,187$                53,277$                         55,235$                          59,558$                       55,187$                      71,987$                          20.9% Number from finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 9,611$                        8,871$                   11,930$                10,137$                         8,871$                            12,000$                       11,930$                      12,500$                          4.2% Number from finance

(reflects actual participation)
051 Equipment Maintenance
     01  Software 53$                             
     05 Equipment Maintenance 155,896$                    173,168$              160,346$              163,137$                       173,168$                        163,125$                     160,346$                    163,000$                        ‐0.1%
     06 Air Compressor
     08  Snow Plow repairs  14,328$                      12,588$                14,185$                13,701$                         12,588$                          14,062$                       14,185$                      14,000$                          ‐0.4%

070 Clothing Allowance
     03  Clothing 4,060$                        4,815$                   4,648$                   4,508$                            4,815$                            5,600$                         4,648$                        6,000$                            7.1%
     04  Boots 1,663$                        2,148$                   2,566$                   2,126$                            2,148$                            2,200$                         2,566$                        2,200$                            0.0%
     06  Clothing Allowance

071 Radio Maintenance
     01  Vehicle ‐$                             700$                      180$                      293$                               700$                                700$                             180$                            700$                                0.0%
     03  Radio Maintenance 99$                              122$                      ‐$                       74$                                  122$                                150$                             ‐$                             150$                                0.0%

074 Tires
     01  Tires others 1,335$                        1,200$                   1,536$                   1,357$                            1,200$                            1,536$                         1,536$                        1,500$                            ‐2.3%
     03  Heavy Equipment 4,800$                        4,894$                   6,144$                   5,279$                            4,894$                            6,144$                         6,144$                        6,000$                            ‐2.3%
     04  Trucks 8,021$                        7,200$                   9,216$                   8,146$                            7,200$                            9,216$                         9,216$                        9,200$                            ‐0.2%

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 6,083$                        7,122$                   11,454$                8,220$                            7,122$                            11,054$                       11,454$                      12,000$                          8.6%

076 Diesel Fuel
     01  Diesel 64,936$                      69,905$                140,742$              91,861$                         69,905$                          161,563$                     140,742$                    135,000$                        ‐16.4%

109 Safety Material
     01  Safety Material 2,262$                        2,244$                   2,422$                   2,309$                            2,244$                            2,500$                         2,422$                        2,500$                            0.0%

Page 21 of 40 50



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

110 Equipment Rental
     01  Equipment Rental

111 Tools ‐ Shop
     01  Tools ‐ Shop 1,779$                        1,497$                   1,724$                   1,667$                            1,497$                            1,750$                         1,724$                        1,750$                            0.0%

112 Tools‐Road/Ground
     01  Tools ‐ Road/Ground 974$                            1,340$                   1,227$                   1,180$                            1,340$                            1,250$                         1,227$                        1,250$                            0.0%

113 Propane
     01  Propane ‐$                       ‐$                                150$                             ‐$                             100$                                ‐33.3%

114 Industrial Gas/Solvent
     01  Ind. Gas 1,694$                        1,700$                   1,577$                   1,657$                            1,700$                            1,700$                         1,577$                        1,700$                            0.0%
     02  Solvents/Cleaners

115 Lubricants
     01  Lubricants 13,927$                      13,074$                14,906$                13,969$                         13,074$                          13,800$                       14,906$                      15,000$                          8.7%

116 Salt & Calcium
     01  Rock Salt 111,557$                    100,580$              161,732$              124,623$                       100,580$                        144,500$                     161,732$                    149,600$                        3.5% 1700 tons @ $88
     02  Liquid Deicer 19,366$                      33,623$                38,495$                30,495$                         33,623$                          38,810$                       38,495$                      41,000$                          5.6% 4 loads @ $2.25 P/G

117 Gravel
     01  Gravel ‐$                             2,982$                   3,961$                   2,314$                            2,982$                            3,000$                         3,961$                        3,500$                            16.7%

118 Crushed Stone
     01  Crushed Stone 26,000$                     

119 Liquid Asphalt
     01  Liquid Asphalt ‐$                            

120 Shim and Patch
     01  Shim/Paver 41,107$                      42,114$                41,199$                41,473$                         42,114$                          48,355$                       41,199$                      48,500$                          0.3% Price Increase $105 per ton
     02  Patch 16,000$                      19,099$                24,429$                19,843$                         19,099$                          19,380$                       24,429$                      20,000$                          3.2% Price Increase $105 per ton

121 Asphalt

     01  Asphalt 378,848$                    400,000$              524,526$              434,458$                       400,000$                        524,526$                     524,526$                    557,000$                        6.2% Town 2710 ton @ $105/ton & Country 2587 ton @ $105/ton

122 Culverts & Guard Rails
     01  Culverts & Guard Rails 8,428$                        7,892$                   13,331$                9,884$                            7,892$                            15,600$                       13,331$                      12,000$                          ‐23.1%

123 Signs
     01  Signs 2,157$                        1,507$                   2,373$                   2,012$                            1,507$                            1,920$                         2,373$                        3,000$                            56.3% Need new software / equipment

124 Sidewalks
     01  Sidewalks 3,000$                        3,623$                   3,000$                   3,208$                            3,623$                            3,000$                         3,000$                        3,000$                            0.0%

126 Traffic Paint
     01  Traffic Paint 10,621$                      11,160$                17,632$                13,137$                         11,160$                          18,000$                       17,632$                      18,000$                          0.0%

40 Public Works (continued)

Page 22 of 40 51



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

127 Vehicle Paint
     01  Vehicle Paint 2,573$                        2,898$                   2,201$                   2,557$                            2,898$                            2,500$                         2,201$                        2,500$                            0.0%

130 Construction Material
     01  Construction Material 1,872$                        2,736$                   4,840$                   3,149$                            2,736$                            3,304$                         4,840$                        4,500$                            36.2%

131 Sand Account  
     01  Sand Account 42,400$                      42,400$                65,000$                49,933$                         42,400$                          65,000$                       65,000$                      67,500$                          3.8% 4500 yd@ $15 (price increase)

132 Municipal Maintenance
     01  Municipal Maintenance 7,150$                        8,000$                   7,576$                   7,575$                            8,000$                            8,000$                         7,576$                        8,000$                            0.0% Mostly weed spraying

133  Tools Insurance
     01  Tools Insurance

134 Drug/Alcohol Testing
     01  Drug/Alcohol Testing 1,109$                        650$                      815$                      858$                               650$                                900$                             815$                            900$                                0.0%

 
271 Contracted Services 
     01 Janitorial & Supplies
Totals 2,068,165$                2,099,299$          2,444,421$          2,203,962$                    2,099,299$                    2,475,356$                 2,444,421$                2,709,266$                    9.4%

40 Public Works (continued)

Page 23 of 40 52



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

50 Recreation
001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 196,120$                    203,368$              205,282$              201,590$                       203,368$                        226,827$                     205,282$                    251,410$                        10.8% Number from Finance
     02  Overtime
     07  Salaries 68,045$                      80,773$                94,118$                80,979$                         80,773$                          90,000$                       94,118$                      95,000$                          5.6% Number from Finance

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 220$                            110$                      236$                      189$                               110$                                250$                             236$                            300$                                20.0%  
     02  Advertising 778$                            1,526$                   1,642$                   1,315$                            1,526$                            1,500$                         1,642$                        2,000$                            33.3%
     03  Copier Rental 1,560$                        1,560$                   520$                      1,213$                            1,560$                            1,560$                         520$                            1,560$                            0.0%
     04  Equipment Repair ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 150$                             ‐$                             150$                                0.0%
     05  Printer Ink 159$                            68$                        22$                        83$                                  68$                                  100$                             22$                              100$                                0.0%
     07  Paper 147$                            107$                      140$                      131$                               107$                                250$                             140$                            250$                                0.0%
     08  Office Supplies 634$                            418$                      974$                      676$                               418$                                1,000$                         974$                            1,000$                            0.0%

008 Computer Maintenance
     01  Computer Maintenance 1,134$                        840$                      1,013$                   996$                               840$                                840$                             1,013$                        950$                                13.1%

009 Professional Dues
     04  Professional Dues 255$                            255$                      295$                      268$                               255$                                225$                             295$                            355$                                57.8%

010 Travel Expenses
     01 Mileage  ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 150$                             ‐$                             150$                                0.0%
     02  Meals & Lodging ‐$                             ‐$                       570$                      190$                               ‐$                                 300$                             570$                            500$                                66.7%
     04  Conference Fee ‐$                             ‐$                       200$                      67$                                  ‐$                                 200$                             200$                            200$                                0.0%
     05  Travel Expenses ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 200$                             ‐$                             200$                                0.0%

011 Training & Education
     02 Training & Education ‐$                             319$                      75$                        131$                               319$                                500$                             75$                              500$                                0.0%

013 Car Allowance
     01  Car Allowance 3,200$                        3,262$                   3,500$                   3,321$                            3,262$                            3,500$                         3,500$                        3,500$                            0.0%

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone
     02  Rec Center 2,139$                        2,362$                   2,354$                   2,285$                            2,362$                            2,400$                         2,354$                        2,400$                            0.0%
     04  Telephone 56$                              ‐$                       723$                      260$                               ‐$                                 400$                             723$                            780$                                95.0%

017 Internet
     03  Internet 1,070$                        1,166$                   1,207$                   1,148$                            1,166$                            1,200$                         1,207$                        1,200$                            0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 67,030$                      70,572$                78,666$                72,089$                         70,572$                          79,409$                       78,666$                      83,596$                          5.3% Number from Finance

026 Heating Fuel
     01  Recreation Center 13,969$                      17,313$                30,666$                20,649$                         17,313$                          23,892$                       30,666$                      49,500$                          107.2%
     02  Teague Park
     03  Heating Fuel

027 Electricity
     05  Recreation Center 19,251$                      21,504$                26,182$                22,312$                         21,504$                          26,880$                       26,182$                      36,000$                          33.9%
     06  Teague Park 509$                            1,901$                   3,523$                   1,978$                            1,901$                            2,376$                         3,523$                        12,500$                          426.1%
     07  Soucy Sports Complex 386$                            677$                      1,127$                   730$                               677$                                1,057$                         1,127$                        3,500$                            231.1%
     08  Pool

Page 24 of 40 53



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

028 Water
     01  Recreation Center 1,351$                        6,477$                   9,605$                   5,811$                            6,477$                            13,000$                       9,605$                        13,000$                          0.0% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%
     02  Teague Park ‐$                             230$                      284$                      171$                               230$                                300$                             284$                            300$                                0.0% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%
    03   Dog Park 134$                      134$                               200$                             134$                            200$                                0.0% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%
     04  Soucy Complex 75$                              321$                      137$                      178$                               321$                                120$                             137$                            120$                                0.0% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 327$                            511$                      276$                      371$                               511$                                700$                             276$                            700$                                0.0% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 3,875$                        3,623$                   3,922$                   3,807$                            3,623$                            3,800$                         3,922$                        3,800$                            0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 31,847$                      40,789$                31,957$                34,865$                         40,789$                          35,650$                       31,957$                      36,000$                          1.0%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 5,737$                        5,660$                   5,958$                   5,785$                            5,660$                            5,613$                         5,958$                        6,303$                            12.3% Number from Finance

034 Worker's Compensation
     01  Worker's Compensation 9,179$                        10,209$                7,224$                   8,871$                            10,209$                          2,750$                         7,224$                        5,284$                            92.2% Number from Finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 19,937$                      21,284$                22,238$                21,153$                         21,284$                          23,472$                       22,238$                      26,500$                          12.9% Number from Finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 7,155$                        7,347$                   7,556$                   7,353$                            7,347$                            7,345$                         7,556$                        8,157$                            11.0% Number from Finance

051 Equipment Maintenance
     01  Equip Maint
     04  Repairs
     05 Equipment Maintenance ‐$                             487$                      ‐$                       162$                               487$                               

073 Vehicle Repair
     01 Vehicle Repair

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters ‐$                             50$                        97$                        49$                                  50$                                  97$                             

135 Water Tests
     01 Water Tests ‐$                            

136 Youth Center Equipment
     01  Youth Center Equipment

137 Rink Equipment
     01  Rink Equipment 584$                            448$                      834$                      622$                               448$                                800$                             834$                            800$                                0.0%

138 Program Equipment
     01 Baseball/Softball 578$                            478$                      126$                      394$                               478$                                600$                             126$                            600$                                0.0%
     02  Tennis 310$                            200$                      ‐$                       170$                               200$                                200$                             ‐$                             200$                                0.0%
     03  Soccer 228$                            734$                      559$                      507$                               734$                                600$                             559$                            600$                                0.0%
     04  Basketball 88$                              ‐$                       36$                        41$                                  ‐$                                 200$                             36$                              200$                                0.0%
     05  Arts & Crafts 200$                                NEW
     06  Program Equipment 1,983$                        1,652$                   1,641$                   1,759$                            1,652$                            1,800$                         1,641$                        1,800$                            0.0%

50 Recreation (continued)

Page 25 of 40 54



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

139 Rink Maintenance
     01  Rink Maintenance ‐$                             287$                      ‐$                       96$                                  287$                                ‐$                             

140 Pool Supplies
     01  Pool Supplies 300$                            500$                      ‐$                       267$                               500$                                900$                             ‐$                             900$                                0.0%

141 Trophies & Awards
     01  Trophies & Awards 43$                              366$                      286$                      231$                               366$                                400$                             286$                            400$                                0.0%

142 Pool Maintenance
     01  Pool Maintenance 400$                            400$                      ‐$                       267$                               400$                                ‐$                             

145 Special Events ‐$                             117$                      ‐$                       39$                                  117$                               
     01  Special Events 1,237$                        2,851$                   2,798$                   2,295$                            2,851$                            3,000$                         2,798$                        3,000$                            0.0%
243 Rec Center Improvement
Totals 461,895$                 513,121$           548,704$           507,907$                       513,121$                     566,616$                     548,704$                    656,665$                        15.9%

50 Recreation (continued)

Page 26 of 40 55



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 45,009$                      46,535$                41,157$                44,233$                         46,535$                          46,738$                       41,157$                      51,916$                          11.1% Number from Finance
     02  Overtime 3,256$                        3,579$                   2,528$                   3,121$                            3,579$                            5,000$                         2,528$                        4,000$                            ‐20.0% Number from Finance
     07  Salaries 38,226$                      34,579$                37,270$                36,692$                         34,579$                          36,316$                       37,270$                      39,213$                          8.0% Number from Finance

014 New Equipment
     01  New Equipment 1,534$                        1,322$                   1,197$                   1,351$                            1,322$                            1,200$                         1,197$                        1,200$                            0.0%

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone
     04  Telephone 583$                            628$                      818$                      676$                               628$                                650$                             818$                            820$                                26.2%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 11,392$                      164$                      12,117$                7,891$                            164$                                12,118$                       12,117$                      12,118$                          0.0% Number from Finance

019 Misc. Expense
     01 Misc. Expense

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 4,675$                        3,978$                   8,316$                   5,656$                            3,978$                            6,000$                         8,316$                        12,000$                          100.0%

027 Electricity
     01  PW MAIN GAR
     09  Park Shop 1,375$                        1,516$                   1,834$                   1,575$                            1,516$                            1,895$                         1,834$                        6,500$                            243.1%
     10  Park Security Lighting 199$                            207$                      205$                      204$                               207$                                259$                             205$                            1,200$                            362.7%
     11  Electricity 201$                            237$                      252$                      230$                               237$                                296$                             252$                            1,200$                            305.3%

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 250$                            254$                      256$                      253$                               254$                                300$                             256$                            300$                                0.0% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies 1,827$                        1,929$                   2,263$                   2,006$                            1,929$                            2,500$                         2,263$                        2,500$                            0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 2,575$                        841$                      2,951$                   2,123$                            841$                                3,600$                         2,951$                        3,200$                            ‐11.1%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance

034 Workers Comp
     01  Workers Comp 2,770$                        2,239$                   2,145$                   2,385$                            2,239$                            475$                             2,145$                        2,550$                            436.8% Number from Finance

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01  Vehicle Insurance 4,382$                        4,500$                   4,583$                   4,489$                            4,500$                            4,504$                         4,583$                        4,663$                            3.5% Number from Finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 6,389$                        6,497$                   6,026$                   6,304$                            6,497$                            6,583$                         6,026$                        7,277$                            10.5% Number from Finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement 440$                            1,060$                   580$                      693$                               1,060$                            1,040$                         580$                            1,040$                            0.0% Number from Finance

051 Equipment Maintenance
     04  Repairs 1,754$                        1,790$                   1,565$                   1,703$                            1,790$                            1,800$                         1,565$                        1,800$                            0.0%
     05  Equipment Maintenance 15,412$                      5,833$                   5,108$                   8,784$                            5,833$                            6,000$                         5,108$                        6,000$                            0.0%

51 Parks

Page 27 of 40 56



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

070 Clothing Allowance
     03 Clothing 381$                            435$                      491$                      436$                               435$                                500$                             491$                            500$                                0.0%

073 Vehicle Repairs
     01 Vehicle Repairs 5,168$                        4,818$                   6,684$                   5,557$                            4,818$                            5,000$                         6,684$                        7,000$                            40.0%

074 Tires
     01 Tires 1,411$                        1,529$                   915$                      1,285$                            1,529$                            1,500$                         915$                            1,200$                            ‐20.0%

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 4,221$                        6,675$                   9,538$                   6,811$                            6,675$                            8,343$                         9,538$                        8,500$                            1.9%

076 Diesel
     01 Diesel 917$                            8,010$                   4,031$                   4,319$                            8,010$                            10,013$                       4,031$                        3,000$                            ‐70.0%

111 Tools ‐ Shop
     01  Tools ‐ Shop 1,142$                        1,158$                   1,165$                   1,155$                            1,158$                            1,300$                         1,165$                        1,300$                            0.0%

147 Parks Maintenance
     01  Parks Maintenance 8,286$                        10,817$                14,986$                11,363$                         10,817$                          15,000$                       14,986$                      15,000$                          0.0%
    02 Civic Beautification

237 Civic Beaut  
     01  Civic Beaut 5,919$                        2,559$                   2,595$                   3,691$                            2,559$                            3,000$                         2,595$                        3,000$                            0.0%
Totals 169,695$                    153,689$              171,576$              164,987$                       153,689$                        181,930$                     171,576$                    198,997$                        9.4%

51 Parks (continued)

Page 28 of 40 57



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay ‐$                             ‐$                               

008 Computer Maintenance
     04  Computer Maintenance

015 Telephone
     04  Telephone 847$                            970$                      970$                      929$                               970$                                900$                             970$                            1,000$                            11.1%

017 Communications
     03  Internet 659$                            659$                      617$                      689$                               659$                                750$                             617$                            750$                                0.0%

019 Miscellaneous Expense
     01  Misc. Expense 120$                            126$                      272$                      124$                               126$                                150$                             272$                            300$                                100.0%

026 Heating Fuel
     03  Heating Fuel 6,699$                        8,227$                   8,096$                   7,447$                            8,227$                            11,353$                       8,096$                        11,500$                          1.3%

027 Electricity
     11  Electricity 770$                            833$                      1,140$                   868$                               833$                                1,041$                         1,140$                        1,200$                            15.3%
     14  Airport Hangar 1,893$                        1,582$                   2,248$                   1,732$                            1,582$                            1,977$                         2,248$                        2,300$                            16.3%

028 Water
     05  Water 526$                            546$                      906$                      533$                               546$                                568$                             906$                            975$                                71.7% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 250$                            251$                      456$                      250$                               251$                                300$                             456$                            470$                                56.7% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

030 Building Supplies
     01  Building Supplies ‐$                             74$                        ‐$                       25$                                  74$                                  100$                             ‐$                             100$                                0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
     01  Building Maintenance 532$                            1,260$                   2,788$                   762$                               1,260$                            750$                             2,788$                        2,500$                            233.3%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 1,909$                        1,948$                   1,922$                   1,744$                            1,948$                            1,961$                         1,922$                        1,883$                            ‐4.0% Number From Finance

037 Liability Insurance
    01 Airport Liability  2,173$                        2,499$                   2,499$                   2,282$                            2,499$                            2,500$                         2,499$                        2,500$                            0.0% Number From Finance

038 Social Security
     01 Social Security 700$                            691$                      1,101$                   919$                               691$                                1,484$                         1,101$                        1,300$                            ‐12.4% Number From Finance

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement ‐$                             ‐$                                Number From Finance

051 Equipment Maintenance
     05 Equipment Maintenance 4,325$                        8,395$                   2,657$                   5,036$                            8,395$                            5,000$                         2,657$                        5,000$                            0.0%

076 Diesel
    01 Diesel 2,720$                        3,078$                   7,835$                   3,872$                            3,078$                            7,317$                         7,835$                        8,000$                            9.3%

153 Air Consultant Contract
     01  Air Consultant Contract 3,700$                        3,975$                   4,875$                   5,592$                            3,975$                            5,200$                         4,875$                        5,200$                            0.0%

60 Airport

Page 29 of 40 58



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

155 Snow Plowing
     01  Snow Plowing 5,708$                        5,329$                   9,861$                   6,966$                            5,329$                            15,484$                       9,861$                        15,484$                          0.0% Number From Finance

156 Runway Lights
     01  Runway Lights 759$                            1,558$                   ‐$                       772$                               1,558$                            2,300$                         ‐$                             2,000$                            ‐13.0%

157 Runway Maintenance
     01  Runway Maintenance 3,000$                        500$                      2,512$                   2,004$                            500$                                6,000$                         2,512$                        4,000$                            ‐33.3%

161  Garbage Coll
     01  Garbage Collection ‐$                             

420 AVGas
     01  AVGas 10,603$                      18,631$                35,000$                21,411$                         18,631$                          35,000$                       35,000$                      35,000$                          0.0% MOVE TO G ACCOUNT
Totals 47,894$                      61,133$                85,754$                64,927$                         61,133$                          100,135$                     85,754$                      101,462$                        1.3%

60 Airport (continued)

Page 30 of 40 59



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

61 Caribou Trailer Park
006 Legal Fees
     01  Legal Fees

027 Electricity
     11  Electricity 2,048$                        2,244$                   3,719$                   2,670$                            2,244$                            2,805$                         3,719$                        3,900$                            39.0%

028 Water
     05  Water 4,900$                        3,772$                   5,956$                   4,876$                            3,772$                            4,500$                         5,956$                        6,000$                            33.3% Per CUD, water rate increase 6.17%

029 Sewer
     01  Sewer 3,000$                        2,638$                   765$                      2,134$                            2,638$                            2,690$                         765$                            900$                                ‐66.5% Per CUD, sewer rate increase 2.00%

032 Property Insurance
     01  Property Insurance 44$                              43$                        41$                        43$                                  43$                                  100$                             41$                              40$                                  ‐60.0% Number From Finance

105 Street Lights
     01  Street Lights ‐$                            

147 Park Maintenance
     01  Park Maintenance ‐$                       ‐$                                 ‐$                             

158 CTP License Fee
     01  CTP License Fee 115$                            115$                      115$                      115$                               115$                                115$                             115$                            115$                                0.0%

160  CTP Park Maintenance
     01  CTP Park Maintenance 772$                            ‐$                       ‐$                       257$                               ‐$                                 1,000$                         ‐$                             1,000$                            0.0%

161 Garbage Collection
     01  Garbage Collection 1,620$                        1,610$                   1,470$                   1,567$                            1,610$                            1,440$                         1,470$                        1,500$                            4.2%

385 Year End CTP
     01 Year End CTP 1,579$                        9,749$                   583$                      3,970$                            9,749$                            583$                           
Totals 14,078$                      20,170$                12,650$                15,633$                         20,170$                          12,650$                       12,650$                      13,455$                          6.4%

Page 31 of 40 60



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

65 Cemeteries
165 Evergreen Cemetery
     01  Evergreen Cemetery 3,000$                        3,000$                   3,000$                   3,000$                            3,000$                            3,000$                         3,000$                        3,000$                            0.0%

166 Grimes Cemetery
     01  Grimes Cemetery 2,250$                        2,000$                   2,000$                   2,083$                            2,000$                            2,000$                         2,000$                        2,000$                            0.0%

167 Sacred Heart Cemetery
     01  Sacred Heart Cemetery 350$                            350$                      350$                      350$                               350$                                350$                             350$                            350$                                0.0%

168 Holy Rosary Cemetery
     01  Holy Rosary Cemetery 350$                            350$                      350$                      350$                               350$                                350$                             350$                            350$                                0.0%

169 Green Ridge Cemetery
     01  Green Ridge Cemetery 150$                            150$                      150$                      150$                               150$                                150$                             150$                            150$                                0.0%

170 Lyndon Cemetery
     01  Lyndon Cemetery 300$                            300$                      300$                      300$                               300$                                300$                             300$                            300$                                0.0%

171 Bubar Cemetery
     01  Bubar Cemetery 100$                            100$                      100$                      100$                               100$                                100$                             100$                            100$                                0.0%

172 Memorial Day Flags
     01  Memorial Day Flags 600$                            479$                      476$                      518$                               479$                                600$                             476$                            600$                                0.0%

190 Veterans Cemetery Fund
     01  Veterans Cemetery Fund ‐$                             ‐$                       6,726$                   2,242$                           
Totals 7,100$                        6,729$                   6,726$                   6,852$                            6,729$                            6,850$                         6,726$                        6,850$                            0.0%

Page 32 of 40 61



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

70 Insurance and Retireme
007 Audit
     02 GASB 45 ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 3,200$                         ‐$                             3,200$                            0.0%

018 Health Insurance
   01  Employee Assistance Prog ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                                

034 Worker's Compensation
     01  Worker's Compensation 5,117$                        ‐$                       ‐$                       1,706$                            ‐$                                 3,616$                         ‐$                             3,500$                            ‐3.2%

035 Unemployment Comp.
     01  Unemployment Comp. 17,130$                      33,217$                15,300$                21,882$                         33,217$                          17,839$                       15,300$                      15,500$                          ‐13.1%

037 Liability Insurance
     01  Liability Insurance 27,209$                      28,539$                29,431$                28,393$                         28,539$                          29,221$                       29,431$                      29,642$                          1.4% Number From Finance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security

039 Bonds
     01  Bonds

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement ‐$                             ‐$                       109$                      36$                                  109$                            110$                                NEW

041 $1000 Ded. Payments
     01  $1000 Ded. Payments 906$                            1,500$                   3,000$                   1,802$                            1,500$                            3,000$                         3,000$                        3,000$                            0.0%

043 Compensated Absences
     01  Compensated Absences 25,000$                      25,000$                25,000$                25,000$                         25,000$                          25,000$                       25,000$                      25,000$                          0.0%

044 ‐ Reimbursements
     01  Reimbursements

046 Recognitions & Awards
    01  Recognitions & Awards 2,204$                        2,116$                   3,047$                   2,456$                            2,116$                            3,000$                         3,047$                        4,000$                            33.3%

311 Section 125 Expense
    01 Section 125 Expense 6,422$                        6,244$                   6,158$                   6,275$                            6,244$                            6,500$                         6,158$                        6,500$                            0.0%    
Totals 83,990$                      96,615$                82,045$                87,550$                         96,615$                          91,376$                       82,045$                      90,452$                          ‐1.0%

Page 33 of 40 62



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

75 Contributions
177 Aroost. Agency on Aging
     01  Aroost. Agency on Aging 4,600$                        4,600$                   3,048$                   4,083$                            4,600$                            4,600$                         3,048$                        4,600$                            0.0%

176 ACAP
01 ACAP ‐$                             ‐$                       4,600$                   1,533$                            3,048$                         4,600$                        3,048$                            0.0%  Request received for 2023 

Totals 4,600$                        4,600$                   7,648$                   5,616$                            4,600$                            7,648$                         7,648$                        7,648$                            0.0%

80 Unclassified
038 Social Security

     01 Social Security 523.36 ‐$                              523$                            500$                                NEW

045 Refunds/Reimbursements
     01 Refunds/Reimbursements 8,641$                        270$                      ‐$                       2,970$                            270$                                275$                             ‐$                             275$                                0.0%

200 Tax Lien Costs
     01  Tax Lien Costs 17,593$                      14,320$                15,246$                15,720$                         14,320$                          17,500$                       15,246$                      17,500$                          0.0%

201 Abatements
     01  Abatements 12,301$                      13,135$                10,143$                11,860$                         13,135$                          13,500$                       10,143$                      13,500$                          0.0%

Totals 38,535$                      27,725$                25,912$                30,724$                         27,725$                          31,275$                       25,912$                      31,775$                          1.6%

Page 34 of 40 63



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay  111,858$                    85,300$                52,824$                83,327$                         85,300$                          91,224$                       52,824$                      56,727$                          ‐37.8%  Number From Finance 
     03 Overtime

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage 1,000$                            NEW
     02 Advertising 3,360$                        3,018$                   5,692$                   4,023$                            3,018$                            5,000$                         5,692$                        7,500$                            50.0%
     04 Equipment Repair
     08 Office Supplies 377$                      0$                                 377$                            500$                                NEW

005 General Govt. Legal Fees
     04 Legal Fees 1,090$                        1,090$                           

008 Computer Maintenance
     01 Computer Maintenance 64$                              165$                      115$                               0$                                 165$                            200$                                NEW
     02 Hosted Services
     03 GIS License 700$                            700$                      700$                      700$                               700$                                700$                             700$                            700$                                0.0%

009 Professional Dues
     01  Subscriptions 1,563$                        6,143$                   1,255$                   2,987$                            6,143$                            6,000$                         1,255$                        4,000$                            ‐33.3%
     04  Prof Dues 1,152$                        425$                      789$                               0$                                 425$                            1,000$                            NEW

010 Travel Expenses
     01  Mileage ‐$                             586$                      477$                      354$                               586$                                1,000$                         477$                            2,500$                            150.0%  IEDC Leadership Summit, IEDC Basic ED Course 
     02  Meals & Lodging ‐$                             249$                      1,397$                   549$                               249$                                1,500$                         1,397$                        3,000$                            100.0%  OU EDI Institute, Brownfields, ICSC 
     04 Conference Fees ‐$                             861$                      1,467$                   776$                               861$                                1,500$                         1,467$                        3,000$                            100.0%

011 Training and Education
     02 Training and Education 1,760$                        650$                      109$                      840$                               650$                                1,500$                         109$                            1,500$                            0.0% IEDC Online Trainings

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance 15,477$                      9,633$                   7,866$                   10,992$                         9,633$                            28,153$                       7,866$                        8,392$                            ‐70.2% Number From Finance

019 Miscellaneous Expenses
     01  Misc Expenses 33$                              31$                        ‐$                       21$                                  31$                                  250$                             ‐$                             250$                                0.0%

031 Building Maintenance
    01 Building Maintenance

034 Workers Comp 206$                            151$                      51$                        136$                               151$                                150$                             51$                              190$                                26.7%  Number From Finance 
     01  Workers Comp

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 8,455$                        6,593$                   2,272$                   5,773$                            6,593$                            6,359$                         2,272$                        4,340$                            ‐31.8%  Number From Finance 

040 City & State Retirement
     01  City & State Retirement ‐$                             ‐$                       1,142$                   381$                               ‐$                                 1,340$                         1,142$                        1,806$                            34.8%  Number From Finance 

145 Special Events
    01 Special Events

238 Trail Groomer Reserve
    01 Trail Groomer Reserve 10,000$                      10,000$                10,000$                10,000$                         10,000$                          10,000$                       10,000$                      10,000$                          0.0%

11 Economic Development

Page 35 of 40 64



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

280 Revolving Loan Fund
    01 Revolving Loan Fund 19,558$                     

281 Contracted Services
    01 Buxton Contract
     03  NMDC 13,553$                      13,464$                13,177$                13,398$                         13,464$                          13,177$                       13,177$                      13,032$                          ‐1.1%  Request received for 2023 
    04 Broadband Study
    02 Chamber 2,500$                   2,500$                            2,500$                         2,500$                        5,000$                            100.0%  Increase for 2023 
   ## Social Media 5,200$                            NEW
   ## Website Upgrading 5,200$                            NEW
   ## Brownfields Tech Asst 7,000$                            NEW
   ##  Riverfront Plan 10,000$                          NEW  $40,000 requested ‐ Council thoughts? 

385 ‐ Downtown Infrastructure
    01 Downtown Infrastructure 3,693$                        475$                      5,040$                   3,069$                            475$                                5,000$                         5,040$                        7,500$                            50.0%
  ## Business District Lights 10,000$                          NEW  Capital Project ‐ 4 year  

392 Ads & Marketing
     01 Video Ads & Marketing  2,500$                        2,500$                   ‐$                       1,667$                            2,500$                            ‐$                              ‐$                             2,500$                            NEW  Videos for YouTube, Website, Social Media 

VistCaribou
394 Community Projects
     01 Project Exp
     08 Winter Carnival 477$                            ‐$                       2,175$                   884$                               ‐$                                 3,500$                         2,175$                        3,500$                            0.0%  Winter Carnival now with SnowBowl 
     14 Thursday's On Sweden ‐$                             7,512$                   8,728$                   5,414$                            7,512$                            13,000$                       8,728$                        10,000$                          ‐23.1%  Have sponsorships for 2023 too 
     15 Heritage Days
     16 Caribou Days ‐$                             3,224$                   1,300$                   1,508$                            3,224$                            5,000$                         1,300$                        1,500$                            ‐70.0%
     17 Moose Lottery
     18 New Years Eve
     20 Miscellaneous 2,070$                        1,932$                   2,645$                   2,216$                            1,932$                            2,000$                         2,645$                        2,000$                            0.0%
     21 New Events 3,000$                        1,228$                   5,863$                   3,364$                            1,228$                            5,000$                         5,863$                        4,000$                            ‐20.0%
  ## Caribou Cares 5,000$                            NEW  Grew in 2022 
  ## Small Business Saturday 5,000$                            NEW  This was previously paid for with 

 Craft Fair funds / moving to own line 
405 Slum/Blight Removal
    01 Slum/Blight Removal 49,488$                      87,401$                84,486$                73,792$                         87,401$                          65,000$                       84,486$                      65,000$                          0.0%
    02 Landbank Seed 3,061$                   ‐$                       1,531$                            3,061$                            20,000$                       ‐$                             20,000$                          0.0%

411 Façade Improvement
    01 Façade Improvement 15,420$                      15,874$                19,802$                17,032$                         15,874$                          20,000$                       19,802$                      20,000$                          0.0%

413 New Fire Station
    01 New Fire Station 36,945$                     
Totals 302,421$                 260,586$           231,934$           264,980$                    260,586$                     308,853$                     231,934$                    308,037$                        ‐0.3%

11 Economic Development (continued)

Page 36 of 40 65



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 53,526$                      55,419$                55,415$                54,787$                         55,419$                          55,688$                       55,415$                      64,430$                          15.7%  Number From Finance 
    11  Part‐Time ‐$                       15,600$                       ‐$                             15,600$                          0.0%
    10 Finance Dept tasks 4,984$                   5,981$                         4,984$                        5,971$                            ‐0.2%

003 Office Supplies
     01  Postage  3,676$                        3,294$                   2,894$                   3,288$                            3,294$                            2,200$                         2,894$                        2,600$                            18.2%
     02 Advertising 814$                      ‐$                       814$                                300$                             ‐$                             400$                                33.3%
     03 Copier Rental 1,731$                        1,909$                   2,135$                   1,925$                            1,909$                            2,000$                         2,135$                        2,000$                            0.0%
     05  Printer Ink 142$                            ‐$                       145$                      96$                                  ‐$                                 200$                             145$                            200$                                0.0%
     07 Paper 183$                            445$                      298$                      308$                               445$                                300$                             298$                            450$                                50.0%
     08 Office Supplies 3,175$                        3,621$                   2,126$                   2,974$                            3,621$                            1,000$                         2,126$                        1,750$                            75.0%
     12 Software 13,988$                      15,609$                17,583$                15,727$                         15,609$                          14,000$                       17,583$                      15,000$                          7.1%

005 General Govt. Legal Fees
     04 Legal Fees 4,670$                        60$                        844$                      1,858$                            60$                                  3,500$                         844$                            3,500$                            0.0%

007 Audit
     01 Audit ‐$                             ‐$                       1,500$                   500$                               ‐$                                 1,500$                         1,500$                        2,000$                            33.3%

008 Computer Maintenance
     01 Oak Leaf ‐$                             840$                      840$                      560$                               840$                                840$                             840$                            840$                                0.0%

009 Professional Dues
     01  Subscriptions 532$                            640$                      557$                      577$                               640$                                550$                             557$                            600$                                9.1%
     04 Professional Dues 800$                            500$                      500$                      600$                               500$                                800$                             500$                            800$                                0.0%

010 Travel Expenses
     01  Mileage 159$                            508$                      467$                      378$                               508$                                300$                             467$                            600$                                100.0%
     02  Meals & Lodging ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 500$                             ‐$                             2,000$                            300.0%
     04  Conference Fees
     05  Travel Expenses ‐$                             ‐$                       206$                      69$                                  ‐$                                 200$                             206$                            500$                                150.0%

011 Training and Education
     02 Training and Education 1,328$                        1,669$                   1,052$                   1,350$                            1,669$                            1,500$                         1,052$                        3,000$                            100.0%

014 ‐ New Equipment
     01  New Equipment 1,684$                        1,600$                   120$                      1,135$                            1,600$                            500$                             120$                            1,000$                            100.0%
     02 Office 600$                      600$                               

015 Telephone
     04 Telephone 462$                            395$                      394$                      417$                               395$                                1,200$                         394$                            400$                                ‐66.7%

017 Communications
     03  Communications ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 306$                             ‐$                             306$                                0.0%

018 Health Insurance
     01  Health Insurance Housing 2,786$                        2,838$                   3,023$                   2,882$                            2,838$                            2,825$                         3,023$                        2,983$                            5.6% Number From Finance
     02 Health Ins. Stipend FSS

034‐Workers Comp
       01‐Workers Comp Housing 177$                            156$                      154$                      162$                               156$                                185$                             154$                            165$                                ‐10.8% Number From Finance
       01‐Workers Comp FSS

24 Housing

Page 37 of 40 66



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

 035‐Unemployment
        01‐Unemployment Housing 295$                            323$                      324$                      314$                               323$                                315$                             324$                            315$                                0.0%  Number From Finance 
        01‐Unemployment FSS

 038‐Social Security
        01‐Social Security Housing 4,449$                        4,598$                   4,612$                   4,553$                            4,598$                            4,260$                         4,612$                        4,929$                            15.7%  Number from Finance 
        01‐Social Security FSS 1,200$                            NEW  This would be SS on PT Employee 

040 City & State Retirement
        01‐Retirement Housing 1,983$                        2,032$                   2,038$                   2,018$                            2,032$                            1,949$                         2,038$                        2,255$                            15.7%  Number from Finance 

285 Year End Closing
       01‐Year End Closing

412 ‐ Fee Accountant
     01 ‐ Fee Acountant 5,398$                        8,245$                   5,670$                   6,438$                            8,245$                            7,000$                         5,670$                        7,000$                            0.0%
Totals 101,143$                 106,114$           107,880$           105,046$                    106,114$                     125,499$                     107,880$                    142,794$                        13.8%

24 Housing (continued)

Page 38 of 40 67



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

52 Snow Trail Maintenance
001 Salaries
     01  Regular Pay 15,272$                      8,080$                   17,512$                13,621$                         8,080$                            16,640$                       17,512$                      17,200$                          3.4%  Number from finance 
     02  Overtime
     07  Salaries

015 Telephone
     01  Cell Phone 511$                            346$                      86$                        314$                               346$                                ‐$                              86$                              ‐$                                
     04  Telephone

019 Misc. Expense
     01 Misc. Expense 231$                            3,667$                   558$                      1,485$                            3,667$                            3,000$                         558$                            3,000$                            0.0%

034 Work Comp
     01  Work Comp 476$                            176$                      470$                      374$                               176$                                475$                             470$                            445$                                ‐6.3% Number from finance

035 Unemployment
     01  Unemployment 376$                            196$                      456$                      343$                               196$                                350$                             456$                            450$                                28.6%  Number from finance 

036 Vehicle Insurance
     01  Vehicle Insurance

038 Social Security
     01  Social Security 1,168$                        618$                      1,340$                   1,042$                            618$                                1,273$                         1,340$                        1,316$                            3.4%  Number from finance 

051 Equipment Maintenance
     01  Software
     04  Repairs
     05  Equipment Maintenance 14,661$                      11,602$                7,017$                   11,093$                         11,602$                          10,000$                       7,017$                        10,000$                          0.0%

075 Gas/Oil/Filters
     01  Gas/Oil/Filters 1,991$                        3,541$                   2,248$                   2,593$                            3,541$                            3,000$                         2,248$                        3,000$                            0.0%

076 Diesel
     01 Diesel 17,586$                      12,752$                28,093$                19,477$                         12,752$                          22,300$                       28,093$                      30,000$                          34.5%

148 Trail Maint
     01  Trail Maint 2,509$                        2,409$                   1,968$                   2,296$                            2,409$                            3,000$                         1,968$                        3,000$                            0.0%

286 Rent Exp
     01  Rent Exp 2,000$                        2,000$                   2,000$                   2,000$                            2,000$                            2,000$                         2,000$                        2,000$                            0.0%
Totals 56,782$                      45,387$                61,749$                54,639$                         45,387$                          62,038$                       61,749$                      70,411$                          13.5%

Page 39 of 40 68



2023 City of Caribou
Draft Municipal Budget

2020 2021 2022 2021

Department  Year End   Year End 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Year End   Final Budget 
 Unaudited Year 

End   Department Request 

% Change 
from Prior 

YR
 3 Year Average Actual 

Expenses  (20‐22) 

2022 2023

96 Section 8 FSS
001‐Salaries
        01‐Regular Pay 36,937$                      38,244$                38,241$                37,808$                         38,244$                          38,429$                       38,241$                      43,441$                          13.0%  Number from finance 

003‐Office Supplies
        01‐Postage 120$                            37$                        136$                      98$                                  37$                                  100$                             136$                            150$                                50.0%
        05‐Printer Ink 97$                              201$                      161$                      153$                               201$                                175$                             161$                            200$                                14.3%
        08‐Office Supplies 115$                            222$                      275$                      204$                               222$                                75$                               275$                            175$                                133.3%

009 Professional Dues
     01 Professional Dues 2,079$                   ‐$                              2,079$                       

010‐ Travel Expenses
        01‐Mileage ‐$                             ‐$                               
     02 Meals & Lodging ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 500$                             ‐$                             2,000$                            300.0%
     05 Travel Exp ‐$                             ‐$                       ‐$                       ‐$                                ‐$                                 500$                             ‐$                             500$                                0.0%

011 ‐ Training and Education    
        02 ‐ Training and Education ‐$                             ‐$                       912$                      304$                               ‐$                                 100$                             912$                            1,500$                            1400.0%

014 ‐ New Equipment
     01  New Equipment
     02  Office

018‐ Health Insurance
        01‐Health Insurance 2,724$                        2,777$                   2,961$                   2,821$                            2,777$                            2,823$                         2,961$                        2,983$                            5.7% Number from finance

021‐Appropriations Allowance
        01‐Appropriation Allowance 7000 5000 13303 8,434$                            5,000$                            5,000$                         13,303$                      8,500$                            70.0%  2023 Grant Award: $64,455 

034‐Workers Comp
        01‐Workers Comp 125$                            109$                      109$                      115$                               109$                                119$                             109$                            115$                                ‐3.4%  Number from finance 

035‐Unemployment
     01‐Unemployment 295$                            323$                      324$                      314$                               323$                                315$                             324$                            324$                                2.9%  Number from finance 

038 Social Security
        01‐Social Security 3,134$                        3,237$                   3,252$                   3,208$                            3,237$                            2,938$                         3,252$                        3,323$                            13.1%  Number from finance 

040 City & State Retirement
        01‐Retirement Housing 1,403$                        1,431$                   1,437$                   1,424$                            1,431$                            1,345$                         1,437$                        1,520$                            13.0%  Number from finance 
Totals 51,951$                      51,582$                63,191$                55,575$                         51,582$                          52,419$                       63,191$                      64,732$                          23.5%

Page 40 of 40 69



70



71



72



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  March 13, 2023 
RE:  MaineDOT Municipal Partnership Agreement Calendar Year 

2024 for a section of Route 228 
 
 

 
The City has received confirmation that the State of Maine will do a Municipal Partnership Agreement with the 
City on a section of Route 228 from Route 161B to the Urban Compact Line. 
 
The agreement is on the following pages. 
 
Public Works Director David Ouellette can answer any questions. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If the agreement is satisfactory, please “make a motion to authorize City Manager Penny Thompson to execute 
the agreement with the MaineDOT for the Calendar Year 2024 Municipal Partnership Agreement for a section 
of Route 228 in Caribou. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

73



Rev. 12.2022 

STATE OF MAINE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
MUNICIPAL PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

26053.01 

REGARDING  

Route 228 Paving CARIBOU 

This Cooperative Agreement (AGREEMENT) is entered into by and between the MAINE 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (“MaineDOT”), an agency of state government with its 
principal administrative offices located on Child Street, Augusta, Maine, and the CITY OF  
CARIBOU (“MUNICIPALITY”), a municipality in the State of Maine with offices located at 25 High 
Street, Caribou, ME 04736.  

WHEREAS, 
CARIBOU shall perform Route 228 Paving (the “Project”), 1 ½” paving overlay from Route 161B 
to the Compact Urban Line.  CARIBOU estimates this project at $140,000 

CITY OF  CARIBOU SHALL: 

1. Procure all contracts for and oversee the Project on Route 228 Paving for the Work outlined
above.

2. Cause such Work to be performed in accordance with a design by an engineer licensed in the
State of Maine. The Licensed Engineer shall provide a certification to the Municipality and to
MaineDOT that, in his/her professional opinion, the Project as designed will provide a smooth
ride, not reduce the safety, mobility or structural quality of the state [state aid] road. All design
documents must be stamped and signed in accordance with this provision by the Professional
Engineer.

3. Agree to secure all necessary Federal, State and Local permits necessary to complete the work.
CARIBOU also agrees to secure any needed property rights in accordance with all applicable
State and Federal Law.

4. Agrees that any exceptions to State Design Standards shall be documented as part of this
process. This documentation shall compare the new design to the existing conditions for each
of the exceptions to current design standards. Any such exceptions shall be displayed on the
cover sheet for the Project plans with the signature and PE stamp of the engineer responsible
for the design of the Project.

Internal Use Only 
TEDOCS #: 

CTM #: 
CSN #: 

Vendor #: VC1000012352

DocuSign Envelope ID: C98221D4-E795-4CC8-9CF8-53747460D543

74



 
 

Rev. 12.2022 
 

5. Be responsible, within the Project limits, for the following: 
 

a. Ensuring that the safety of the corridor and the life of the resulting structural and design 
elements are equal to or better than existing conditions and design;  

 
b. Ensuring that the structures, roadways and/or design features affected by the Project 

work shall, at a minimum, be of improved quality in terms of materials and utility; 
 

c. Ensuring that the Project does not introduce safety hazards; 
 

d. Ensuring that the Project retains the same level of mobility or improves mobility of 
travel within the corridor, unless approved traffic calming measures are proposed;   

 
e. Ensuring that the Project does not decrease the life expectancy of this component of 

Maine’s transportation system; and,  
 

f. Ensuring that the Project meets the current standards of Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 (ADA) design requirements. 

 
6. Provide certification through their Engineer to MaineDOT that the Project is complete and was 

constructed as designed.   
 
7. Ensure that construction shall commence within EIGHTEEN (18) months and shall be certified 

complete within THIRTY-SIX (36) months of execution of this agreement.  CARIBOU may 
forfeit the unpaid balance of this grant if these deadlines are not met or they can not 
demonstrate earnest and good faith efforts to meet them.   

 
8. Be responsible for or cause its contractors to be responsible for all damage to public or private 

property of any kind resulting from any act, omission, neglect or misconduct of CARIBOU or 
its contractors, including damage to vehicles passing through the Project limits. 

 
9. Bear all risk of loss relating to the Project and the Work regardless of cause. 

 
MAINEDOT SHALL: 
 

10. Provide a maximum $70,000 in State funds supporting the Work stated 
above. Reimbursement will be made by the Department at a minimum of 1/3 project 
completion upon receipt of supporting cost documentation from the Municipality. Payments 
will be made per Appendix A attached. The Department’s Region Engineer shall review the 
costs and certify their eligibility prior to reimbursement of Municipal Partnership Initiative 
Funds. Payment by MaineDOT Municipal Partnership Initiative funds shall not exceed $70,000 
or 50% of the actual costs incurred and paid by the Municipality. 

 
11. This project has been approved for Calendar Year 2024.  If the Municipality commences 

construction of the project as outlined above prior to January 1, 2024, the Municipality assumes 
the risk and responsibility for costs incurred, in the event that funding levels fall below 
MaineDOT projections. If this occurs, the Municipality will not receive reimbursement from 
MaineDOT. 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C98221D4-E795-4CC8-9CF8-53747460D543

75



 
 

Rev. 12.2022 
 

The City of CARIBOU and MaineDOT agree to function within all applicable laws, statutes, 
regulations, and AGREEMENT provisions; avoid hindering each other’s performance; fulfill all 
obligations diligently; and cooperate in achievement of the intent of this AGREEMENT. 

 
IN WITNESS, WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this AGREEMENT effective on the day 
and date last signed. 
 
 

 
 
CITY OF  CARIBOU 

       
 
Dated: _________________   By: __________________________________  
             Penny Thompson 
             City Manager     
      
 
 
 

STATE OF MAINE         
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 
 
Dated: _________________   By: __________________________________  
       Kyle Hall 
             Director, Maintenance and Operations 
 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: C98221D4-E795-4CC8-9CF8-53747460D543

76



 
 

Rev. 12.2022 
 

APPENDIX A  
 

PROJECT SCOPE AND COST SHARING  
MAINE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  

  
Municipal Partnership Initiative Project  

  
CARIBOU  

  
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS TO: Route 228 

 
STATE PROJECT IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 26053.01 

  
FUNDED CONSTRUCTION YEAR 2024  

 
Project Scope: Route 228 Paving   
Funding Outline: The Total Project Estimated Cost is $140,000 and the Parties agree to share costs 
through all stages of the Project under the terms outlined below.   
 

 
REIMBURSEMENT SCHEDULE:  
  
MaineDOT prefers the municipality invoice upon completion the project. The Department will, 
however, accept monthly invoices after 1/3 project completion with a maximum invoice submittal not 
to exceed 3 invoices.  
  
DESIGN EXCEPTIONS REQUIRED: __ YES X NO  
  
 

Work Element  Municipal Share State Share Total Cost 
 % $ % $ $ 
Agreement Cost Share 50% $70,000.00 50% $70,000.00 $140,000.00 
Estimated Additional 
Municipal Funds 

$0.00    

Maximum State Share 
Amount 

 $70,000.00  

Total Project Estimated 
Costs 

$70,000.00 $70,000.00 $140,000.00 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C98221D4-E795-4CC8-9CF8-53747460D543

77



City Manager's Report
March 13, 2023

 

Economic Projects

   

River Front - Powerplants No new updates

Broadband Initiative Broadband committee will report tonight

CDBG No new updates

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates

Events and Marketing
The first annual SnowBowl was held March 2 ‐ 5, 2023. We encourage anyone who is planning a reunion to consider including a 
Thursdays on Sweden Street event in their plans. City Wide Yard Sale May 20 & 21.

Landbank Letter received from the Business Investment Group. This will be an agenda item for the March 27 Caribou City Council meeting.

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates

Blight Cleanup No new updates

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates

60 Access Highway No new updates

River Front - Master Plan
The City of Caribou was not able to submit for the USDA RBOG grant because we did not receive the required number of "letters of 
commitment" from local businesses.

Façade Improvement Program The Spring application period is open. Please check the website for details. Please apply by March 15.

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates

Jarosz Storage - Limestone St No new updates

Business Outreach
Had a productive conversation with Mrtin & Meghan Dinneen who have purchased the former Pizza Hut building on Bennett Drive. 
Also met with James Nelson, a commercial lender with TD Bank. 78



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy On tonight's agenda

Nylander On tonight's agenda

Fire Structural Work No new updates

Fire Station Renovations No new updates

Police Station
Information has been received about accessing the funds. There was a webinar with further instruction. Staff is working to prepare 
information requested by the Police Station committee.

River Road No new updates

Investment Policy No new updates

Trailer Park Closure No new updates

Cable Franchise Renewal LR713, An Act to Support Municipal Franchise Agreements is making its way through the 131st Legislature.

Airport On tonight's agenda

Personnel Policy No new updates

New LED Street lights No new updates

Comp Plan Update No new updates

COVID-19 Status No new updates

15 Prospect Street The City Attorney is preparing paperwork for legal action. 

Water Street Fire No new updates

Age-Friendly Efforts No new updates

Personnel Changes The City of Caribou has multiple open positions. See the website for details.

Other Updates
Staff working on many projects

79



 

 
 

 

 
 

MEMO 

 

 

 

To: Mayor and City Council Members 

From:   Dan Bagley, Broadband Committee Chairman 

Date: March 7, 2023 

Re: Broadband Committee Report 

 
 

 

The Caribou City Council Broadband Committee met on 7 Mar 23, 8:30 am – 10:30 am in the 
Caribou City Council chambers.  In attendance were Councilors Dan Bagley, Chairman; Joan 
Theriault, and Louella Willey.  Also in attendance were Penny Thompson, City Manager and Gary 
Aiken, Caribou Utilities District (CUD) Board of Trustees (BoT) Chairman. 
 
The Chairman called the meeting to order at 8:30 am. 
 
The Committee approved by unanimous consent the proposed agenda (attached), which was 
distributed to members for review prior to the meeting. 
 
The Committee discussed in detail two proposals under consideration by the City of Caribou for 
broadband expansion.  A proposal by Charter/Spectrum, which offers a fiber build-out to every 
currently unserved/underserved home/business, comes with a $497K cost-share by the City of 
Caribou.  The total cost of the project is approximately $1.4M, and the project duration is 
estimated at approximately 12 – 18 months.  A proposal by the CUD, in partnership with Pioneer 
Broadband, offers fiber build-out across the entire city, and to the “last mile” of the city.  The 
estimated total cost of this project is $6M - $7M, with the first phase estimated to cost $1.4M.  
Total time to build out the entire city is not clear, but some estimates indicate it will be in the 
range of 5 years, with the first phase taking about 12-18 months. 
 
Charter/Spectrum has indicated that they are preparing a “best and final” offer related to their 
project, but the Committee has no insight yet into what the new terms might be.  The 
Committee agreed to wait until an updated Charter/Spectrum proposal was submitted, before 
forming any final recommendations to City Council.  CUD/Pioneer submitted an application for 
grant funding to complete Phases 1 and 2 of their proposed project, but were denied, based 
primarily on the fact that they are proposing to “overbuild” a the majority of the city, where 
high-speed Internet service is already available.  Grant monies generally are intended to address 
unserved and underserved communities.  Mr. Aiken indicated that the CUD does not intend to 
proceed further with their project unless grant money is awarded, or funding from private 
investors is made available.  
  
The Committee then explored potential options to reshape the current CUD/Pioneer proposal to 
focus on the unserved/underserved areas of the city only and to extend out to surrounding 
communities (e.g. Connor, Ft Fairfield, and Limestone).  This approach would be consistent with 
recommendations outlined in the Aroostook County Broadband Community Guide (2022), and 

80



 

 
 

would make the reshaped project more competitive for grant funding.  Mr. Aiken indicated he 
would bring this idea to the full CUD BoT and CUD Management for consideration and discussion 
during their next meeting. 
 
The Committee then discussed plans for a potential Town Hall Meeting on broadband expansion.  
The purpose of such a Town Hall Meeting would be to solicit public input on each of the two 
options discussed in this report.  The Committee feels that it is important to gauge the level of 
public support for either of the two options, before making final recommendations to the City 
Council.  The timing of the Town Hall Meeting would be in the April 2023 timeframe, and most 
likely be conducted at the Wellness Center. 
 
Next, the Chairman provided an update on efforts to obtain the broadband Engineering Study, 
sponsored by the City of Caribou for $159K and conducted by the Business Investment Group 
(BIG).  This effort was completed last year, but the City Council has not yet received the required 
deliverable under the 10 August 2021 Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between the City of 
Caribou, the Caribou Economic Growth Council (CEGC), and BIG.  The Chairman sent an email to 
the President of BIG, requesting delivery of the Engineering Study by 31 March 2023, so that the 
Committee can review it and factor results of that study into their discussions.  The President of 
BIG indicated that he would take it up at their next meeting and provide a response shortly 
thereafter. 
 
Finally, the Chairman noted to the other Committee members that the Maine Connectivity 
Authority (MCA) recently launched a new, online Maine Broadband Survey.  The Chairman 
encouraged other Committee members to complete the survey and agreed to include that 
announcement in this report (see attached), so that the residents of Caribou will be informed 
about the survey and be able to participate. 
 
Having no other business to conduct, the Chairman adjourned the meeting at 10:30 am. 
 
The next meeting of the Broadband Committee will be scheduled at a later time. 
 
/signed/ 
 
Dan Bagley, Chairman 
Caribou City Council Broadband Committee 
  

81



 

 
 

Caribou City Council Broadband Committee 
Meeting Agenda 

 
7 March 2023, 8:30 am 

Caribou City Council Chambers 

 
I. Call to Order 

II. Approval of Agenda 

III. Status Updates 

A. Spectrum proposal/offer 

B. CUD Fiber Project 

IV. Town Hall Meeting 

A. Format, Agenda, and Desired Outcomes 

B. Date/Time (not week of 20 Mar for Spectrum) 

C. Location/Venue 

V. BIG Engineering Study 

VI. MCA Survey 

VII. Next Steps / Plan of Action 

VIII. Adjourn 

 
 

82



Share Your Voice with Maine's Broadband Survey!
 
The Maine Connectivity Authority is producing a Broadband Action Plan (BAP) to access 
unprecedented federal funding. This plan will identify priorities for investment in broadband and 
digital equity, and will serve as the state’s five-year roadmap to bring the economic, health, 
educational, and social benefits of high-speed internet to all Mainers.

To develop that plan, we are collecting feedback from 
Maine people, communities, businesses, and 
organizations through the new Maine Broadband Survey. 
Click below to share your voice and broadband priorities.
 
The Maine Broadband Survey is just one way to engage in 
the planning process. Additional engagement opportunities 
include in-person, virtual and hybrid events such as:

Focus groups

Community meetings

Open office hours

1:1 Stakeholder Interviews

A growing calendar of these events is available on the BAP 
page of the MCA website. 83

https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=wqGvPQlcr8KNoNaHdCCYVjyvYtZnvV5RvDQpgSnjQ14.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly9zdXJ2ZXkxMjMuYXJjZ2lzLmNvbS9zaGFyZS82MTNkNDBkYWVjODQ0MjI2YTEzOTg1MGFmYjNlZjZlZiIsInIiOiIxNWQ2ZTEyMi05N2E0LTQ2OWEtOTAzYy1jNzFjNmU1ZDYzZDUiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=kwsavlePgbrwp-6KKNm7joHMmDZhQ_bFN4oQML_yB1w.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly9zdXJ2ZXkxMjMuYXJjZ2lzLmNvbS9zaGFyZS82MTNkNDBkYWVjODQ0MjI2YTEzOTg1MGFmYjNlZjZlZiIsInIiOiI1OTYxZGQ4MS1lNTM0LTQ1NDAtYzRlNC1iZDk3ZjkyZjg2YmMiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=5pnU8B73W7alnfmCFgCkRl-fcQuj32FE8vVtterK4xg.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubWFpbmVjb25uZWN0aXZpdHkub3JnL3BsYW5uaW5nIiwiciI6IjhhYmRkM2E4LTZlZDktNGMxZi01ZGQxLWRjYWRlMTAwZjhlOSIsIm0iOiJtYWlsX2xwIiwiYyI6IjdkNzk0OTA2LWJmODEtNDM4MC1iZDEzLTk4YzVkYjgyZWQ0YSJ9
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=xie2fGXi8waMO2PwUhHqF5-gnEK2cCoLzIW5AxhLMdg.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly9zdXJ2ZXkxMjMuYXJjZ2lzLmNvbS9zaGFyZS82MTNkNDBkYWVjODQ0MjI2YTEzOTg1MGFmYjNlZjZlZiIsInIiOiIzNTM0YmZiMS1hMWEzLTQ2OWYtODExYS05ZjBiZmJiYTBjOWUiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ


Take the Survey!

Important Audiences

It is particularly important that we hear from the eight audiences (also called covered populations) that 
are specified in the planning process. If you identify as a member of one of the following populations, or 
know someone who does, please share the survey with them.
 

Rural inhabitants
Low-Income households
Individuals with Disabilities
Veterans
Incarcerated (+formerly incarcerated) People
People with Language barriers
Racial/ethnic minorities
Older adults

 

Please share this survey widely with your friends, family, and community! 
The more voices we hear, the more effective the plan will be.

Other Ways to Access the Survey

We want to ensure that the Maine Broadband Survey is as accessible as possible.  We've created 
some non-digital methods of taking the survey, but if you don't see a solution that meets your needs, 
please contact us at bap@maineconnectivity.org or (207) 200-4398.
  

A PDF version of the survey can be downloaded here.
A large print PDF version of the survey can be downloaded here.
Please note: Twelve language translations of the online and print versions of the survey are 

coming soon, and we will post them as soon as they're available. 
If you would like a bundle of hard copies to be delivered to your organization or community, 

please reach out to MCA, and we will coordinate the delivery of these materials.
Hard copies of the survey can be returned to MCA or any of our Regional and Tribal Broadband 

Partners.
If someone is unable to complete the survey on their own, friends, family or community partners 

can also ask the questions verbally as an interview and enter responses online or on paper as they 
receive the answers to the questions. 

84

https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=46J53fgt8GQ9yK_6jQK8R9DMgALBD17VY7AmPnujpik.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly9zdXJ2ZXkxMjMuYXJjZ2lzLmNvbS9zaGFyZS82MTNkNDBkYWVjODQ0MjI2YTEzOTg1MGFmYjNlZjZlZiIsInIiOiJiNjEzNmFjOS1lY2Q5LTRjM2EtZjI3ZC0zMDdiNDllNjhlY2IiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=xLtr8HSUfuq35p9q-lcUssZdrxMi1ZMei5VuKZaEKfQ.eyJ1IjoibWFpbHRvOiUyMGJhcEBtYWluZWNvbm5lY3Rpdml0eS5vcmciLCJyIjoiNjNjMmYyYTQtOGY4Yy00YjA3LWFjMDQtYzkwMDg3ZDk5MTQ1IiwibSI6Im1haWxfbHAiLCJjIjoiN2Q3OTQ5MDYtYmY4MS00MzgwLWJkMTMtOThjNWRiODJlZDRhIn0
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=m72B8layM-TKQzGjPVOwgvB397nsraL8GcUysgmR3kE.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly9kcml2ZS5nb29nbGUuY29tL2ZpbGUvZC8xSkU1T2NwQ1VTWkVHalQ2Z25uTEZDc1RfSnNfQWdfcGMvdmlldz91c3A9c2hhcmVfbGluayIsInIiOiI2M2MyZjJhNC04ZjhjLTRiMDctYWMwNC1jOTAwODdkOTkxNDUiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=UX-q84x1hMZT8YJkt8y63guIBYC4CCDlVl6s-3NkWy0.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly9kcml2ZS5nb29nbGUuY29tL2ZpbGUvZC8xMGdpaW8wbmdyd1lDUHpNUWpZUTdwVUw5MmstYkRxcTEvdmlldz91c3A9c2hhcmluZyIsInIiOiI2M2MyZjJhNC04ZjhjLTRiMDctYWMwNC1jOTAwODdkOTkxNDUiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=WbvBfS5gpQLgo51k13BRX9Dzq0KyXFyPIIF-8vJfWh4.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubWFpbmVjb25uZWN0aXZpdHkub3JnL3JlZ2lvbmFsLWJyb2FkYmFuZC1wYXJ0bmVycyIsInIiOiI2M2MyZjJhNC04ZjhjLTRiMDctYWMwNC1jOTAwODdkOTkxNDUiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ


Upcoming Events
 
As a quasi-governmental agency responsible for managing, investing and deploying public funds, 
Board of Directors meetings are open to the public in a virtual format. Meetings are intended to serve 
as an opportunity to learn about MCA's strategy and activities as well as funding and partnership 
opportunities. Click the event title below to register for an upcoming event.
 
For a listing of specific Broadband Action Plan events, please see our BAP page here.
 

March ConnectMaine Board Meeting - Wednesday, March 15 at 10 am
Last Mile Infrastructure Grants Committee Meeting - Thursday, March 16 at 12 pm
March MCA Board Meeting - Friday, March 24 at 12 pm

 

Connect with MCA

Check out MCA's
Website

Maine Connectivity Authority
100 Fore St. Portland, ME 04101

207-370-7439 | info@maineconnectivity.org

85

https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=GvShtK6xUzQKsC_h-TKmzgHWXEkvy-2A-HS2b0_XZZE.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubWFpbmVjb25uZWN0aXZpdHkub3JnL3BsYW5uaW5nIiwiciI6ImY3MTZiODA1LTZlMzktNDMwMC1lNGIwLTBlYzI4ZDgyZjQ4NiIsIm0iOiJtYWlsX2xwIiwiYyI6IjdkNzk0OTA2LWJmODEtNDM4MC1iZDEzLTk4YzVkYjgyZWQ0YSJ9
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=isMZCsRIysd7PuCNn0Oso9N1tQin2qCR6GP2Dl-EoMM.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly91czA2d2ViLnpvb20udXMvd2ViaW5hci9yZWdpc3Rlci9XTl9zZHZtTUVTcVRHT0hpc1BWelA2U0JBIiwiciI6ImY3MTZiODA1LTZlMzktNDMwMC1lNGIwLTBlYzI4ZDgyZjQ4NiIsIm0iOiJtYWlsX2xwIiwiYyI6IjdkNzk0OTA2LWJmODEtNDM4MC1iZDEzLTk4YzVkYjgyZWQ0YSJ9
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=V_LG5dVk_ok3v3A8D-ta4fk3P01Sct1KTvFO_NeZJMI.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly91czA2d2ViLnpvb20udXMvd2ViaW5hci9yZWdpc3Rlci9XTl9DRnRXVXRGRVRoT0VRMDR2cUl6S2dRIiwiciI6ImY3MTZiODA1LTZlMzktNDMwMC1lNGIwLTBlYzI4ZDgyZjQ4NiIsIm0iOiJtYWlsX2xwIiwiYyI6IjdkNzk0OTA2LWJmODEtNDM4MC1iZDEzLTk4YzVkYjgyZWQ0YSJ9
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=4ktiaR7fO6j92Lw1-3XObHb-gvVyPdlXzfb-9t-xgko.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuZmFjZWJvb2suY29tL21haW5lY29ubmVjdGl2aXR5IiwiciI6IjVlZTMyN2RhLTUxYzAtNGE1ZS00OGVkLTQ0YjBjNjgyNmI0YiIsIm0iOiJtYWlsX2xwIiwiYyI6IjdkNzk0OTA2LWJmODEtNDM4MC1iZDEzLTk4YzVkYjgyZWQ0YSJ9
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=KoukqhlEJIJ6VMYw7fEdAN-kEdI0azLaDx9W3xop5C8.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuaW5zdGFncmFtLmNvbS9tYWluZWNvbm5lY3Rpdml0eS8iLCJyIjoiNWVlMzI3ZGEtNTFjMC00YTVlLTQ4ZWQtNDRiMGM2ODI2YjRiIiwibSI6Im1haWxfbHAiLCJjIjoiN2Q3OTQ5MDYtYmY4MS00MzgwLWJkMTMtOThjNWRiODJlZDRhIn0
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=SmHRf9UJkNKBQPXvoNTThuRnZB0X-bIV0Rh4w1ZnUME.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cueW91dHViZS5jb20vd2F0Y2g_dj1rM1J6UTFiX2M5dyIsInIiOiI1ZWUzMjdkYS01MWMwLTRhNWUtNDhlZC00NGIwYzY4MjZiNGIiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=WbzKotsTy5I9Z83V5YtohnMTiymGHEvMn284wVZ3keE.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubGlua2VkaW4uY29tL2NvbXBhbnkvbWFpbmUtY29ubmVjdGl2aXR5LWF1dGhvcml0eSIsInIiOiI1ZWUzMjdkYS01MWMwLTRhNWUtNDhlZC00NGIwYzY4MjZiNGIiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=mEHlDwPSg3xqqKEQsbpCszPdzQvAFaRRw4DKCBWCxRA.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cHM6Ly90d2l0dGVyLmNvbS9NRUNvbm5lY3Rpdml0eSIsInIiOiI1ZWUzMjdkYS01MWMwLTRhNWUtNDhlZC00NGIwYzY4MjZiNGIiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=b6rWaztdL0zZs88vDDGOehg9cU4R13L3NqdGeSR98AY.eyJ1IjoiaHR0cDovL3d3dy5tYWluZWNvbm5lY3Rpdml0eS5vcmcvIiwiciI6IjJlMzE5ZWIyLThiMGMtNGNjYy1lOTU3LTEzMzk3Nzg1NzA5YSIsIm0iOiJtYWlsX2xwIiwiYyI6IjdkNzk0OTA2LWJmODEtNDM4MC1iZDEzLTk4YzVkYjgyZWQ0YSJ9
https://www.maineconnectivity.org/so/44OQfRY0J/c?w=MDDSBv_5LB6GgN1e1FdzlW2LAVlazSfJE5NpsG9maPE.eyJ1IjoibWFpbHRvOmluZm9AbXlzaXRlLmNvbSIsInIiOiI3OGI3NDJiMi03NTcyLTQ2ZDktNmJkOS1jNDhiZDRkMGJmYmIiLCJtIjoibWFpbF9scCIsImMiOiI3ZDc5NDkwNi1iZjgxLTQzODAtYmQxMy05OGM1ZGI4MmVkNGEifQ


 

 
 

 

 
 

MEMO 

 

 

 

To: Mayor and City Council Members 

From:   Dan Bagley, Airport Committee Chairman 

Date: March 3, 2023 

Re: Airport Committee Report 

 
 

 

The Caribou City Council Airport Committee met on 3 Mar 23, 8:00 am – 10:40 am in the City 
Manager’s office.  In attendance were Councilors Dan Bagley, Chairman; Joan Theriault, and John 
Morrill.  Also in attendance were Penny Thompson, City Manager and Dave Ouellette, Public 
Works Director. 
 
The Chairman called the meeting to order at approximately 8:20 am. 
 
The Committee approved by unanimous consent the proposed agenda (attached), which was 
distributed to members prior to the meeting. 
 
The committee discussed goals and objectives of the Committee and the City as a whole, 
identified major issues and problems that need to be addressed in 2023, and discussed what the 
City’s role and level of involvement should be to increase aviation use at the airport and support 
economic development initiatives related to, or that could be supported by, the airport. 
 
Among the most pressing problems identified by Mr. Ouellette were the need to replace the 
current snow removal equipment (snow blower and loader), which has nearly reached the end of 
its service life, and to replace the current underground fuel tanks with above-ground, dual tanks 
that would dispense both 100LL and Jet A aviation fuel.  The apron reconstruction project that is 
scheduled in 2024 involves the excavation and removal of the current underground tank.  The 
City is responsible for either re-installing the underground tank, or replacing the capability with 
an above-ground tank.  Since the certification of the current underground tank expires in 2030, 
the Committee agreed that a new, above-ground, dual tank is the best option.  Cost for purchase 
and installation of this tank has been estimated at $150,000.  The Committee agreed to submit a 
recommendation to the Capital Committee for $75,000 in 2023 and $75,000 in 2024 to cover 
this expense.  Additionally, the estimated cost to replace the current snow blower and loader, 
assuming a 10% cost share (with the FAA/DoT covering 90%), is $50,000.  The Committee agreed 
to submit a recommendation to the Capital Committee for $50,000 in 2024 to cover this 
expense. 
 
The Committee then reviewed the proposed 2023 Expense Budget.  There was discussion about 
moving the Aviation Fuel expense line from the Airport budget to the General budget.  The 
Committee requested that the City Manager consult with the Finance Manager to consider and 
decide whether to make this change.  In addition, the Committee agreed that the proposed 2023 
Airport Expense Budget should be amended to reflect a change in the authorized stipend for 

86



 

 
 

the Public Works Director from $100/week to $150/week. 
 
The Committee discussed ideas for the redevelopment of the trailer park, which is located on 
city-owned airport property.  The Committee agreed that the proposal to establish a community 
garden in a small portion of the trailer park area (approved by City Council on 28 Nov 2022) 
should raise no objection from the FAA, as no buildings are planned to be erected (except for 
small storage sheds and/or gazebos and sitting areas), no permanent concentration of people 
would result from this development, and for the small proportion of area proposed for this non-
aviation purpose, the overall impact to aviation operations would be negligible.   
 
The Committee also considered and discussed the idea to build a grouping of short-term rental 
cabins in the trailer park area to serve ATV and snow mobile owners.  Airport Committee 
members identified several challenges related to this idea, including the concern that it would be 
an uphill battle to obtain FAA and DoT concurrence/approval for this non-aviation purpose.  
Additionally, there were concerns about excessive noise in close proximity to the nearby 
compact residential areas, and possible incursions into the runway area by snowmobile and ATV 
operators.  Finally, because our current ATV/Snowmobile trail system does not run past the 
airport in the vicinity of the trailer park, provisions would need to be put in place for an 
acceptable on-road or off-road path(s) to the cabins.  Given the aggregate challenges stated 
above, the Committee agreed that the proposed location at the airport would not be a good fit, 
and a different location for the short-term rental cabin concept should be pursued – specifically, 
in a less compact (i.e. rural) area and preferably near an existing segment of our trail system.  
This is the same conclusion reached by the Airport Advisory Committee, which met and 
discussed this topic on 25 Jan 23. 
 
The Committee then reviewed a summary of the current hangar leases and revenue generated 
from those rentals.  One Lessee had not yet provided a certification of insurance, which is 
required in the lease.  The City Manager accepted an action item to contact the Lessee and 
obtain the required certificate of insurance. 
 
The Committee received a report from Mr. Ouellette on the status of deficiencies identified in a 
2021 airport inspection by Aviation Technologies, LLC.  Mr. Ouellette reported that all items have 
either 1) been completed; 2) are in progress; or 3) beyond the reach and scope of the City’s 
ability to address and have been exempted by the FAA.  The Committee agreed that the City 
Manager and the Public Works Department are doing an excellent job maintaining the airport 
infrastructure and keeping our airport up and running. 
 
The Committee reviewed elements of the 2015 Airport Master Plan.  As this plan is nearly 10 
years old, the Committee felt that it was time to consider making an update to the plan.  Three 
major items in the Master Plan are yet to be accomplished:  1) apron reconstruction (funded and 
scheduled to be accomplished in 2024); 2) expand hangar capacity (preferably heated units); and 
3) construct a parallel taxiway and apron extension to improve efficiency of aviation traffic into 

87



 

 
 

and out of the airport.  The Committee agreed to begin this year the process of programming 
and securing funding for the latter two initiatives. 
 
Finally, the Committee reviewed the minutes of the 24 Jan 2023 Airport Advisory Committee 
meeting (attached).  The meeting minutes contain several exciting ideas for expansion of aviation 
use and economic development.  The Council Committee is committed to working with the 
Advisory Committee to incorporate these ideas into the City’s planning for 2023 and beyond. 
 
Having no other business to conduct, the Chairman adjourned the meeting at 10:40 am. 
 
The next meeting of the Airport Committee will be scheduled at a later time. 
 
/signed/ 
 
Dan Bagley, Chairman 
Caribou City Council Airport Committee 
  

88



 

 
 

Caribou City Council Airport Committee 
Meeting Agenda 

 
3 March 2023, 8:00 am 

Caribou City Council Chambers 
 

I. Call to Order 
II. Approval of Agenda 
III. Goals and Objectives of Airport Committee and City of Caribou 

A. Problems we need to solve 
B. Role the City should play in preserving and/or expanding aviation use and 

commercial development 
C. Other? 

IV. Budget Review 
V. Ongoing and future revenue sources 

A. Hangar Rentals (inc. leased land for private hangar) 
B. NWS Lease 
C. Fuel sales 
D. Landing/tie-down fees 
E. FAA and other grant funding 
F. Other? 

VI. Redevelopment ideas for trailer park 
A. Community Garden (Council approved 28 Nov 22) 
B. Short-term rental cabins (concept presented to Council/PB) 
C. Other? 

VII. Progress against 2021 Inspection Report 
VIII. Progress against 2015 Master Plan 

A. Apron reconstruction  
B. Additional hangar slots 
C. Parallel taxiway 
D. Schedule to update Master Plan 

IX. Outbrief from Airport Advisory Committee meeting 25 Jan 23 
X. Next Steps 
XI. Adjourn 

 
 

89



  
 

 Location: Caribou Airport 

 Date: 01.25.23 

 Time: 6:00pm 
 

Caribou Airport Committee 

Meeting Minutes 
Agenda items 

I. In attendance: Andrea Flannery, Dan Bagley, Doug Shrum, John Karod, John Gibson and Penny 

Thompson. 

II. Appointment of officers: Chairman; John Karod, Vice Chairman; John Gibson, Secretary; Andrea 

Flannery.  

III. Committee had discussion around land use from the trailer park. Discussed Helipad and how this can 

benefit the community with life flight and economic development. Discussed more hangers as this 

would allow for a steady income stream for Caribou. Discussed Game Wardens recently built their 

own hanger in Fort Kent for free as long as the mow the runway, discussed possible partnership for 

more hangers with other individuals. Mogas’ and Jet A fuel how this will also provide airport to be 

more versatile for flyers.  

IV. Discussed committee’s views on possible short-term rentals and the impact on the airport, discussed 

selling land would not allow for a steady income as hangers would, or other ideas discussed.  

V. Improvements and ideas; non ethanol gas.  R-Nav and GPS approach, college level credited classes, 

STEM drone certifications, Flying club, EAA young eagles club, helicopter contracts. Lease options for 

new hangers, “beater car” or speaking to local business for when pilots fly in for food to ensure they 

have ride. Volunteers and retired individuals to greet people at the airport. Vending machine, book of 

what is around Caribou.  Sweep runway earlier, have a mechanic around or local mechanic contact 

information for pilots not familiar with the ones we have in the area.  

VI. Attention to Airport: having schools tour our airport. Facebook page to engage community and the 

boarding community of Pilots to draw more traffic to airport. Example placing advertisements in the 

New England Magazines and local pilot papers for when we have fly ins and other activities, this will 

allow more people from away to see Caribou and possibly encourage them to come or invest within 

Caribou, boost economic development in Caribou. STEM and Drone Certifications. Fly ins, allowing a 

“touch a truck event” for planes, food vendors for breakfast fly ins etc. Foliage rides etc. 

VII. Sweden Street: having shuttles from airport to Sweden Street events.  

VIII. Next meeting is scheduled for 02.28.23 at 6pm, Caribou Airport. 

90



  
 

 Location: Caribou Airport 

 Date: 01.25.23 

 Time: 6:00pm 
 

Caribou Airport Committee 

Action Items  Deadline Status 

Breakfast 
Event 

 May Input and further discussion in February 

Fly Ins/ EAA 
Club- Fly 
people 

 June  

Maine Potato 
Blossom 
Festival 

 July  

Touch a Plane 

School Visits 

 August 

September 

 

Fall Foliage  October  

 

91



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  March 13, 2023 
RE:  Nylander Museum discussion 
 
 

 
Prior to the acceptance of the 2023 Municipal Budget, members of the Caribou City Council asked about 
discussing reestablishing a volunteer working board for the Nylander Museum. I went back to the Chapter 15 
ordinance that was in place prior to the repeal in December 2021 and also Ordinance 22, 2021 series which was 
offered as an alternative to disbanding the Nylander Museum Board of Trustees. 
 
I have a draft on the following pages to start the discussion.  
 
The last paragraph in exhibit A is what is currently in the ordinance, so I used the strike through to remove 
language and underline for new language. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Please review and provide input. 
 
 
 
 
 

92



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
This is the current Chapter 15 for the 

Nylander Museum. 
 

93



 
 
 

 
Chapter 15 Nylander Museum 

 
ARTICLE I GENERALLY 

 
 
15-101   Nylander Museum, Department Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

969 

94



 
 
 

Chapter 15 Nylander Museum 
 

ARTICLE I  GENERALLY 
 
 
Sec. 15-101 Nylander Museum, Department Structure 
 
The Nylander Museum shall be regarded as a special collection of the Caribou Public Library. 
The Library Director of the Caribou Public Library shall be responsible for the budget and staff 
resources that will support the mission of the Nylander Museum. In doing so, the Library 
Director shall make regular updates to the Caribou City Council and the City Manager. 
 
     
Historical Note:  Chapter 15 was repealed and replaced by City Council on December 13, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

971 

95



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
This is a draft ordinance to start a 

discussion on the Nylander Museum. 
 

96



 

ORDINANCE No. 2, 2023 Series 
 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
An Ordinance To Amend Chapter 15 – Nylander Museum  
Short Title: An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 15 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted Chapter 15, Nylander Museum as part of its 
ordinances and regulations, which outlines the organization and duties of the Nylander Museum 
Board of Trustees; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council is required by the City Charter Section 2.11 (1) to adopt 
by ordinance to “adopt or amend an administrative code or establish, alter, or abolish any City 
department, office or agency; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Nylander Museum is a City department, currently regarded as a special collection 
of the Caribou Public Library, located in a building owned by the City of Caribou; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Nylander Museum, contains a collection of artifacts owned by the City of 
Caribou; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Nylander Museum is a City department, currently under the supervision of the 
Caribou Public Library and its Library Director, with no regular full-time or regular part-time 
employees employed by the City of Caribou; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Nylander Museum is a City department, that would benefit from a volunteer 
working advisory board organized under Chapter 15 of the City of Caribou ordinances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Nylander Museum is a City department and the City Council of the City of 
Caribou desires to alter the organization of the Nylander Museum by reestablishing a volunteer 
working advisory board; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11(1), does ordain 
the following: 
 
Section I. Chapter 15 Revisions 
Chapter 15 and its related exhibits are hereby amended as indicated in the attached Exhibit A.  
 

97



 

Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on ____________________ and a public hearing being held on 
_________________ was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 
_____day of __________________ 2023. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days 
after adoption by the Council.  

 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor    Courtney Boma, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Dan Bagley, Councilor    R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
John Morrill, Councilor   Joan Theriault, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
Lou Willey, Councilor  
        Attest:______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

 

98



 

Exhibit A 

 

Chapter 15 Nylander Museum 

ARTICLE I GENERALLY Sec. 15-101 Board of Trustees Established; Appointment; Term; Purpose 

Whereas, it is desirable and necessary that all of the collections sold by the late Olof Nylander to the City 
of Caribou and all other collections donated by others and kept in the Nylander Museum be properly cared 
for, preserved, added to, and maintained for the use of the public, and for the public good, and for the 
maintenance, upkeep, and repair of the Nylander Museum, for which said collections are maintained. 

Whereas, it is desirable that there be established a board of trustees of the Nylander Museum to advise 
on its affairs, composed of five (5) voting members who shall be appointed by the Caribou City Council 
within thirty (30) days after the acceptance of this ordinance by the Caribou City Council, as hereinafter 
provided, but none of such members of the Caribou City Council shall be eligible for such office of trustees, 
and whenever any of said trustees becomes a member of said Caribou City Council, he/she shall 
automatically cease to be such trustee. The Caribou City Council shall appoint a member of the City Council 
or the City Manager to serve as a non-voting member, ex-officio, in addition to the five (5) voting trustees, 
who shall serve at the Caribou City Council’s pleasure. Initially, the Caribou City Council shall appoint 
trustees of the Board in the following manner: One (1) trustee for a period of one year; two (2) trustees 
for a period of two (2) years; two (2) trustees for a period of three (3) years. The respective terms of the 
trustees shall expire with the end of the municipal year, and whenever a trustee’s term shall terminate 
for any reason before his term shall have expired, the City Council shall appoint a new trustee to finish 
the unexpired term. At the expiration of the initial terms, trustees will serve a three-year term. 

As soon as convenient after the members of said board have been appointed, said trustees shall hold a 
meeting in the City of Caribou, and organize by the election of a President, Treasurer, Clerk, and, when 
necessary, all other needful officers and agents. 

Whenever a vacancy occurs in the office of President, Treasurer, or Clerk, it shall be promptly filled by said 
Board of Trustees.  

The Board of Trustees shall ordain and establish such by-laws as are necessary for their own convenience. 
All by-laws must be approved by affirmative vote of the Caribou City Council. Members of the Board shall 
be eligible to any office under the Board and shall be sworn into office the City Clerk of the City of Caribou. 

The Nylander Museum shall be regarded as a special collection of the Caribou Public Library. The Library 
Director of the Caribou Public Library shall be responsible for the budget and staff resources advise the 
trustees on matters that will support the mission of the Nylander Museum. In doing so, The President of 
the Board of Trustees or the Library Director shall make regular updates to the Caribou City Council, the 
Nylander Board of Trustees, and the City Manager. 

 

99



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  March 13, 2023 
RE:  2023 Municipal Expense Budget Discussion  
 
 

 
Tonight was the public hearing on the 2023 Municipal Expense Budget.  
 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Please provide feedback. 
 
 

100



Feb-23

WAITING LIST STATISTICS

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Applicants in Jurisdiction 35 0 35

VAWA Preference 1 0 1

Veteran's Preference 2 0 2

Natural Disaster 0 0 0

 Living in Caribou 19 0 19

 Mainstream 16 0 16

HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER PROGRAM

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

HUD Allocated Vouchers 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 2352

Total Vouchers Leased 174 173 347

Port Out Vouchers 1                   1                  2

Homeownership Vouchers 1                   1                  2

All Other Housing Choice Vouchers 172 171 343

YTD Openings 22 23 45

Applicants Pulled From Waiting List 0 26 26

Vouchers Issued 0 11 11

Vouchers Expired 1 2 3

Vouchers on Street 6 12 18

Total HAP Expense 81,027$        84,430$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       165,457$        

All Other Voucher 73,818$        74,406$       148,224$        

Port Out Payments -$                  -$                 -$                    

Homeownership HAP 284$             284$            568$               

FSS Escrow, Particiants Account 6,925$          9,740$         16,665$          

Ave. Per Unit Cost 466$             488$            477$               

Lease Up Rates Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

HUD Allocated -vs- Leased 89% 88% 89%

HUD Funded -vs- HAP Expense 93% 97% 95%

MAINSTREAM VOUCHERS

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Allocated Vouchers 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 480

Total Vouchers Leased 32             32           64

Total HAP Expense 14,685$        15,588$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       30,273$          

HAP Expense 14,014$        15,213$       29,227$          

FSS Escrow, Participants Account 671$             375$            1,046$            

YTD Openings 8 8 16

Appllicants Pulled from Waiting List 0 13 13

Vouchers Issued 0 2 2

Voucher Expired 1 0 1

Vouchers on Street 0 2 2

PORT IN / FOSTER YOUTH TO INDEPENDENCE

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Vouchers Leased 0 0

FYI HAP -$                  -$                 -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$                    

LANDLORD PARTICIPATION INCENTIVE PROGRAM

CARIBOU HOUSING AUTHORITY

 - HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER - 

 - MAINSTREAM PROGRAM - 

 - FOSTER YOUTH PROGRAM - 

- EMERGENCY HOUSING VOUCHER PROGRAM- 

 FAMILY SELF-SUFFICIENCY PROGRAM

101



EMERGENCY HOUSING VOUCHERS 

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Allocated Vouchers 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 180

Total Vouchers Leased 13                     12                    25

Total HAP Expense 7,480$              6,237$             13,717$              

YTD Openings 2 3 5

Vouchers Issued 1 0 1

Voucher Expired 0 0 0

Vouchers on Street 0 0 0

HOUSING QUALITY STANDARDS INSPECTIONS

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Initial Inspection 6 3 9

Annual Inspection 0 0 0

Tenant/Landlord Requested 1 0 1

No Show 0

Reinpsection(s) 0 0 0

0

Other, Public Housing Authority Inspections 0 0 0

Toal Inspections 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

SPECIALITY PROGRAM - FAMILY SELF-SUFFICIENCY

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Number of Participants 8,387$          10,906$       19,293$          

Number Earning Escrow 59 59 118

FSS Escrow, Particiants Account 0

FSS Famlies, Disbursement 0 2 2

FSS Disbursement Amount -$              928.00$       928$               

FSS Graduate, Families 4 0 4

FSS Graudate, Escrow 18,503$        -$                 18,503$          

FSS Forfeiture, Families 0 0 -$                    

FSS Forfeiture, Escrow -$                  -$                 -$                    

LANDLORD INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec YTD

Signing Bonus 4,500$          4,500$         -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       9,000$            

Housing Choice Voucher 3 6 9$                   

2,250$          4,500$         6,750$            

Mainstream 3 0 3

2,250$          -$                 2,250$            

Emergency Housing Voucher 0 0 0

-$                  -$                 

Security Deposit 1,922$          1,800$         -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       3,722$            

Housing Choice Voucher 1 1 2

1,172.00$     675.00$       1,847.00$       

Mainstream 1 1 2

750.00$        1,125.00$    1,875.00$       

Emergency Housing Voucher 0 0 0

-$                  -$                 -$                    

Repair Grants -$                  -$                 -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$                    

Housing Choice Voucher 0 0 0

-$                  -$                 -$                    

Mainstream 0 0 0

-$                  -$                 -$                    

Damage Reimbursements -$                  -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$                    

Housing Choice Voucher 0 0 0

-$                  -$                 -$                    

Mainstream 0 0 0

-$                  -$                 144$               

HQS Common Deficiencies:  Inoperable GFCI outlets, missing/inoperable smoke detectors, cracked windows, cluttered/dirty units.

102



Grand Total of Incentives 6,422$          6,300$         -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       12,722$          

128,117$      113,483$     -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       -$       241,600$        

128,117$      241,600$     

12.0% 3.5% 7.7%

112,788$      109,495$     #### #### #### #### #### #### #### #### #### ####
YEAR TO DATE 112,788$      222,283$     #### #### #### #### #### #### #### #### #### ####

GRAND TOTAL OF ASSISTANCE INTO LOCAL 

2023 YEAR TO DATE

Percentage Increase, 2023-vs- 2022

2022 MONTHLY ASSITSTANCE

103



Caribou Public Library 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
 
To:  Mayor and City Councilors  
  Penny Thompson, City Manager 
From: Peter Baldwin, Library Director 
February 2023 Report 
       
  February is the month of love, and there certainly were a lot of book lovers in this 
month! To accentuate this, Alyssa created a “Blind Date with a Book” display. The books 
were wrapped up to keep them a mystery, and patrons chose books based solely on a 
brief description she wrote. These books were so popular they basically walked away! 

 The Children’s Room saw quite a bit of action this month as kids joined in for the 
usual programing and the installation of a brand new Book Club! Yes, the Elementary 
School Book Club was founded this month with 13 in attendance. This is a huge turn out 
for our younger programs, and they all are such avid readers. The kids met this month to 
discuss their book “I Survived: The Attack of the Grizzlies” and to vote on their next few 
books. Its always exciting to see such interest in books by the future generations. 

 The Middle and High School Book Club also met this month, twice! On the 1st 
they had their “Movie Night”, a showing of “The Boy in the Striped Pyjamas” which was 
their January read. Then they met again on the 22nd to discuss their latest book “The 
Ogress and the Orphan”, and to pick up their March book, entitled “Down to Earth”. This 
program has long been a favorite and we love to see the kids each month connecting and 
conversing. It’s even nice to hear them say “I don’t think I will like this book”, and watch 
them be surprised at how much they enjoy it! 

 In exciting news, the library held a Book Bag Sale on the 23rd, 24th, and 25th. We 
often get donations and remove books from the collection that could use new homes (and 
new readers!). This Book Bag Sale was able to get untold amount of books to new 
homes, carried off in over 130 bags. As this was a fundraiser, we raised $412 for the 
library and sold out of our “Caribou Public Library Swag Bags”. We will be reordering 

104



soon! Our collection of donated and withdrawn books has been greatly downsized, but 
we still have enough for another book sale later in the year.  

 The ongoing Microfilm Digitization Project reached its next phase this month. All 
of our Microfilm as well as 1,800 additional pages of the Aroostook Republican have 
been officially shipped off to Advantage Preservation. Within 2 months we should have 
1887-1984 fully digitized and available for public use. 

 The various rooms of the library have seen a lot of use this month by outside 
groups and programs. The Aroostook Council for Healthy Living, Cary Medical Center 
Cancer Support Group, Augmentative Language Learners Group, Northern Maine 
Writers Group, Aroostook County Genealogical Society, Great Decisions, the Aroostook 
Retired Educators Assc., and a study group all met at the library this month.  

 Lastly, the library played host this month for a Job Shadow through Jobs for 
Maine Graduates(JMG). Caitlyn is a well read young woman with aspiration of working 
in publishing. Throughout her time here, she worked with various employees to learn 
about what we do and how we do it. She took to the job well and was very quick to pick 
up on how the library operates. By the end of her time here, she had begun to even 
identify areas she could assist with and took them up without hesitation. We at the library 
look forward to her professional progress and know she will achieve great things. 

That’s all for us at the Library, tune in next month for more Library fun! 

 

Peter Baldwin 

105



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

106



 

**As of 2020 the Maine State Library is now requiring that public libraries track renewals as part of their statistics. STEAM Kits made available in 
November 2021 ** 

 

 

107



Monthly Permit Report

February 2023

CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR PRIOR YEAR

MONTH TO DATE MONTH TO DATE

BUILDING PERMITS 6 7 1 1

HOMES 0 0 0 0

MOBILE HOMES 0 0 0 0

MULTI-FAMILY 0 0 0 0

COMMERCIAL 4 4 1 1

EXEMPT 2 2 0 0

PLUMBING PERMITS

INTERNAL 2 2 1 2

EXTERNAL 0 0 0 0

DEMO PERMITS 1 1 0 0

SIGN PERMITS 1 1 0 1

Year-to-Date is January 2023 to December 2023

108



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$�

%������&�$

'����
��()�	���%*�()�	�
�
''��$
%%��+)����%��,


-	%����%
������.)�/%�0
��
��	
�
��1�%
�2�(�''��2

	3
�4�)�&�%��0�3
���
��
�5
�'�4�	��
�)��

����6�
%
��7��%����2	3
�
8�	%'�%������(��'��'�%%��,

�	��������95��(:;*�����9

&
%�4�''�&)
���(2;*�()


'
���
��	
���(�;*�$�
�'��$��
%���95��<9�

�	�
����*�$
%%��=	�3���
���<9�2�%�&
�*�()	��<�

'�
���8<9��%��$
&�2�>
�

���

� =
'���
����������������&�$'
����
��()�	���%��������

����	�
�����/
'���
��(
)	��<�'�
��8<9��

>4:5�>�+;$6(�
6..?:��6.(?..:��@�(;5

(0?.6;5�
$0>5�;��>(+6;5�

$:9.;5� 9:.$;5.6�0:�
9:4?0>9�2::+654�

�
�

�
A��(�''����;��
��

BCDE�FGCDHIJK�LMNOHPN
QK�RNGGJI�SMJ�TJEDGNH�U

JJSOQE�CV�SMJ�WCNHI�CV
�BOHJRSCHX�SC�CHIJH�NS�

NYYHCZOPNSJG[�\]̂_�ỲP̀�
NQI�aJGRCPJI�bDcJ�B[JH

�NX�N�QJa�WCNHI�PJPdJH̀
�

eQVCHPNSOCQNG̀�
�

���9
-	
/��%��>����-�
'� ���2	%��
�

fMJ�POQDSJX�CV�gNQDNH[�h
iK�j_ĵ�aJHJ�HJkOJaJÌ��

�
� � � �

lYCQ�PCSOCQ�IDG[�PNIJ� NQI�XJRCQIJIK�OS�aNX�XC� mnfoB�SC�NYYHCkJ�SMJ� gNQDNH[�hiK�j_ĵ�PJJSOQ
E�

POQDSJX�NX�YHJXJQSJÌ���
�

������9
��������()	
�����.�
����BH̀�LNHG�pG[QQ�YHCk

OIJI�SMJ�VCGGCaOQE�DYINS
JX�VHCP�SMJ�gNQDNH[�j\SM

�UqoL�UJJSOQÈ��rJ�QCSJ
I�SMNS�

BH̀�BsDNQIN�aNX�SMJ�WCN
HI�TJYHJXJQSNSOkJ�NS�SMJ�

PJJSOQE]�
� $)�	�	�%�(��	��'�:t�	��


%��u�fMJ�QJa�JQICXRCY
[�JvDOYPJQS�MNX�dJJQ�YD

HRMNXJÌ��nQRJ�HJRJOkJI�
SMJ�JvDOYPJQS�aOGG�dJ�OQ

XSNGGJI�NQI�SMJ�CGI�JvDOY
PJQS�aOGG�dJ�IOXNXXJPdGJ

I�NQI�HJPCkJI�VHCP�SMJ
�

nT̀� � >���	%��
%��(����
��
2
�	��'�.�����w�+��	t�

.)	)�����	%��2��x:�

�&
%���2
�	�	%
y*�fMJ�

RCPYGJSJ�NYYCOQSPJQS�N
YYGORNSOCQ�NQI�YHCkOIJH�

YHCVOGJ�CV�fNHOv�qMOMNdD
IIOQK�UB�aNX�HJkOJaJI

�
aOSM�QC�IOXRHJYNQROJX̀�fM

J�HJYCHS�z{|}�~�����~�|�
����{��~�~�|��{�����~�����

���|�~�������|�{��|{~����
lYCQ�PCSOCQ�PNIJ�NQ

I�XJRCQIJI�OS�aNX�XC
�mnfoB�SC�HJRCPPJQ

I�NYYHCkOQE�YHCkOXOCQN
G�

NYYCOQSPJQS�fNHOv�qMOMN
dDIIOQK�UB�SC�SMJ�LCD

HSJX[�UJIORNG�qSNVV�aOSM
�YHOkOGJEJX�NX�HJvDJXSJI

�
SMHCDEM�gDQJ�̂_K�j_j�̀��

BH̀�rNHHOENQ�aNX�NYYCOQS
JI�NX�YHCRSCH�IDHOQE�SMJ

�YHCkOXOCQNG�NYYCOQSPJQS̀
�

fMOX�HJRCPPJQINSOCQ�aN
X�VCHaNHIJI�SC�SMJ�WCNHI

�CV�BOHJRSCHX�VCH�NRSOCQ̀�
� >���	%��
%��(�%�'�	%&�2


�	��'�.�����w���%	
'�4�
�
%�
	%��2��x$
�	���	

��(���	�'�&�y*�fMJ�
RCPYGJSJ�NYYCOQSPJQS�N

YYGORNSOCQ�NQI�YHCkOIJH�
YHCVOGJ�CV�BNQOJG��HDJQX

SJOQK�UB�aNX�HJkOJaJI�
��~���|�����{������������

��{��|{~�z{|}�~�����~�|�
����{��~�~�|��{�����~�����

���|�~�������|�{��|{~����
lYCQ�PCSOCQ�PNIJ�NQ

I�XJRCQIJI�OS�aNX�XC
�mnfoB�SC�HJRCPPJQ

I�NYYHCkOQE�YHCkOXOCQN
G�

NYYCOQSPJQS�BNQOJG��HD
JQXSJOQK�UB�SC�SMJ�LCQX

DGSOQE�UJIORNG�qSNVV�aOSM
�YHOkOGJEJX�NX�HJvDJXSJI�

SMHCDEM�gDQJ�̂_K�j_j�̀��B
H̀�qaNQdJHE�aNX�NYYCOQS

JI�NX�YHCRSCH�IDHOQE�SMJ�
YHCkOXOCQNG�NYYCOQSPJQS̀

�
fMOX�HJRCPPJQINSOCQ�aN

X�VCHaNHIJI�SC�SMJ�WCNHI
�CV�BOHJRSCHX�VCH�NRSOCQ̀�

lYCQ�PCSOCQ�IDG[�PNIJ� NQI�XJRCQIJIK�OS�aNX�XC� mnfoB�SC�NYYHCkJ�SMJ� TJYCHS�CV�LMOJV�CV�qSNVV�N
X�

YHJXJQSJÌ� � � lYCQ�PCSOCQ�IDG[�PNIJ� NQI�XJRCQIJIK�OS�aNX�XC� mnfoB�SC�NYYHCkJ�SMJ� NYYCOQSPJQS�CV�fNHOv� qMOMNdDIIOQK�UB�SC�SMJ� LCDHSJX[�UJIORNG�qSNVV̀� � � lYCQ�PCSOCQ�IDG[�PNIJ� NQI�XJRCQIJIK�OS�aNX�XC� mnfoB�SC�NYYHCkJ�SMJ� NYYCOQSPJQS�CV�BNQOJG� �HDJQXSJOQK�UB�SC�SMJ� LCQXDGSOQE�UJIORNG�qSNVV̀
�

�

� ��������������
109



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

$���	2��
2��$33	
��4
�
3�5�*���
	�2�3�-�����6�

7	�8��,�����'*�9���	3��
*����	�
:;�<=>�?@ABC>D>

�
EBB@FGDA>GD�EBBCF?EDF@G

�EGH�BI@JFH>I�BI@KFC>�@K�L
F?MN�ONIP�QRS�TEU�I>JF>T

>H�TFD=�G@�HFU?I>BEG?F>U
V�

WXY�ZY[\Z]�̂Z\_�]XY�̀a]b
\cad�eZaf]b]b\cYZgh�ia]a�j

EGM�?@GDEFG>H�G@�I>B@IDU
V�kB@G�A@DF@G�AEH>�EGH

�
U>?@GH>H�FD�TEU�U@�Ll<m

n�D@�I>?@AA>GH�EBBI@J
FGo�BI@JFUF@GEC�EBB@FGDA

>GD�@K�LF?MN�ONIP�QRS�D@�
D=>�pCCF>H�q>ECD=�SI@K>U

UF@GEC�rDEKK�TFD=�BIFJFC>o
>U�EU�I>st>UD>H�D=I@to=

�utG>�vwP�xwxy�TFD=�nIV
�

qEIIFoEG�EU�BI@?D@I�EG
H�UtB>IJFUFGo�B=NUF?FEG

V�<=>�A@DF@G�TEU�U>?
@GH>H�EGH�U@�Ll<mn�

tGEGFA@tUCNV�<=FU�I>?@A
A>GHEDF@G�TEU�K@ITEIH>

H�D@�D=>�j@EIH�@K�nFI>?D@
IU�K@I�E?DF@GV�

� $���	2��
2��$��	z
�{

�	��3�-�����6�,�������4

	2
��{��9&�
�|
2���{

�	�	2
:;�<=>�?@ABC>D>�

EBB@FGDA>GD�EBBCF?EDF@G
�EGH�BI@JFH>I�BI@KFC>�@

K�O@AK@ID�qFG>UP�}n�
TEU�I>JF>T>H�TFD=�G@�

HFU?I>BEG?F>UV�r=>�HFH�I>
B@ID�D=I>>�AECBIE?DF?>�?

CEFAUP�@G>�?C@U>H�TFD=@t
D�BENA>GDP�EGH�DT@�TFD=

�
BI>~]Zbad�hY]]dY_Yc]h��WX

Y�ZY[\Z]�̂Z\_�]XY�̀a]b\
cad�eZaf]b]b\cYZgh�ia]a��

ac��f\c]abcY��D=>�DT@�
A>HF?EC�AECBIE?DF?>�U>D

DC>A>GD�BENA>GDU�T=F?
=�T>I>�I>B@ID>H�@G�D=>

�EBBCF?EDF@GV�<=>�?CEFAU
�

T=>I>�I>JF>T>H��N�D=>
�O=F>K�@K�mA>Io>G?N�}

>HF?FG>�TFD=�G@�I>U>IJ
EDF@GU�D@�BI>U>GD�EGH�

I>?@AA>GH�EBBI@JEC�@
K�EBB@FGDA>GDV�kB@G�A@DF@G

�AEH>�EGH�U>?@GH>H�FD
�TEU�U@�Ll<mn�D@�

I>?@AA>GH�EBBI@JFGo�B
I@JFUF@GEC�EBB@FGDA>GD�@

K�O@AK@ID�qFG>UP�}n�D@�
D=>�p?DFJ>�}>HF?EC�rDEKK

�
TFD=�BIFJFC>o>U�EU�I>st>U

D>H�D=I@to=�utG>�vwP�xwx
yV��nIV�qEIIFoEG�TEU�EBB

@FGD>H�EU�BI@?D@I�HtIFGo
�

D=>�BI@JFUF@GEC�EBB@FGDA
>GDV�<=FU�I>?@AA>GHEDF

@G�TEU�K@ITEIH>H�D@�D=
>�j@EIH�@K�nFI>?D@IU�K@I

�
E?DF@GV� � $���	2��
2��,����
��{


�	��3�-��������
���
��4

�����{��9&�
�|
2���{


�	�	2
:;�<=>�?@ABC>D>�
EBB@FGDA>GD�EBBCF?EDF@G

�EGH�BI@JFH>I�BI@KFC>�
@K�u>KKI>N�q>I�UDP�}n�

TEU�I>JF>T>H�TFD=�G@
�

HFU?I>BEG?F>UV�q>�HFH�I>
B@ID�@G>�AECBIE?DF?>�?CE

FAP�J>IHF?D�K@I�H>K>GHEG
DV��<=>�I>B@ID�KI@A�D=>

�
à]b\cad�eZaf]b]b\cYZgh�ia

]a��ac��f\c]abcY��c\�ZY
[\Z]h��<=>�?CEFA�TEU�I>

JF>T>H��N�D=>�O=F>K�@K�
mA>Io>G?N�}>HF?FG>�TF

D=�G@�I>U>IJEDF@GU�D@�BI
>U>GD�EGH�I>?@AA>GH�E

BBI@JEC�@K�EBB@FGDA>GD
V�

kB@G�A@DF@G�AEH>�EG
H�U>?@GH>H�FD�TEU�U@

�Ll<mn�D@�I>?@AA>G
H�EBBI@JFGo�BI@JFUF@GE

C�
EBB@FGDA>GD�u>KKI>N�q>I

�UDP�}n�D@�D=>�O@tID>UN�
}>HF?EC�rDEKK�TFD=�BIFJFC>

o>U�EU�I>st>UD>H�D=I@to=
�

utG>�vwP�xwxyV��nIV�qEI
IFoEG�TEU�EBB@FGD>H�EU�

BI@?D@I�HtIFGo�D=>�BI@J
FUF@GEC�EBB@FGDA>GDV�<=

FU�
I>?@AA>GHEDF@G�TEU�K@I

TEIH>H�D@�D=>�j@EIH�@K�n
FI>?D@IU�K@I�E?DF@GV�

� �
�����
2�����&�
�|
2
���{
�	�	2
���<=>�H>BEI

DA>GD�FU�I>JF>TFGo�E�G>T
�FGHF?ED@I�D@�I>BCE?>�D=>�

?tII>GD�@BFED>�FGHF?ED@IV
��lJ>IGFo=D�I>oFUDIEDF@G�

FUUt>U�TFD=�>�BI>U?IF�FGo
�A>IoFGo�@K�BI@KFC>U�EI>

�
�>FGo�EHHI>UU>HV� � �
�����
2�����{
�	�	2


���<=>�stECFDN�FGHF?ED@IU
�T>I>�I>JF>T>HV�nFU?tUUF

@GU�EI>�@Go@FGo�TFD=�nI
V�

�>>�pGG�jEoo@DD�I>oEIHFG
��XYZ�bc]YZYh]�bc�ZYa�bc��e

�Wgh�EGH�StCA@GEIN�}>H
F?FG>V���

kB@G�A@DF@G�HtCN�AEH>� EGH�U>?@GH>HP�FD�TEU�U@� Ll<mn�D@�EBBI@J>�D=>� EBB@FGDA>GD�@K�LF?MN�ONI
P�

QRS�D@�D=>�pCCF>H�q>ECD=� SI@K>UUF@GEC�rDEKKV� � � kB@G�A@DF@G�HtCN�AEH>� EGH�U>?@GH>HP�FD�TEU�U@� Ll<mn�D@�EBBI@J>�D=>� EBB@FGDA>GD�@K�O@AK@ID� qFG>UP�}n�D@�D=>�p?DFJ>� }>HF?EC�rDEKKV� � � � � � � kB@G�A@DF@G�HtCN�AEH>� EGH�U>?@GH>HP�FD�TEU�U@� Ll<mn�D@�EBBI@J>�D=>� EBB@FGDA>GD�@K�u>KKI>N� q>I�UDP�}n�D@�D=>� O@tID>UN�}>HF?EC�rDEKKV� �
��������������

110



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

�
�����
2�����1��	�3�4
�5*��6�3�4��7�89:�;:<=>

?@:A?�;BCDECC:;�?9:�A:F
�G8�CD=AA:>�BAC?=HH=?BIAJ�

� ,���3
�	�2����K
�	��3�1

�����7�L>J�MHNAA�C:A?�=

A�BAOI>@=H�@:@I�IA�P=A
E=>N�QR?9 �>:S=>;BAS�AIAT

DI@<HB=AD:�IO�DI@<H:?BI
A�IO�@:;BD=H�>:DI>;CJ��L

>J�MHNAA�H=?:>�9=A;T;:HBU:
>:;�H:??:>C�?I�BA;BUB;E=HC

�
FB?9�=�;:=;HBA:�IO�V:;A

:C;=N�=?�@B;ABS9?�?I�DI@
<H:?:�>:DI>;C�I>�AIATDI@

<HB=AD:�FIEH;�H:=;�?I�
@:;BD=H�C?=OO�CEC<:ACBIA

J��WA�E<;=?:�F=C�<>IUB;:
;�IA�?9:�C?=?EC�IO�>:DI>;

�DI@<H:?BIAJ��
X���Y��3	���K�2�4
�
2�

��
������,���	��

��*��	
2��� ������-��
���,���	��

��� ��������6������� � � ��

L>J�Z:S:A�[=HH=S9:>�>:<I
>?:;�?9:�OIHHIFBAS�O>I@�?

9:�P=AE=>N�\]�GI@@B??:
:�]::?BAŜ�

� )3����	2
�	2�3��
����
G=>N�]:;BD=H�G:A?:>�FBHH

�AI?�OI>@=HHN�CE_@B?�=�MI
DEC�̀?=A;=>;�WCC:CC@:A

?�
?I�?9:�PIBA?�GI@@BCCBIA

J��a?�BC�I<?BIA=H�?I�CE_@B
?J��aAOI>@=?BIA�FBHH�_:�C:

A?�?I�;:<=>?@:A?�H:=;:>
C�

>:S=>;BAS�>:UBC:;�=DD>:;
B?=?BIA�>:bEB>:@:A?CJ�

� .�	3	c��	�2��2��,�
�K�2
�4
�
2���
������
d	
e


��	2�3��
����89:>:�F=C�A
I?9BAS�A:F�?I�>:<I>?J�

� *��	
2��-��
���1
�����	2
�3��
����89:�f=?B:A?�̀=O:

?N�̀E>U:N�BAOI>@=?BIA�9=
C�_::A�CE_@B??:;J��89BC�

CE>U:N�BC�DI@<H:?:;�:U:
>N�g�N:=>CJ��aDIAC�FBHH�_:

�<E?�IA�BA;BUB;E=H�DI@<E
?:>C�OI>�C?=OO�?I�EC:J��89:

�
CE>U:N�BC�OI>�DHBABD=H�C?=OOJ

��89:�;:=;HBA:�?I�DI@<H:
?:�BC�M:_>E=>N�gh?9 J��

� YK�,���3	�2�
�+2�	����
���
d	
e
��e
�
���Z:9=

_i�jE?>B?BIA=H�̀:>UBD:Ci�k
AUB>IA@:A?�IO�G=>:�=A;�

lZJ� � .����
�7�f>:CB;:A?�mB;
:A�9=C�=AAIEAD:;�?9=?�

IA�]=N�QQ?9 �?9:�fE_HBD�
n:=H?9�k@:>S:ADN�:A;CJ

��
LBCDECCBIA�:ACE:;J��Glo

aL�>:C?>BD?BIAC�=?�G=>N�]
:;BD=H�G:A?:>�=>:�>:UB:F

:;�IA�=�>:SEH=>�_=CBCJ��
W;pEC?@:A?C�=>:�@=;:�=

C�A::;:;�=A;�;:<:A;:A?
�IA�GLG�>:DI@@:A;=?BI

AC�=A;�DI@@EAB?N�GloaL
�

C?=?ECJ� � �������6������q�L>J�[
=HH=S9:>�AI?:;�?9:>:�BC�

AI�A:F�BAOI>@=?BIA�?I�
>:<I>?�OI>�DHBABD=H�bE=HB?

N�
@:=CE>:CJ��89:�]:;BD=H�̀

?=OO�\E=HB?N�aA;BD=?I>C�=>
:�DI@<H:?:�?9>IES9�lD?

I_:>J��89:>:�9=U:�_::A�
?:D9ABD=H�SHB?D9:C�FB?9�;=

?=�BA<E?�?I�?9:�;=C9_I=>
;i�?9EC�BADI@<H:?:�;=?=�

OI>�;:<=>?@:A?=H�bE=HB?N
�

BA;BD=?I>CJ��89:�;:<=>?@:
A?=H�H:=;:>C�=>:�FI>rBAS�

IA�?9:�A:F�ghgs�BA;BD=?I
>CJ�

� ,����
��-��	����	�2�7
�t:CHB:�WA;:>CIA�>:<I>?:

;�ghgg�DEC?I@:>�C=?BCO=
D?BIA�9=C�_::A�?IES9�?I

�
B@<>IU:i�B?�F=C�=�>IES9

�N:=>�;E:�?I�GloaLJ��nI
C<B?=H�GI@<=>:�̀?=>�Z=?B

AS�OI>�G=>N�BC�u�C?=>C�OI
>�

DEC?I@:>�C:>UBD:�=A;�v�C
?=>C�IU:>=HHi�?9:�9BS9:C?�

BA�?9:�GIEA?NJ��ghgs�BC�=
�A:F�N:=>�FB?9�9I<:C�?I

�
B@<>IU:�DEC?I@:>�C=?BCO=

D?BIA�CDI>:CJ���
�

w<IA�@I?BIA�;EHN�@=;:� =A;�C:DIA;:;i�B?�F=C�CI� ol8kL�?I�=<<>IU:�?9:� \E=HB?N�]=A=S:@:A?� GI@@B??::�>:<I>?�=C� <>:C:A?:;J� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� xyz{�||�}~����

111



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

����1
��������,2�	���3��� ���������������	�
�����4�� ��������5�*6����
��,2�	��
�3�

� ���1
������������
���� 7
��
��4�*8-� 7-&,�� �
�����
3��6� 0
��
�2	�� � � � � � � � ����1$�(���������� �	�
����� ,���	��

�0	�	35� � � � � ���������-�	�
3�� � � � � ���)�2
��

9:;<�=>:;?@A�B?:CD@A@�EF
A�G:>>:HDI<�;B@JEAKL���

� � � *	3
�8
�6�2�-
�M	�
�4
�9:;<�?AB:?EA@�FA�JEEA

I@A@�EFA�NAAEDI<O��PBA
IDI<�:G�EFA�Q:?E�QJD?GDA>@

�
RAJ>EF�SAIEA?�HJK�@DKT;

KKA@O��=>JIK�J?A�E:�J@@
�BFUKDTJ>�EFA?JBU�E:�EFA

�>:TJED:I�DI�EFA�G;E;?AO�
�

VB@JEAK�HA?A�B?:CD@A@
�:I�EFA�WXY�KUKEANZ�=

DIAK�FJK�J�[\]]̂�KF:?E
GJ>>�G:?�UAJ?�AI@O�QDIJ>

�
DIG:?NJED:I�:I�GDIJITDJ>

K�HD>>�_A�B?:CD@A@�JE�EFA
�XJ?TF�NAAEDI<O��=DIAK�

?ATADCA@�EH:�KAEE>ANAIE
�

TFAT̀K�G?:N�a?AAIHJU�DI
�b]bb�E:EJ>DI<�[c]]̀�JI@

�[de]̀�G?:N�SS=XZ�EFA�f
SPO���

� 7
�	��6�-�����&g
���	M
�,
���	��

�7

�	35�4�9?O

�Q>UII�T:CA?A@�ACA?UEFDI
<�DI�FDK�?AB:?EO���

� �
�����
3��6�0
��
�2	
��4�h;̀A�9UA?�KFJ?A@�FA

�HJK�CA?U�DNB?AKKA@�HDE
F�EFA�NAAEDI<O��RA�̀IAH

�
NJIU�:G�EFA�SJ?U�>AJ@A?K

O��h;̀A�KEJEA@�EFA�T:NN;
IDEU�DK�G:?E;IJEA�G:?�EFA�=

?:CD@A?KZ�f@NDIDKE?JE:?K�
JI@�hAJ@A?K�JE�SJ?UO����� � ����������	�
�����,��

�	��

�0	�	35�4�iFA�@
?JGE�j:J?@�:G�9D?ATE:?K�

S:NNDEEAA�hDKEDI<�HJK�
DIT>;@A@�G:?�?ACDAH�JI@�J

BB?:CJ>O���
� � � � � ������-�	�
3��4�9:;<�=

>:;?@A�?AB:?EA@�EFA�>JKE�
EDNA�KEDBAI@K�HA?A�BJD@�

:;E�HJK�9ATAN_A?�b]k\
O�

XAN_A?K�?ATADCA�[e]�AJ
TF�NAAEDI<�JI@�EFA�SFJD

?NJI�?ATADCAK�[c]�G:?�AJ
TF�NAAEDI<O��iFA�T;??AIE

�
J??JI<ANAIE�DK�I:�KEDBAI

@KO��SF?DK�jA>>�?AB:?EA@�EF
JE�=DIAK�DK�B?:FD_DEA@�E:�

B?:CD@A�KEDBAI@K�E:�EFAD?
�

j:J?@�NAN_A?KO��� � �)$$�1
l�
��m�f�T:N
N;IDEU�NAN_A?�?An;AKE

A@�T:BDAK�:G�SJ?opq�rst
uvq�wxy�vz{�|rqv�}�o{ryq~

��
f;@DEA@��IG:?NJED:I�G:

?�b]k��b]bk�HJK�B?:CD
@A@O�iFA�b]bb�J;@DEA@

�GDIJITDJ>K�HD>>�:I>U�_A
�

T:NB>AEA@�DI�EFA�IA�E�T
:;B>A�N:IEFKO��SFA>KAJ�

9AK?:KDA?K�?AB:?EA@�EFJE
�DE�DK�af�j�?A<;>JED:I�E:

�
T:N_DIA�EFA�SJ?D_:;�R:K

BDEJ>�9DKE?DTE�JI@�SJ?U�XA
@DTJ>�SAIEA?�J;@DEA@�GDIJ

ITDJ>KO���

�IG:?NJED:IJ>O� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � VB:I�N:ED:I�@;>U�NJ@A� JI@�KAT:I@A@Z�DE�HJK�K:� �PiW9�E:�JBB?:CA�EFA� j:J?@�:G�9D?ATE:?K� S:NNDEEAA�hDKEDI<�JK� B?AKAIEA@O� � VB:I�N:ED:I�@;>U�NJ@A� JI@�KAT:I@A@Z�DE�HJK�K:� �PiW9�E:�JBB?:CA�EFA� T;??AIE�J??JI<ANAIE�E:� ?ANJDI�EFJE�SJ?U�j:J?@� NAN_A?K�I:E�?ATADCA@� KEDBAI@K�G:?�j:J?@�NAAED
I<�

JEEAI@JITAO�

�

����1
��������,&)�4�� �������	������� � ���*2�	�	�3�
?̂DK�9::@U�?AB:?EA@�EFA�

G:>>:HDI<Z�I:EDI<�N:?A�D
IG:?NJED:I�DK�JCJD>J_>A�D

I�EFA�SWP�JI@�=?:CD@A?
�

fTEDCDEU�YAB:?EKL� � *2�	�	�3�1
���	��
3��m
��

�IG:?NJED:IJ>O� � � �
� � � � ��������������

112



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

1
���	��
2���2�� 1
�
2�	�2� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

3�4
�5)2��6�789�:;<
=>�?>@A>�B>C�CA@=<D�>�E

F=G8>EG�HAGB�I;>=C�GF�J
<@A=�KL;;MGAN<�>G�GB<�

O<KK<8CF=�P>8Q�P>=E<8�P
<=G<89��RFGB�GB<�7<I>8G

N<=G�FK�SG>G<�>=D�K<D<
8>;�H>AT<8C�B>T<�

J<<=�>II8FT<DU�GB<�=<V
G�CG<I�AC�CG>NIA=@�B<8�

?AC>�A=�WGB<=CU�X8<<E<�
>=D�NFTA=@�GF�

P>8AJFL9��SB<�AC�EL88<=G;Q
�H>AGA=@�KF8�GB<�Y>A=<�R

F>8D�FK�ZAE<=CL8<�GF�@8>=
G�B<8�;AE<=C<�>G�

GB<�[<J8L>8Q�\]U�̂_̂�̀N
<<GA=@9��a;>=C�>8<�KF8�B<8

�GF�J<@A=�KL;;�GAN<�A=�Y>
8EB9��789�bANJ;<8�

B>C�CA@=<D�>�aA=<C�EF=G8>
EG�>=D�HA;;�J<�I8FTADA=@�I

>8GMGAN<�EFT<8>@<�DL8A=@
�̂_̂9̀�

3�*��c�d�e��6�bFFN�A
=G<8TA<HC�EF=GA=L<�GF�J

<�CEB<DL;<D�HAGB�A=G<8<
CG<D�E>=DAD>G<C9��789�

RFF=<�HA;;�EF=GA=L<�HF8
fA=@�I>8GMGAN<�A=�̂_̂9̀�

�g<�>;CF�I8FTAD<D�>�=>N
<�FK�>�IFG<=GA>;�

I>GBF;F@Q�E>=DAD>G<9��W;;
�FIGAF=C�KF8�I>GBF;F@Q�EF

T<8>@<�>8<�J<A=@�8<TA<H<
D9�

3�&�
�e
2���h
�	�	2

�6�789�PFNKF8G�gA=<C

U�>=�<VI<8A<=E<D�:i�I
BQCAEA>=�EFNI;<G<D�

F8A<=G>GAF=�A=�GB<�:7�A=�
O>=L>8Q�>=D�HA;;�CG>8G�KL

;;MGAN<�[<J8L>8Q�̂_̂9̀��7
89�gA=<C�>=D�B<8�

BLCJ>=D�B>T<�IL8EB>C<D
�>�BFN<�A=�[F8G�[>A8KA<;D�

>=D�FH=�>�BFN<�A=�WII;
<GF=U�Y>A=<9��789�

j>kD>=A�I8FTAD<D�A=KF8N
>GAF=�KF8�>�KL;;MGAN<�E>

=DAD>G<U�789�R8AGG�W=D<
8CF=9��W�kFFN�

A=G<8TA<H�H>C�EF=DLEG<D
�HAGB�789�W=D<8CF=9�

3�4��	��d	��6�lAGB�G
B<�D<I>8GL8<�FK�789�RFN

>U�>�;FELN�=A@BGMGAN<�B
FCIAG>;ACG�B>C�J<<=�

C<EL8<D�GB8FL@B�>�;FELN
�EFNI>=Q�J<@A==A=@�Y>

8EB�̂_̂Ù�789�?F=k<;;�l
A;;A>NC�>=D�WI8A;�

_̂̂Ù�789�SLk<GG<�YA;;A=@G
F=MRLKKF=@9�789�XLA;;<8N

F�mF@L<8>�EFNI;<G<D�>�
kFFN�A=G<8TA<H�

;>G<�[>;;�̂_̂9̂��W�CAG<�T
ACAG�AC�J<A=@�8<TA<H<D�H

AGB�789�mF@L<8>�A=�WI8A;
9��789�mF@L<8>�AC�

;FFfA=@�KF8�>�I<8N>=<=G�
IFCAGAF=9�

3�*
�	���	��6�bFFN�
A=G<8TA<HC�B>T<�J<<=�E

FNI;<G<D�HAGB�A=G<8<CG<
D�I<DA>G8AEA>=C�HAGB�

>DDAGAF=>;�A=G<8TA<HC�J<A
=@�CEB<DL;<D9���

3�)�5%n'�6�789�o>8<
=�RFCCA<�HA;;�EF=GA=L<�G

F�I8FTAD<�F=<�H<<f<=D
�I<8�NF=GB�EFT<8>@<�

GB8FL@B�̂_̂9̀��W�;FELN
�pRqXjmU�789�r>==<8U�B>

C�J<<=�C<EL8<D�GF�>CCACG
�HAGB�EFT<8>@<9��

bFFN�A=G<8TA<HC�HA;;�J<�C
EB<DL;<D�HAGB�I<8N>=<=

G�E>=DAD>G<C9�
3�&'(�6�7ACELCCAF=C�EF

=GA=L<�HAGB�789�o>T>U�>=�
:mr�K8FN�Y>A=<9��g<�AC�A=

G<8<CG<D�A=�I8FTADA=@�
EFT<8>@<�F=�>�NF=GB;Q�J

>CAC9�
3�)2e�	2e�1
���	��
2

��6�i<E8LAGN<=G�AC�F=@FA
=@�KF8�I<DA>G8AECU�I8AN>8

Q�E>8<U�F8GBFI<DAECU�
pRqXjmU�<N<8@<=EQ�N<D

AEA=<U�BFCIAG>;�N<DAEA=<�>
=D�>=<CGB<CA>�sPimWt9�

3�(.�(-�h
�	��d�-���

2��6�pL8�EL88<=G�rLKG

C�Y<DAE>;�SGLD<=GC�>8<�
EFNI;<GA=@�GB<A8�u�

NF=GB�8FG>GAF=�>G�P>8Q�>
=D�aA=<C�F=�[<J8L>8Q�\_G

B 9��rHF�=<H�CGLD<=GC�HA;;
�>88AT<�A=�Y>Q9�

� � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � vwxy�z{�|}�~��
113



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

���,(�-��22
��*��3
��� � � � � ���4���5 �$22	6
����� ,���	��

� � � � ���7
�
��2�$��	6	�	
� � � � � � � 
��)�5
�� � � �
,(�-��22
��*��3
���8�9:;

<=:�>?@:A;B?�A:CBAD:@�DE
:�?:F�GH�IJK??:A�=;�LC�K

?@�AL??=?MN��HE:�OBP=<:�
L?=D�@:CKAD:@�QK?LKAR�S

T;D N��I=:O:?;�=;�FBAU=?M�
F=DE�VK@=B<BMR�;DKWW�B?�

K@@=?M�K�?:F�CABJ:@LA:
X�

GKA@=KJ�GHN� � 4���5 �$22	6
�����,���
	��

�8�YA=;�ZBB@R�A:CBAD

:@�DE:�JBOO=DD::�EK@�=D;
�W=A;D�O::D=?MN��[::D=?M;

�
F=<<�JB?D=?L:�WBA�J:<:PAKD

=B?�KJD=\=D=:;�WABO�I:CD:O
P:A�]̂X�]_]S�DEABLME�I:C

D:OP:A�]̂X�]_]̂N��̀?:�
=@:K�WABO�DE:�JBOO=DD::

�=;�DB�C<K?D�T__�DA::;�=?�D
E:�JBOOL?=DRN��[BA:�=?

WBAOKD=B?�F=<<�P:�;EKA:@
�

K;�=D�P:JBO:;�K\K=<KP<:N� � 7
�
��2�$��	6	�	
�8�YA=;
�ZBB@R�A:CBAD:@�DE:A:�KA

:�DFB�JB?J:A?;�BW�<BJK<�\
:D:AK?;a�DE:�OB\:�BW�DE:

�
b>�G<=?=J�BLD�BW�GKA=PBL

�K?@�DE:�;DKDL;�BW�[bc
�=?�GKA=PBLN��HE:�?:F�G

d̀X�IEKAB?�eL;JB�EK@�DB
�

JK?J:<�E:A�\=;=D�DB�GKA=PB
LN��>�fBBO�O::D=?M�F=<<�P

:�;JE:@L<:@�F=DE�[;N�eL;
JB�=?�DE:�?:KA�WLDLA:�K;�K

�
O::D�K?@�MA::DN��g:??R

�HEBOC;B?�=?hL=A:@�K;�
DB�DE:�K\K=<KP=<=DR�BW�DE

:�=?WBAOKD=B?�WABO�DE:
�

<=;D:?=?M�;:;;=B?;N��iD�F
K;�L?J:ADK=?�=W�DEKD�A:C

BAD�EK;�P::?�A:<:K;:@N�
HE:�b:D:AK?;�>@\BJKJR�

[::D=?M�FK;�CB;DCB?:@�
DB�e:PALKAR�TTDE N���

� ,��	����j��	��k��	��	��
�l�YA=;�ZBB@R�A:CBAD:@�K

D�DE:�e:PALKAR�O::D=?M�B
W�DE:�G=DR�GBL?J=<�GKA=PBL

�
cB;C=DK<�Z=;DA=JD�mBKA@�O

:OP:A;�F:A:�\BD:@�=?n�Z
K\=@�[KAD=?X�SoR:KA�D:AO

a�dA=JK�VKROB?@X�]oR:KA�
D:AOa�IL:�pE=D:X�ToR:KA�

D:AON��g<K?;�KA:�DB�O::D
�F=DE�DE:�GKA=PBL�cB;C=D

K<�Z=;DA=JD�=?�e:PALKAR�WB
A�

DE:=A�K??LK<�O::D=?MN�
� � �

q���1
���������	2�2�
�/� �����*
��22
k�,���	��


� ����������
�
��
�� �	2�2�	�k� � � �

GE:<;:K�Z:;AB;=:A;�K?@�G
EA=;�m:<<�CAB\=@:@�DE:�WB<<

BF=?M�LC@KD:;n�
� �
�
��
���	2�2�	�k�r�

GE:<;:K�Z:;AB;=:A;�CAB\
=@:@�K?�B\:A\=:F�BW�DE

:�@AKWD�Z:J:OP:A�]_]]
�

e=?K?J=K<;�WBA�GKAR�[:@
=JK<�G:?D:AX�=?J<L@=?M�A:

\=:F�BWn��MAB;;�CKD=:?D�
A:\:?L:X�?:D�BC:AKD=?M�

A:\:?L:X�:sC:?;:;X�G̀bi
Z�WL?@=?M�K?@�?:D�=?JBO

:�t<B;;u�WBA�vB\:OP:AN���
� ,)7+��w���	x�1
6	
y�l�H

E:�OKDA=s�FK;�=?J<L@:@�=?
�DE:�CKJU:D�WBA�A:\=:FN���

� ������
�
��k�*�6
����%�
	�
k	2
�$22��k�.����
�

l�HE:�ML=@:<=?:;�A:W:A�DB
�DE:�W=?K?J=K<�K;;=;DK?J:�

CABMAKON��HE:�JEK?M:�
=;�:WW:JD=\:�QK?LKAR�T]

X�]_]SN��HE:�e=?K?J:�z
�g:A;B??:<�GBOO=DD::�

A:JBOO:?@;�KCCAB\K<�BW
�DE:�ML=@:<=?:;�PR�DE:�mB

KA@�BW�Z=A:JDBA;N�
� � �

{CB?�OBD=B?�@L<R�OK@:� K?@�;:JB?@:@X�=D�FK;�;B� b̀HdZ�DB�KCCAB\:�DE:� A:CBAD�BW�DE:�e=?K?J:�z� g:A;B??:<�GBOO=DD::�K;� A:CBAD:@N� � � {CB?�OBD=B?�@L<R�OK@:� K?@�;:JB?@:@X�=D�FK;�;B� b̀HdZ�DB�KCCAB\:�DE:� LC@KD:@�]_]S�e:@:AK<� gB\:ADR�|L=@:<=?:;�K;� }~�����}����������}�}����� >;;=;DK?J:�gABMAKO;�F=DE
�

A:DABKJD=\:�A:\=:F�DB�
� ��������������

114



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

2345367�89:�9;9<=���
>���?@ABCDEF�GFHIJK� ����� �

L35M3�L36N4O�P6QRSTNT�OU
N�VQMMQWS4X�5PT3ONYZ� [�\]̂_̀abc�bd�̀e�fgh�ffi
j�ekldbem�ncocn�pq̀p�bd�rsc

e�tu�qrkld�̀�àvwx�àvd�s
cl�yccz�

[�hknn�_̀s̀_bpv�bd�{�lcdb
acepd�|be�t}tt�\]̂_̀abc�nr

dp�~�lcdbacepd��
[�k̂mkdp�t}tt�̀ea��̀

ek̀lv�t}t~�\]̂_̀abN�6N
�NSRNT�9�4NW�3T�SYYSQ4

Y=���UN��343XN6�SY�
�566N4OM7�6NRSNWS4X�3��34

TST3ON�VQ6�3T�SYYSQ4�
[��56S4X�OUN�UQMST37�Y

N3YQ4�OUN6N�W3Y�34�Q5O�
6N3��QV�������34T�3MM�6NY

STN4OY�WN6N�3VVN�ONT=��
�4M7�9�YO3VV��N��N6Y�WN

6N�3VVN�ONT=���
[��UN6N�36N��566N4OM7�4

Q�MQ�5��YO3VV�3O��]��3TSN
=�

[��S�N4YS4X�6N4NW3M�3P
PMS�3OSQ4�34T�W3SRN6�VQ6�P

36O�OS�N�����WSMM��N��Q�
PMNONT�S4��P6SM�

[��O3VV��Q4OS45N�OQ�W3
SO�VQ6�OUN��4453M��O3ON��

56RN7�OU3O�W3Y�Q6SXS43MM7
�Y�UNT5MNT�VQ6�M3ON�

9;99=���UN�M3YO�Y56RN7�6
N�5S6NT�3�VQQT�TS6N�OQ6�

Q4�YSON=���UN��343XN6�U
3Y�YS4�N��N�Q�N�

�N6OSVSNT�3Y�3�VQQT�TS6N�OQ
6=���

[���PN6�TSN��63ON�MNOON
6�U3Y��NN4�6N�NSRNT�V6Q�

�OUN��O3ON�QV��3S4N�6NPQ
6OS4X�3�T3SM7�63ON�PN6�

6NYSTN4O� [��566N4OM7�OUN6N�SY�34
�QPN4S4X�VQ6�8���:�OWQ�P3

6O�OS�N��QQ�Y�34T�UQ5YN�
NNPS4X�YO3VV=��PQ4��QOSQ4�T5M7��3TN� 34T�YN�Q4TNT:�SO�W3Y�YQ� ������OQ�3PP6QRN�OUN� \]̂_̀abc��k̀lpclnv��csrl

p�
3Y�P6NYN4ONT=��� �

�
����������1
����
�� �����$������,���
�
����� �����1
�����

������1
����
�$���
���,���
�
����1
������

�L35M3�L36N4O�P6QRSTNT�3
4�QRN6RSNW�QV�OUN�9;99�

�Q�PNON4�7�6NPQ6O=���USY
�6NPQ6O�SY�3�2QS4O��Q��SY

YSQ4�6N�5S6N�N4O=���
[�LN6VQ6�34�N��R3M53

OSQ4Y����<���Q�PMNOSQ
4���N4�U�36��SY�� �=

��¡��SY��566N4OM7�
VQ6�5M3OS4X�3�PM34�OQ�3YY

SYO��343XN6Y�S4��Q�PMNOSQ
4�QV�NR3M53OSQ4�OQ��NNO��

Q�PMS34�N=�
[��4453M��N�5S6NT��63

S4S4X��������Q�PMNOSQ4��
�N4�U�36��SY��¢���

[�¡5�34��NYQ56�NY��
6SN4O3OSQ4���8;;���Q�PMN

OSQ4�
[��NP36O�N4O��6SN4O3

OSQ4����¢���Q�PMNOSQ4���
N4�U�36��SY��¢��

[��56YS4X��Q�PNON4�7
���8;;���Q�PMNOSQ4���N4

�U�36��SY�� ��£L35M3�P63
SYNT�OUN�4NW�456YN�

NT5�3OSQ4�VQ6�TQS4X�3�ON6
6SVS��¤Q���NNPS4X�5P�WSOU�

6N�5S6NT�456YS4X��Q�PNO
N4�7�

[��¡���Q56YNY���¥����
������Q�PMNOSQ4��������

������Q�PMNOSQ4��L�����
��¢���Q�PMNOSQ4�

[��Q�5�Y��63RNMN6Y���
�S�N4Y56N���8;;���Q�PM

NONT��¡���6SN4O3OSQ4���8
;;���Q�PMNONT���4SO�

�PN�SVS���6SN4O3OSQ4���L3
5M3�6NPQ6ONT�Q4N��343X

N6�SY�Q5O�Q4�MN3RN:�T3O3�W
3Y�543�MN�OQ��N�

Q�O3S4NT=��L35M3�P6QRSTNT
�3�6NRSNW�QV�OUN�¦;�MQ�5�

Y�O63RNMN6Y�34T�TNP36O�N
4OY�OUN7��QRN6=��PQ4��QOSQ4�T5M7��3TN� 34T�YN�Q4TNT:�SO�W3Y�YQ� ������OQ�3PP6QRN�OUN� ¡5�34��NYQ56�NY��4453

M�
�Q�PNON4�7��NPQ6O�3Y� P6NYN4ONT=�

�
§����-��
���̈����
����� �������1
�����

-��
���̈����
����1
�����
���NYMSN��4TN6YQ4�P6QRSTN

T�34�QRN6RSNW�QV�OUN�VQMMQ
WS4X�SON�YZ�

[��PT3ONY�Q4�OUN�9;99
��4RS6Q4�N4O�QV��36N�XQ

3MY�WQ6�NT�Q4�OU6Q5XUQ5
O�OUN�7N36Z���N�56SO7�

�343XN�N4O:���N6XN4
�7��343XN�N4O�S4��Q

Q6TS43OSQ4�WSOU�MQ�3M�
����34T�©S6N�

�NP36O�N4O�YO3VVS4X��
�NTS�3M���5SP�N4O:�

�3VNO7��343XN�N4O:�
¡3ª36TQ5Y�

�3ON6S3MY«¬3YON:��SVN��3
VNO7��343XN�N4O:��NTS

�3M���5SP�N4O��343XN�
N4O�34T��OSMSOSNY�

�343XN�N4O�
�PQ4��QOSQ4�T5M7��3TN� 34T�YN�Q4TNT:�SO�W3Y�YQ� ������OQ�3PP6QRN�OUN� Y3VNO7�536ON6M7��NPQ6O�3

Y�
P6NYN4ONT=�

� ®̄°±�²³�́µ�¶··
115



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"�#�
�$%&'�$�()*+,�

+--.&��+-,.--&��/�,)'
,0.-+)'�

*0$'�)��$,(+)'�
*&1-)'� 1&-*)'-+�0&�

2�34567�589�89:;9<9=
>�;?@48A5B;4?�;7�89C48B9

=�B4�BD9�E458=�4@�F;89
GB487�5?=�D47C;B56�

HIJKILMNOPQ�RNI�MJSIRT�
KJMNUVJLK�SVL�WJLT�JX

K�YZ[\JKOI�OM�M]ÛORRIK
�RV�RNI�_JSIRT�

4̀AA;BB99�ab58B986c� 2�d??b56�e5@9Bc�9=bG5
B;4?�5?=�fgh�B97B;?i�G4AC

69B9=�@48�566�7B5@@�
2�j47C;B56k<;=9�e5@9Bc

�9:9?B�5?=�e;AC6c�e5@9B
c�B85;?;?i7�?4B�G4AC69B9

=�57�BD9c�589�658i9�
9:9?B7�5?=�;?kC9874?�5GB

;:;B;97�
2�lC=5B97�<989�C84:;=

9=�4?�5ii8977;:9�5?=�?4?
k5ii8977;:9�;?G;=9?B7�

2�hD9�mnmo�p?:;84?A9
?B�4@�̀589�i4567�<;66�q9�

BD9�75A9�57�BD989�D5:9
�q99?�?4�7;i?;@;G5?B�

GD5?i97�;?�̀re�8b697�48�s
4;?B�̀4AA;77;4?�7B5?=58

=7�B4�<5885?B�GD5?i97�B4
�BD9�C65?t�

uu���*	v
�w
�x�y�-
�z	�

��

�������{����
�x��1
������
*	v
�w
�x�y�-
�z	�
�{�

���
�x��1
�����|�}8;7�F44
=c�C84:;=9=�BD9�@4664<;?i

�bC=5B97~�
2��;?97�;7���A4?BD7�C4

7B�i4k6;:9�<;BD�pr����p�
g̀t���~��7977;4?7�<989�D9

6=�89G9?B6c�5?=�<989�
7bGG977@b6t��hD9�B95A�G4?

B;?b97�B4�<48��BD84biD�4
BD98�;B9A7t�

2�hD9��;?97�B95A�;7�C8
9C58;?i�BD9�lFe�89C48B�<

D;GD�;7�=b9�f9q8b58c���BD
�

2�hD9��;?97�B95A�;7�C8
9C58;?i�@48��e��

2�hD9�eB5B9�4@�r5;?9
�C5779=�69i;765B;4?�RV�LI

UJMI����WZM�RV�f�mn��t
���9C48B7�589�q9;?i�

C84:;=9=�B4�3b;=9D4b79>
�5�G4?7b6B;?i�G4AC5?ct��E

c�65<>�?9<�85B97�<;66�i4�;?
B4�9@@9GB�r58GD�

�7Bt��hD9�5=A;?;7B85B;4?�;
7�G4?G98?9=�BD9c�A5c�?4

B�A5�9�BD9�=95=6;?9t��hD;
7�G4b6=�897b6B�;?�

5?�;?G89579�4@�5CC84�;A5
B96c���r�B4��;?97�f�j̀t�

� ,&)�&z�x���	�v����V]��
�HV]LKI�LIPVLRIK��LOM��V

VKTZM�W�����JH]JROVX��O
HH�UI�MIXR�V]R�OX�RNI�XI�

R�
<99��48�74t���69579�G4AC

69B9�5?=�89Bb8?�;?�5�B;A96
c�@57D;4?t�

�
�

u����{������w
�x�y�� ��������1
����
�.����
�
D̀;C�j46A97�C84:;=9=�BD9

�@4664<;?i�bC=5B9~� 2�D̀;C�BD5?�9=�}8;7�F
44=c�@48�C58B;G;C5B;?i�4

?�BD9�p�9GbB;:9�d=:;748
c�̀4b?G;6�r99B;?i�

89G9?B6c�B4�C84:;=9�@99=
q5G��B4��j���897;=9?B>�F

<5c?9�3b?B98t��̀D;C�695
=7�B<4�5=:;748c�

G4b?G;67t� 2�D̀;C�BD5?�9=�F8t�35
665iD98�@48�G4AC69B;4?�4@

�BD9�̀4AC6;5?G9��;7��d77
977A9?Bt�

2�D̀;C�BD5?�9=��976;9
�d?=9874?�@48�C58B;G;C5

B;?i�;?�BD9�@44=�5?=�?
bB8;B;4?�798:;G97�5?=�

Gb6;?58c�G4?G;98i9�798:;G9
7�577977A9?Bt�

2�D̀;C�;7�G448=;?5B;?i
�5�:;7;B�<;BD��897;=9?B�F

<5c?9�3b?B98�B4�̀58c�r
9=;G56�̀9?B98t��̀D;C�

D4C97�B4�C65?�5�89i;4?5
6�695=987D;C�9:9?B�;?�BD9

��9<�p?i65?=�5895�5B�BD
9�75A9�B;A9�57�

�LIMOKIXR��]XRILZM��OMOR�� 2�D̀;C�;7�897C4?7;q69�@
48�5�B95A�4@��o�D47C;B567

��D9�89C48B9=�?4B�566�D47C
;B567�C84:;=9�89C48B7�

B4�BD9;8�695=987D;C�6;�9�̀5
8cZ7�B95At�

2�hD9��j��89C48B�D5
7�q99?�bC=5B9=�@48�mnm

o�5?=�D57�5�?9<�644�t�
�̀D;C�D57�89ab97B9=�

@99=q5G��4?�BD979�GD5?i
97�BD84biD�9A5;6t���65?7�5

89�B4�G4?B;?b566c�;AC84:9
�BD9�89C48Bt���g?@48A5B;4?56t�

� � ¡¢�£¤�¥¦�§̈¨
116



����������	�
����� �
��������������� ����������
�

����� �!"� �
�#$%&�#�'()*+�

*,,-%��*,+-,,%��.�+(&
+/-,*(&�

)/#&�(��#+'*(&�
)%0,(&� 0%,)(&,*�/%�

1�2345�6789:4;76�<=>?
@�ABCADEAFGA�HEIJ�@IKLL�K

I�MKDN�OAPEGKQ�MAFIADR��2
S:T�U7649SV�27WX7:�48�

YW4ZY7[�S8�\SYVS�\S:7WX�
83S:76�S;]YX�X37�̂]:_̀

]:97�a�;7W7̀4X�Y56SX7�X
]�X37�b4WSW97�a�

cAD@dFFAQ�MdeeEIIAAf�MK
DN?@�AFgEDdFeAFI�dL�GKDA

hEgAD@i�GjQIjDA�dL�GKDEFh�K
FP�@KLAIN�48�̀7VX�

SX�klmR�� 1�2345�:75]:X76�n]8
X�3]854XSV8�3So7�W]�9]

WW79X4]W�;7X̂77W�X374:
�p]S:6�]̀�q4:79X]:8[�

U7649SV�rXS̀̀[�SW6�s6n
4W48X:SX4]W[�̂4X3�S�VS9_

�]̀�]̂W7:8345R��2S:T�
SW6�\4W78�3So7�

dHFAD@JEC�KFP�GdQQAhEKQEI
Nf��=A�PdA@F?I�ABCADEAFGA

�IJE@�SX�nSWT�]̀�X37�3]85
4XSV8R���

t���(�u
���#�v���w�
w�
�.��

�������&
x��y

�	wz�
#�v���w�
w��{�|5]W�n]

X4]W�6YVT�nS67�SW6�879]
W676[�4X�̂S8�8]�}~��q�X

]�S6�]Y:W�X37�n77X4W��S
X�

S55:]�4nSX7VT������5RnR�
��

� &
x��y

�	wz���37�W7�
X�n77X4W��]̀�X37�p]S:6�

]̀�q4:79X]:8�48�89376YV7
6�̀]:�U]W6ST[�US:93��

[��
����[������5RnR��

�Ẁ]:nSX4]WSVR� � �
�

������������������\:75S:76�;T���U
S:�Y7:4X7��R�U9s̀77��\7�

�[���79YX4o7�s8848XSWX�X]�X
37�2�~�a�2~~�

� ��������������m78579X̀YVVT�8Y;n
4XX76[�

� � � ���������������:48�q]]6T[�m�[�U
rp[�2�~�

��������������
117


